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THE ADMINISTRATION'S CROP INSURANCE
PROPOSAL

WEDNESDAY, MAY 11, 1994

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry,

Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:13 a.m. in room
SR-332, Russell Senate Office Building, Hon. Patrick J. Leahy,
Chairman of the committee, presiding.
Present or submitting a statement: Senators Leahy, Pryor,

Conrad, Heflin, Daschle, Helms, Kerrey, Feingold, Lugar, Cochran,
McConnell, Craig, Grassley, and Baucus.

STATEMENT OF HON. PATRICK J. LEAHY, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM VERMONT

The Chairman. Good morning. We have been discussing the

reinventing of government for many months, and last month the
Senate voted 98 to 1 to pass a USDA reorganization bill. This is

the first legislation that is actually designed to reorganize an Exec-
utive Branch department, and I am glad to say that this committee
moved so quickly on this bill—and the Senate did as well.

I think Senator Lugar and I demonstrated that if you work to-

gether in a bipartisan spirit, you can reform bureaucracies that
have been resistant to change and, in fact, many thought were im-
mune to change. I hope that that will continue, but if you are going
to reinvent government, it means a lot more than simply changing
government structures. If we want to make our Government work
Better, we need to change our outdated policies as well.

Today, we are considering the reform of policies which dictate the

way we handle agricultural disasters. In the years that I've been
on this committee, I've foimd that they occur much too frequently.

Every time there is a major disaster, Congress goes and passes an
ad hoc disaster assistance bill. The problem with that is that these
bills are ad hoc. They are inherently unpredictable. The farmers
don't know what kind of help they can expect in a time of need.

Also, we are usually rushing to get something done and out, and
sort of reinventing the wheel each time we do it. Ad hoc disaster
bills are treated as emergency legislation, not subject to normal

pay-as-you-go rules, so they then get loaded down with another leg-
islation that probably shouldn't have seen the light of day.

I think that if then, we can improve the exisiting Crop Insurance

Program, we can get rid of the need for ad hoc disaster programs,
we can improve the exisiting Crop Insurance Program. Frankly, I

(1)



would strongly urge all my Colleagues to join with us in trying to

improve the Crop Insurance Program because I am not sure that
I want to—or even could—continue to pass bills for agricultural
disaster programs that aren't done in a pay-as-you-go fashion,
when people keep asking the same question: "Why don't they buy
insurance?"
We can have a better insurance system—and people should.

I would hope that the word would go out very clearly that the

Congress is going to be less and less apt to pass aisaster relief bills,

when they know that insurance was available. Congress came very
close to that on the last major disaster in Los Angeles. In the
House of Representatives, they came within a few votes of requir-

ing offsets. Certainly, initiatives requiring offsets for disaster pay-
ments for crop loss should be expected when legislation is consid-

ered.

So, we have to eliminate that which, I think, is the senseless

duplication of separate crop insurance, and disaster programs that
cover the same losses on the same crops. We should no longer need
to consider ad hoc disaster bills that are exempt from normal

budgetary rules.

The reform of crop insurance and disaster programs has the
broad support of farmers and the administration. I would like to

see quick consideration of legislation. I think it would give us order
and predictability. I know I have had many discussions of this with
Senator Kerrey, who has been pushing for real reorganization of

the Crop Insurance Program. I will be relying heavily on him since
he is from a State that uses this far more than my own State.

[The prepared statement of Senator Leahy follows.]

STATEMENT OF SENATOR PATRICK J. LEAHY

Discussion about reinventing government has persisted for many vears. Last

month, the Senate voted 98 to 1 to pass our USDA Reorganization bill—the first

legislation designed to reorganize an executive branch department—and I am proud
that this committee moved so quickly on this bill. Senator Lugar and I dem-
onstrated that it is possible to work together, in a bipartisan spirit, to reform bu-
reaucracies many thought were immune to change. I hope that this spirit continues.

Looking to the future, reinventing government wiU mean more than simply chang-
ing government structures. In order to make our Government more efficient, we
need to make changes in outdated policies as well.

Today we are considering reform of policies which dictate the way we handle agri-
cultural disasters—disasters which occur all too frequently.
Each time there is a major disaster, Congress passes an ad hoc disaster assistance

biU. Ad hoc disaster bills are inherently unpredictable, and as a result, farmers do
not know what type of help they can expect in times of need. Because disaster bills

are treated as emergency legislation, not subject to normal pay-as-you-go rules, they
get loaded down witn unrelated legislation tnat would otherwise never become law.

By improving the existing Crop msurance Program we can eliminate the need for

ad hoc disaster programs. Farmers, lenders, and the rest of the country would know
what to expect the next time there is a disaster. We need to eliminate the senseless

duplication of separate crop insurance, and disaster programs that cover the same
losses on the same crops; and, perhaps most importantly. Congress would no longer
need to consider ad hoc disaster bills exempt from normal budgetary rules.

The reform of crop insurance and disaster programs has the broad support of
farmers and the administration, and I intend to push for quick consideration of this



legislation. The Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994 will give order and predictability
to crop insurance programs and at the same time help us help farmers respond to

agricultural disasters.

The Chairman. With that, I yield to Senator Lugar.

STATEMENT OF HON. RICHARD G. LUGAR, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM INDIANA

Senator Lugar. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. The Fed-
eral Crop Insurance Program needs reform. We must end the prac-
tice of enacting annual ad hoc farm disaster programs. While the

Crop Insurance Program has certainly had its problems, perhaps
the strongest disincentives to buy crop insurance have been the dis-

aster bills themselves. Why should producers pay for something
that ultimately the Government will provide free of charge?

I believe that FCIC has made significant strides in recent years
in reducing abuse and improving the program's overall actuarial
soundness. There is no doubt in my mind that the administra-
tion's proposal would lessen the demand for future ad hoc disaster
assistance legislation, but my impression is that many farmers
would not be covered by the catastrophic protection offered in the
administration's proposal if U.S. agriculture experienced a wide-

spread drought such as the drought of 1988.

Despite the administration's assertions to the contrary, many ag-
ricultural economists who have studied the issue say that farmer
purchases of additional protection will increase little in response to

the added premium subsidies. As a result, in the event of another
1988 type drought, the Congress might continue to face strong
pressure to enact ad hoc assistance in addition to that provided by
the Reform Proposal. In that event, procedural hurdles designed
to make ad hoc disaster assistance more difficult might be ineffec-

tive.

We need more information on this issue in order that the com-
mittee can make an informed decision. Specifically, of the farmers
who received disaster ad hoc payments in 1988 and 1993; to take
2 important years, how many would have received payments had
the administration's Reform Proposal been in place? I believe that
we need this information by crop. State and county, and we need
to know both the number of farmers and dollar amounts received.
In addition, we need a comparison of the overall costs of these two
approaches under these very different weather events.
Even if the administration's proposal succeeds in preventing fu-

ture ad hoc disaster bills, we should ask ourselves, at what price.

Despite statements of budget savings, the administration's own
cost estimate of this proposal shows tnat Federal spending on crop
insurance would grow rapidly and would begin to cost the tax-

payers more than the combined cost of crop insurance and ad hoc
disaster payments by fiscal year 1999.
The Congressional Budget Office says the proposal's costs will

begin to outstrip current program costs a full 2 years earlier, by fis-

cal year 1997. Over the longer term, the proposal is expected to

cost significantly more than current programs. If this reform plan
is to have any chance of passing, it must be budget-neutral, and
the current plan, at least in my judgment, is not.



Finally, I am concerned that the administration's draft legisla-

tion which was introduced in the Senate yesterday would create

new unlimited authority for FCIC to use Treasury funds to pay in-

demnities and all administrative expenses. As a result, FCIC ad-

ministrative reimbursements to insurance companies would no

longer be subject to the spending discipline of the congressional ap-

propriations process.
Mr. Chairman, I look forward, as always, to working with you in

a bipartisan manner to see how these issues can be resolved in a

manner which is attractive to producers and fair to taxpayers.
Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Senator Richard G. Lugar follows.]

STATEMENT OF SENATOR RICHARD G. LUGAR

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I believe that the Federal Crop Insurance Program
needs reform and that we must end the practice of enacting annual ad hoc farm dis-

aster programs. While the Crop Insurance Program has certainly had its problems,

perhaps tne strongest disincentive to buy crop insurance has been the Disaster bUls

themselves. Why should producers pay for something that ultimately the Govern-
ment will provide free of charge. I believe that FCIC has made significant strides

in recent years in reducing abuse and improving the program's overall actuarial

soundness.
There is no doubt that the administration's proposal would lessen the demand for

future ad hoc disaster assistance legislation. However, my impression is that many
farmers would not be covered by the catastrophic protection offered in the adminis-

tration's proposal if U.S. agriculture experienced a widespread drought, such as in

1988. Despite the administration's assertions to the contrary, agricultural econo-

mists, who have studied the issue, say that farmer purchases of additional protec-
tion will increase little in response to the added premium subsidies.

As a result, in the event of another 1988 type drought, the Congress might con-

tinue to face strong pressure to enact ad hoc assistance in addition to that provided
by the Reform Proposal. In that event, procedural hurdles designed to make ad hoc

assistance more difficult would Ukely be ineffective.

I believe we need more information on this issue so that the committee can make
an informed decision on the administration's proposal. Specifically, of the farmers,
who received ad hoc payments in 1988 and 1993, how many would have received

payments had the administration's Reform Proposal been in place? We need this in-

formation by crop. State, and county, and we need to know both the number of

farmers and dollar amounts received. In addition, we need a comparison of the over-

all costs of these two approaches under these very different weather events.

Even if the administration's proposal succeeds in preventing future ad hoc disas-

ter bills, I believe we must ask ourselves at what price? Despite their statements
of budget savings, the administration's own cost estimate of this proposal shows
that Federal spending on the Crop Insurance Program would grow rapidly and
would begin costing the taxpayer more than the combined cost of crop insurance and
ad hoc disaster payments by fiscal year 1999. The Congressional Budget Office says
the proposal's cost will begin to outstrip current program costs a full 2 years earlier,

by fiscal year 1997. Over the longer term, the proposal is expected to cost signifi-

cantly more than current programs. If this so-called reform plan is to have any
chance at passing, it must be budget-neutral. The current plan is not.

Finally,
I am concerned that the administration's draft legislation, which was in-

troduced in the Senate yesterday, would create new unlimited authority for FCIC
to use Treasury to pay indemnities and all insurance company expense reimburse-
ments. As a result, FCIC administrative reimbursements to insurance companies
would no longer be subject to the spending discipline of the congressional appropria-
tions process.
Mr. Chairman, I look forward, as always to working with you in a bipartisan

manner to see how these issues can be resolved in a manner that is attractive to

the producer and fair to the taxpayer.

The Chairman. Senator Conrad?



STATEMENT OF HON. KENT CONRAD, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM NORTH DAKOTA

Senator Conrad. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First, I would like

to welcome Mr. Ackerman and to commend him for the aggressive
effort at outreach that he has made. I think I have never seen any-
one in his position be as accessible or as willing to go out around

the country to hear the view of farmers, insurers and others di-

rectly, and I want to thank him for that responsiveness. I think it

is important as we move forward with this effort.

Crop insurance is terribly important to my State. Typically,

North Dakota has been one of the highest participation States in

the Nation, peaking at 90 percent in recent years. In 1993, we were

down to 62 percent, and one of the reasons we are down is because

farmers look at the cost benefit and they say, "Gee, because we
have had a series of disasters, our yield base is going down." They
then begin to wonder about whether it makes sense to participate.

That is something that needs to be addressed as we move forward.

I hear that a lot. In fact, I was just home this weekend and heard
a good dose of it this weekend.

I am generally supportive of the approach that is being taken to

combine disaster programs with crop insurance because I recog-

nize, and certainly the people I represent recognize, that we could

face a situation in which we have had a disaster perhaps just lim-

ited to North Dakota and South Dakota—perhaps Nebraska—and
we wouldn't get any disaster assistance. We are realistic about this

and we know we could face a disaster that had limited geographic
impact and there wouldn't be a disaster program, and that would
in itself be a disaster.

Let me just say I have been here 7 years in the U.S. Senate and
we have faced three disasters in my State, and extraordinary disas-

ters—in 1988 and 1989, the worst drought since the 1930's. The
Chairman was good enough to come to our State and see, firsthand,
what we were experiencing then, and it was extraordinarily impor-
tant that there be a disaster program because it meant the dif-

ference between economic life and death for—literally
—^thousands

of farmers in my State. Then last year we had the 500-year Flood.

I mean, it is perverse, almost, what has happened in recent years.
So we have a healthy respect for what the Disaster Programs

have meant. They have meant there are literally thousands of fam-

ily farmers in my State that are still on the land that wouldn't be
there otherwise, and so we are very interested in making certain

that any replacement program provides that same assurance.

Mr. Chairman, I will refi-ain from the rest of my statement just
to say that I thank you very much for having this hearing because
I think it is an important one.

The Chairman. Thank you. I remember very much that trip out

there. I thought I would never consider that we would have a dry
period again in Vermont after seeing what you had there. I remem-
ber standing in one of those fields where we took the auger and

dug down. It was a field growing a crop that had about a 3- or 4-

incn root system, and the first water we found, as I recall, was
about 18 or 19 inches down the first moisture. It was amazing.

[The prepared statement of Senator Conrad follows.]



STATEMENT OF SENATOR KENT CONRAD
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding this hearing on the administration's Crop

Insurance Reform Proposal. I am eager to begin substantive debate on this proposal,
and appreciate your quick action.

I welcome Ken Ackerman to this hearing and want to take a few moments to com-
mend him for his leadership of the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation (FCIC) thus
far. I am impressed by his understanding of the program and his responsiveness to

problems that arise. I have also been very pleased by his willingness to travel
around the country discussing the Crop Insurance Reform Proposal with farmers,
insurance companies, bankers and elected officials. Mr. Ackerman, I just want to

thank you for your reasonableness, flexibility, and responsiveness.
Crop insurance is vitally important to my State. Historically, North Dakota has

one 01 the highest participation rates in the country. In recent years, participation
peaked at nearly 90 percent, although in 1993 it is down to 62 percent. The most
important issues that my farmers believe crop insurance reform snould address are

affordability, adequate coverage, and dependability.
I am concerned about the competition between disaster assistance programs and

crop insurance. I hope that we can enact a program that provides a more sensible
and dependable method for covering catastrophic losses. However, I want to empha-
size that disaster assistance has been the liieblood for many of the farmers in my
State in the repeated catastrophic disasters we have experienced in recent years.
In many cases, it has meant the difTerence between staying in business or facing
bankruptcy or foreclosure. To be of value, a catastrophic coverage program must
provide benefits to farmers at least equal to what they have received in disaster as-

sistance.

As we debate
crop

insurance reform, I would like to develop ways to improve the
current coverage—tnat is called "buy-up coverage" in the proposal. I am pleased by
some of the improvements included in the proposal, such as increasing the highest
yield coverage to 85 percent of actual production history or 95 percent of area yields,
and providing actual market price coverage as an option for farmers. I think we all

agree that additional improvements are needed.
I also want to see what we can do to prevent abuse to the program. FCIC has

actively pursued abuse by farmers. I would like to see it more aggressively pursue

unscrupulous private companies, agents and adjustors which deliver the program.
Finally, I would like to see if there is a reasonable way to reduce the cost of the

program, in order to both reduce premiums that farmers pay and the cost to tax-

{)ayers.

Increased compliance eflbrts could significantly save money. I would also
ike to pursue other avenues for cost savings.
Again, I want to welcome Mr. Ackerman to this hearing, and look forward to dis-

cussing the proposal with him.

The Chairman. Senator Grassley?

STATEMENT OF HON. CHARLES E. GRASSLEY, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM IOWA

Mr. Grassley. Mr. Ackerman, perhaps I should, like Senator
Conrad, compliment you for your work in this area, but I was pre-
pared to compliment Secretary Espy because I read about his being
involved in the newspaper and agriculture publications promoting
this change. So I was going to thank Secretary Espy for getting the
ball rolling again.

I believe that the replacement of ad hoc disaster assistance pay-
ments with a sound crop insurance program will benefit both the
farmers and, in the spirit of reinventing government, also benefit
the taxpayers of this country. I have supported reform of crop in-

surance in the past, and some examples of some changes, I felt,
needed to be made would include my cosponsorship of bills; or
amendments to extend crop insurance coverage to losses, due to

late, or preventive planting. Therefore, I am happy to see that
some of these changes have been made in this legislation.

I am also pleased to see that this proposal authorizes the use of
actual production history in determining yields, and establishes a



catastrophic yield floor to protect those farmers who have been ad-

versely affected by weather related events such as the 1993 Floods.
It seems to me that these provisions represent great improvements
over the current program.
The reform of crop insurance is of vital interest to the farmers,

I suppose, of every State, but it seems to me like I hear it an awful
lot in my State as well. That is probably due to the widespread ef-

fects of the recent natural disasters, such as the 1988 Drought and
the 1993 Flood. It seems that that has brought some renewed in-

terest to this whole issue, and I think we ought to take advantage
of the current thought and support at the grass roots to do some-

thing.

Obviously, the current system is simply not allowing farmers to

manage their risks effectively, and the Federal Government can't

predict every natural disaster, but to the extent to which we can

encourage the management of risk, it is a pretty good principle for

government to be involved in and this is a start in that direction.
The low participation rates in the program has resulted in a reli-

ance on ad hoc disaster assistance, a reliance that could prove to

be dangerous to farmers, particularly because of our current budget
constraints and what the Budget law is, but also there is a situa-
tion where, if you get isolated disasters in certain parts of the

country, they
don't always translate into a national consensus—in

fact, they seldom do—that there ought to be help for a specific dis-

aster if it is isolated. It seems to me that this solves some of that

problem. We have a national consensus that is being expressed in

this bill.

Consequently, it is my hope that we can develop a program that
will give an incentive for farmers to participate in crop insurance
and to reduce their reliance upon disaster assistance. Although the
farmers in my State have benefitted from disaster assistance pay-
ments in the past, the

majority
of farmers I have spoken to would

welcome the replacement of aa hoc disaster assistance with a good
crop insurance program.
However, it seems to me that they want to accept a program that

will offer them the same kinds of assurance that they have histori-

cally received through disaster assistance. I know that there is al-

ways a political question, will that happen, but in recent years it

has basically happened. With that in mind, I think that tnis pro-
posal offers a good starting point for reform that farmers in my
State would support.
As I stated earlier, this proposal addresses many of the concerns

that I have had over the years. However, I do have a few concerns
and I look forward to these being addressed during the questioning
period.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you very much.
Senator Kerrey?

STATEMENT OF HON. J. ROBERT KERREY, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM NEBRASKA

Senator Kerrey. Mr. Chairman, first of all, I thank you and
Senator Lugar for your work on the Crop Insurance Proposal. I

have a particular small problem with USDA that I hope to



8

clear up so that when the reorganization bill comes back over
from the conference
The Chairman. They haven't cleared that up yet?
Senator KERREY. —you are going to be able to say it is unani-

mous instead of having to do this 98 to 1 declaration.

I truly am grateful that you are pushing this crop insurance leg-

islation, and I am grateful to Secretary Espy for having made a

promise about a year ago and then, conscious of the need to fulfill

that promise, he fought not only to get the legislation itself pre-

pared and introduced, but also made sure that we got a sufficient

amount of money in the budget to allow us to make this program
work.

I believe, Mr. Ackerman and Mr, Smith, that there will be a
number of things that we will have to do on the floor in order to

persuade our Colleagues that this legislation is both necessary and
reasonable and workable, given the budget problems that we have.

First of all, we are going to have to make it clear that this is not
a new entitlement program, that it is an effort to replace the Disas-

ter Program, and we are going to have to make sure that that not

only comes across loud and clear to our Colleagues, but that it

comes across loud and clear to everyone who is involved with pro-
duction agriculture.
We can't pass this legislation and then come back to the trough

a year later or 2 years later asking to be bailed out in addition to

what we have with crop insurance. We have to be very explicit in

declaring that to taxpayers, to Members of Congress, and most par-
ticularly to people that are involved with production agriculture.

I also think that we have got to explain in a very calm fashion
the way that agriculture is different than other kinds of businesses.

Planting decisions are made by roughly 600,000 independent small
businesses—even large farmers are typically small compared to

most other businesses—independent decisions that are made by
these usually family-based units will determine the success of

roughly 20 percent of our economy. It is a remarkable system.
Today, as a consequence of insisting on market orientation in the

program and insisting on sound practical research that is extended
to producers, agriculture is the most productive sector of our econ-

omy. That is not political rhetoric. It is true. We are more produc-
tive and more competitive in agriculture than any of our OECD
competitors, more productive on a percentage basis than the com-

puter industry, the automobile industry, more competitive than any
other sector of the United States economy.

It is a remarkable success story, and as a consequence of our con-

cern for consumers, we have made a decision to maintain an inven-

tory so that we don't find ourselves running short of food and very
unexpectedly facing high commodity prices and spikes in food

prices and that sort of thing. We maintain that inventory on behalf
of consumers, and as a consequence of that inventory we place the

producer at somewhat of a risk because of the economics of food

supply.
There is not today, in a competitive environment, much room for

error in agriculture. There was an observation made in last

month's issue of Top Producer where a farmer said, in pure com-

petition, which is what agriculture is today, over the long run cost



almost equals price for the average producer. That means that over

the long run for many producers there is no margin, and certainly
there is no margin for error out there today.

Crop insurance is critical, in my judgment, because it can in-

crease a producer's margin of safety both in the short run and in

the long run. There are four solid reasons why crop insurance is

preferable to the Disaster Program as a risk management tool.

First, it is bankable. A farmer can literally take it to the bank,
and you can't do that with disaster payments. They are too depend-
ent upon the whims of Congress. Second, crop insurance is market-

oriented. With a policy in place, a farmer has the confidence to for-

ward contract or to hedge.
Third, crop insurance is tailor-made risk management. It allows

the producer to assess his own risk. Very closely connected to that,

a farmer can expect more meaningful coverage under crop insur-

ance. Under the Disaster Program, farmers typically receive less

than what they do under the Crop Insurance Program because crop
insurance is based upon a producer's actual proven yield rather

than the usually lower fixed ASCS program yields. In addition, dis-

aster payments are based on a farmer's total loss, whereas crop in-

surance, as you know, offers coverage based upon individual fields

or units, which is vastly preferable to farmers.

Fourth, and finally, there is more fiscal discipline and far less po-
litical influence with crop insurance. Under crop insurance, indem-

nity payment rates, loss adjustment procedures, and so forth, are

clearly established, and rates reflect risk.

So I appreciate and applaud the Secretary's decision to fulfill this

promise. It is very important that Secretary Espy receive a great
deal of credit for the work he has done and the commitment that

he has made to make this program work.
I have some specific questions that I will ask later about the dual

delivery provision, as well as the linkage requirement. I think we
need to examine both of those to make sure that this program, in

fact, works for the farmer.
Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you.
Senator Daschle?

STATEMENT OF HON. THOMAS A. DASCHLE, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM SOUTH DAKOTA

Senator Daschle. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let me also com-
mend you and Senator Lugar for your leadership and the tremen-
dous effort that you have already put forth in bringing about mean-

ingful reform in crop insurance. Let me add to my accolades the

names Dallas Smith and Ken Ackerman because they certainly
have been as cooperative as we might hope to expect, and I appre-
ciate very much their willingness to work with us as we have

begun to construct a real reform effort.

My Colleagues have all been very eloquent in describing the need
and talking about how we address that need with crop insurance
reform. I think in South Dakota there is a perception, really, of two

things. First of all, disaster payments are too unpredictable and

they are not a good risk management tool—Number 1. Number 2,
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crop insurance as it exists today requires farmers to pay too much
and receive too little.

As a result of that experience, farmers are very skeptical about
our ability to address both concerns effectively. They would like to

see disaster payments continue if crop insurance is not meaning-
fully reformed, but they would like to see crop insurance reformed.

They honestly believe that it is a viable and a much more pref-
erable alternative than disaster payments.
The Chairman. I agree.
Senator Daschle. So that is our challenge, really, to create and

to construct meaningful reform that replaces disaster assistance,
recognizing the need for risk management as well as predictability.
I think we can do that. I think this Dili is a very good start.

I may offer an amendment as we go into markup which would
allow farmers to buy dollar coverage. I believe that we ought to buy
crop insurance the way we buy other forms of insurance, and we
have talked to many of you about that and I would like to get into
a discussion about that at some point. Yet, again, let me conclude
with the way I began by thanking our leadership for their effective

effort, and indicate my desire to see this thing tnrough successfully
this year.

I have a formal statement that I would like submitted for the
record.
The Chairman. It will be included in the record. Along with the

statements of Senators Cochran, McConnell, Craig, Pryor, and
Feingold.

[Testimony resumes on page 16.]

[The prepared statement of Senator Daschle follows.]

STATEMENT OF SENATOR THOMAS A. DASCHLE
Mr. Chairman, I would like to begin by thanking you for holding this hearing to

consider the administration's plan to reform the Nation's Crop Insurance System.
The proposal before us today would, for the first time, provide America's farmers
with an effective, reliable, and reasonably priced risk management tool to protect
them from natural disasters. I am truly proud to be a cosponsor of this bill.

Also, I would like to commend President Clinton and Secretary Espy for their

quick action on this critical issue.
In addition, Dallas Smith and Ken Ackerman, who are both before us today, de-

serve great credit for putting together the nuts and bolts of the administration's pro-
posal. Mr. Ackerman, in particular, has worked tirelessly on the plan, gathering
input from producers and insurance agents all across the country, including those
in my home State of South Dakota.
The severe flooding that producers across the Midwest faced last summer served

as a painful reminder of the inadequacy of our current Crop Insurance Program.The devastation in my State was as vast as any I have seen. Much of South Dako-
ta's most productive farmland was reduced to virtual swampland, filled with nothing
but water and weeds. In the face of this terrible disaster, most producers had not

purchased crop insurance coverage, and those with insurance quickly realized that
it did not cover them when they were unable plant their crops.
The failure of the current Crop Insurance Program forceci Congress to once again

implement an ad hoc disaster program. That program has provided essential relief,
but in the long run ad hoc programs are the wrong approach to risk management.
The quality and reliability of these programs have been highly variable in the past,
and as budget pressures increase they will likely become even more so in the future.
When faced with of this type of uncertainty, farmers have great difficulty making
sound financial plans and securing adequate credit.

The proposal that USDA is putting before us today eliminates many of the prob-
lems in the current Crop Insurance Program and promises to move us away from
our dependence on unreliable ad hoc disaster programs.
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By pajdng minimal administrative costs, producers will be able to purchase cata-

strophic insurance that will provide them with protection similar to last year's dis-

aster program. Farmers will he able to count on this coverage, even taking it to the

bank as collateral to secure a loan. It is truly an innovative step forward, that will

benefit farmers and result in a savings of $750 million over the next 5 years when
compared to current disaster program and crop insurance expenditures.
FCIC is also instituting other changes to make the program more cost effective

and attractive. Among these changes are provisions to use producers' 4-year actual

production histories to determine their insurable yields, and to increase the pre-
mium subsidies for higher, electable levels of insurance coverage. Combined, these

practices should make the program more attractive to good farmers and increase

participation in the program.
In addition, these changes will allow FCIC to identify and deal with high-risk cus-

tomers and crack down on those defrauding the program. I am also pleased to note
that FCIC has already begun to provide prevented planting coverage in insurance

policies on all program crops and soybeans. The lack of this type of coverage was
one of the most glaring flaws that last year's flooding exposed in the program, and
the quick action to correct it is greatly appreciated. Unfortunately, there has already
been some confusion over whether producers who had water on their land as of the

April 15 signup deadline are eligible for this coverage. I trust that we will be able

to continue to work together to resolve these producers' situations equitably.
One change in the Crop Insurance Program I have long advocated is offering cov-

erage in a simple dollar amount virtually every time I discuss the crop insurance
with producers in South Dakota, they point out now difficult it is to understand cur-

rent coverage levels because of the way they are presented. They would like to see

crop insurance coverage offered in dollars-per-acre terms like hail insurance cur-

rently is. Doing this makes great sense because most producers measure their input
costs in doUar-per-acre terms, and have a more concrete idea of their insurance
needs when coverage levels are expressed in these terms. I look forward to working
together as this process moves forward to incorporate this simple dollar coverage
concept into the new program.

Again, Mr. Chairman, thank you for your leadership on this issue. I look forward
to hearing from our witnesses.

[The prepared statements of Senators Craig, Helms, McConnell,

Pryor, Feingold, Cochran, and Baucus follow, respectively.]

STATEMENT OF SENATOR LARRY E. CRAIG

Mr. Chairman, thank you for holding this hearing. I believe the Members of this

committee are unanimous in the belief that the Federal Crop Insurance Program
and the Ad hoc Disaster Programs of the past few years need to be consolidated and
adjusted. It is both confusing to those involved as well as costly for us all to con-
tinue as we have these past few years.

I would also congratulate the administration and the Manager of the Federal

Crop Insurance Corporation, Mr. Ackerman, for the many hours of work that has
been put into the proposal that is before the committee.

Having said that, as one who has participated directly in production agriculture,
I know tne difficulties in dealing with government agencies on issues such as these.
This is

particularly
true when they become mandatory and restrictive as this pro-

posal tends to be. In the proposal there is a very low rate for the minimum manda-
tory coverage. As we all know, that minimum cost can easily be changed by a Con-

f'ess
thirsty for new money for the "good and legitimate" program of the moment,

need not remind my Colleagues of the very low rate at which the income tax was
initiated.

Several questions have been raised and suggestions for changes in the bill as it

is now constituted have been made by the Farm Bureau and others. I will have
some questions as well. I look forward to the information that will be gathered in
this hearing and hope we can indeed achieve true crop insurance reform that will

equitably
treat our farmers and the taxpayers of the United States.

Mr. Cnairman, Thank you.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR JESSE HELMS
Mr. Chairman, during the years that I had the honor of chairing this committee,

former Tennessee Congressman Ed Jones and I, together crafled a crop insurance
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and disaster protection program geared to provide the American farmer with a
safety net at a price affordable to both the farmers and the taxpayers. I was grati-
fied that the Jones-Helms' efforts were enacted into law, and regret that Congress
never got around to exercising the fiscal discipline necessary to execute those re-
forms.
As a result, the Agriculture Committee again confronts this dilemma as it

prepares to examine the administration's proposed 'Tederal Crop Insurance Reform
Act of 1994." As we embark upon this process, the committee would do well to

keep in mind the Federal Debt, which as of Monday, May 9, 1994, stood at

$4,572,080,412,621.63. Averaged out, every man, woman, and child in America
owes a share of this massive debt, and that per capita share is $17,536.97.

So, Mr. Chairman, while I agree that the Federal Crop Insurance Program ne«ds
niaior repair, I also caution against agreeing to a program that would put the finan-
cial future of our country in even greater jeopardy.
The advocates of this proposed new program point to its elimination of the current

costly ad hoc disaster payments which has, indeed, placed a burden on the Govern-
ment's—and, in turn, the taxpayers'—wallet. However, a congressional research
service report on Federal Crop Insurance states, "If the goal is to enhance participa-
tion to the point that crop insurance becomes a permanent replacement for disaster

payments, some argue that chronic deficits may become a necessary evil." I think
all Senators would agree, our country cannot afibrd such a "necessary evil." Cer-

tainly, I cannot and will not be a party to "chronic deficits" in crop insurance reform
or an3^hing else.

Furthermore, the administration—in order to enroll the greatest number of par-
ticipants in this program

—^has made the purchase of crop insurance a requirement
for participation in Federal commodity support programs or Farmers Home Admin-
istration loans. I am hesitant to place this stipulation on our farmers without rea-
sonable assurance that our farmers are not caught up in, yet another Government-
sponsored Ponzi scheme. I would hazard the guess that many others in Congress
feel the same way.

In any event, I recognized the need to reform our Crop Insurance Program in the
1980's, and I recognize it today. I also recognize the need for a common sense ap-
proach that will neither place unnecessary costs on future generations nor unneoes-
sary controls on today's farmers.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR MITCH McCONNELL
Mr. Chairman, when the Federal Crop Insurance Act of 1980 was enacted by Con-

gress, it was looked upon to permanently replace direct Federal disaster payments
as the primary risk management tool for U.S. agriculture. During the last 14 years.
Congress has tried to improve and make adjustments to the Crop Insurance Pro-

gram with limited success.
Yet farmers. Congress, policymakers, and taxpayers continue to be dissatisfied

with the program and this has led to the enactment of ad hoc disaster assistance

le^slation.
The 1993 legislation marked the seventh year that ad hoc disaster payments were

necessary. This has caused many to argue that the FCIC has not met the expecta-
tions that it would permanently replace direct disaster assistance.
Members of Congress and taxpayers continue to question the Crop Insurance Pro-

gram, saying we can not continue to fund FCIC and annual ad hoc disaster assist-
ance. Crop insurance has had a tremendous aggregate economic value. The program
has performed for participants, regardless of whether their disaster is individual or

regional in scope. In 1994, the demand for crop insurance has increased, as it gen-
erally does following disasters.

The question we need to address is how to develop a program to meet the needs
of our agricultural community that will be both compassionate to our farmers and
ranchers, and fair to taxpayers.
As Members of this committee, we must ask what are our policy options. The pos-

sibilities include the following:
• fine-tune the current program;
• eliminate the Crop Insurance PVogram altogether and replace it with a perma-

nent disaster assistance program;
• develop a catastrophic program available for all farmers; or
• continue to subsidize premiums, but require insurance companies to assume all

risk.



13

These are only a few of the many options possible. I am sure that during the hear-

ing on reform of the FCIC Program, other proposals or combinations will be dis-

cussed.
The administration has launched an eflbrt to reform the FCIC by combining the

ad hoc disaster payments into an improved crop insurance program. The Depart-
ment of Agriculture estimates that about 80 percent of the major crop acreage in

the United States would be insured with an improved program.
With the estimated goal of 80-percent coverage in mind, I would like to raise the

concerns of my farmers in Kentucky. In Kentucky, less than 20 percent of eligible

acres are covered. Farmers view the policies as too expensive, lacking in adequate
coverage, and fraught with administrative problems.
Maintaining a strong crop insurance program is very important to farmers. Fed-

eral premium cost-sharing encourages participation and is critical to a successful

program. / believe the program should be voluntary and that purchasing crop insur-

ance should not be reguired for participation in farm programs. It should be an op-
tion available to all farmers and should not be tied to conservation compliance,
FmHA, deficiency payments or any other farm program. The program must be flexi-

ble to provide producers an opportunity to develop a program that meets their spe-
cific needs. The program should be available to all agricultural commodities includ-

ing specialty crops.
With these thoughts in mind, I look forward to discussions on how we, as legisla-

tors, can work with the agricultural sector and the administration to overcome the

hurdle of ad hoc disaster relief. Thank you Mr. Chairman.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR DAVID PRYOR

Many of you have heard me say how the farmers in Arkansas have never been

big fans of crop insurance. In fact, cotton producers only insured 6 percent of Arkan-
sas' insurable cotton acres in 1992 while rice producers had a mere 17 percent of

the rice acres protected. Although the final 1993 numbers for cotton and rice are

not yet in, projections have both these rates down to 4 and 15 percent of insurable

acres, respectively.
Be that as it may, the Clinton administration, and particularly Secretary Espy,

have gone to great lengths in addressing this problem and proposing reform of the

way we provide crop insurance to this Nation's Agriculture sector. I applaud these

efforts, and look forward to working with them, and this committee on these impor-
tant, needed program changes. With the ever increasing budget pressures and the
all too common insistence of Mother Nature to make her presence known, we must
work together to find a more improved and efficient way of providing for the many
uncertainties related to agriculture.

This proposal, I believe, has been well thought out with quite a bit attention given
to detail. However, I still have a few questions about how this proposal was de-

signed and how it wUl ultimately operate. For example: Are the basic levels enough
to provide some relief? Do the higher "buy-up" levels of coverage provide a better
deal than is currently available bSth with and without ad hoc disaster assistance?

Will the $50 processing fee take legislative authority to change, or can it be changed
by administratively? What is included to address the perceived problem of wide-

spread abuse of the program?
Clearly, Mr. Chairman, we are faced with some challenging questions in looking

at this reform proposal. We must try to look into the future and predict what elTect

changes we make here will have on the hardworking producers of food and fiber

throughout our country. I want to make sure those farmers, such as most in my
State, have an absolutely clear understanding of what these changes mean and how
they will be implemented.
Mr. Chairman, thanks again for holding this morning's hearing and I look forward

to working with you on this important subject.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR RUSSELL D. FEINGOLD

Many of us on this committee
represent

States which were badly affected by the
wet weather and flooding of ^1993. We are intimately familiar with the pain and the

tragedy resulting from those circumstances.
The impacts of last year's weather are still being felt and will continue to be felt

for many years. Wisconsin suffered losses on nearly 2 million acres of cropland.
While disaster payments to Wisconsin farmers for the 1993 Floods have totaled well

92-780 0-95-2
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over $100 million, crop insurance indemnities have been less than half that amount.
In 1993, only 1.3 million of Wisconsin's over 17 million acres of cropland were in-

sured by FCIC—and that was a year in which crop insurance policy sales were high
due to the disaster assistance program requirements in 1992. In fact, it seems that
under the provisions of the current Crop Insurance Program, there are few incen-
tives for participation in Wisconsin, other than the Federal mandate, and that is

unfortunate. In years that haven't followed a disaster, crop insurance sales were
more frequently in the range of only 600,000 acres or 3 percent of our cropland.
That is not an indictment of Wisconsin farmers but rather an indication of how

badly the Crop Insurance Program needs reform and I commend Secretary Espy,
Mr. Ackerman and his staff for taking the initiative to develop such a comprehen-
sive reform proposal.
The current Crop Insurance Program simply cannot meet the unique needs of

Wisconsin farmers and ad hoc disaster assistance, as it has been applied in recent

years, has created, its own set of problems for farmers.
Ad hoc disaster assistance creates uncertainty with respect to the level of assist-

ance that will be provided as well as to the timeliness of assistance delivery. It cre-

ates the need for time-consuming and resource-draining appeals as well as a high
degree of frustration for both farmers and those delivering disaster assistance serv-
ices. Last year, the Congress did not determine a disaster assistance payment rate
for farmers until early August, for damage caused by floods that began in June.
Some farmers have stiU not received payment for their losses of last year. This is

not a criticism of Congress, USDA or larniers. These are hard working Federal em-
ployees and farmers all trying to do their jobs as best they can. These are problems
inherent to ad hoc disaster assistance.

TTie current system also politicizes the
delivery

of disaster assistance to farmers.
While that may make for a lot of good press releases for Members of Congress, it

does not serve farmers very well. We cannot hold farmers hostage to the political
constraints in the current system. It is hard to tell a farmer that he or she is not

going to get those badly needed dollars for several months simply because the Con-

gress hasn't gotten around to it yet. Congress, relative to farmers, moves slowly.
Under the proposal before us, that problem is eliminated.

In addition, Federal budget constraints mandate that we act in a fiscally respon-
sible manner with respect to disaster assistance to farmers. I don't thinx we can
continue to provide emergency funds year after year after year for disaster assist-

ance with little or no fiscal accountability. We need to put the true costs associated
with current policy on budget. The reform proposed by USDA recognizes that prob-
lem and takes it to task.
K we have learned anything from the disastrous weather of 1993, it is that we

cannot conduct business as usual.
The Federal Crop Insurance Program, in its current form, cannot replace ad hoc

disaster assistance. That, of course, is one of the reasons we are here today. I am
pleased with the reform proposal before us and I think that, in general, it has been
pretty well received by farmers in my State who don't want a repeat of last year's
frustrations.

I may have mentioned once or twice in the past that we have a few dairy farmers
in my State. Most of those farmers grow insurable crops such as alfalfa hay and
feed grains for use on their farms. However documentation of those crops can be

problematic for crop insurance purposes under the current program and it may pose
similar problems under the proposed Crop Insurance Reform Proposal. I want to be
sure that this reform proposal addresses the unique needs of livestock based agricul-
tural sectors with respect to crop insurance.

In Wisconsin, there are a lot of reasons that farmers don't purchase crop insur-
ance. A major reason relates to the great crop diversity we have in our State. Wis-
consin proaucers grow a wide variety of high value specialty crops ranging from
strawberries to ginseng. On a large number oi Wisconsin farms many different types
of crops are grown making insurance by crop far too costly based on the level of
risk these producers face. It appears that, to a certain extent, this would be rectified
for some insurable crops under the reform proposal since farmers would pay a maxi-
mum of $100 per farmer regardless of the number of crops they insured.

I do have some concerns and questions about the treatment of specialty crops for
which insurance would not be available under this proposal. In addition, I think this

committee, having spent such considerable time specialty crops for which insurance
would not be available under this

proposal.
In adaition, I think this committee, hav-

ing spent such considerable time and effort on the reorganization of USDA, needs
to be sure that our crop insurance delivery system under this

proposal does not re-

sult in duplication of services, data collection and other related functions. We must
also be sure that we have eliminated the opportunities under the current program
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for fraud. Finally, it is extremely important
to me that the terms of crop insurance

policies are fair to all farmers regardless of size or type of operation.
I look forward to exploring some of these issues with Mr. Ackerman and his staff.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR THAD COCHRAN

Chairman, thank you for calling the hearing today on this important subject.
As you know, Mr. Chairman, this committee has been involved in the passage and

implementation of numerous ad hoc disaster bills to meet the needs of larmers suf-

fering from adverse weather conditions. Farmers are always at risk from the unpre-
dictability of weather conditions. Without some form of crop insurance or disaster

assistance, these risks must be bom by the farmers, their lenders and their commu-
nities. Adequate disaster assistance is of vital importance to the thousands of rural

communities throughout the Nation whose economies are dependent upon a healthy
agriculture sector. It is my hope that we can develop a crop insurance/disaster pro-

gram which is fiscally responsible while providing consistent, adequate protection
for farmers when crop losses occur.

The fact that this committee has addressed numerous ad hoc disaster bills is a
clear indication that the Current Crop Insurance Program does not work. I am will-

ing to work with the administration on their proposed crop insurance reform plan.
However, I worry that this plan may be less than it seems. I am concerned that
the proposal promises more that it can deliver.

Crop insurance reforms have been attempted by Congress before, but it remains
a poor investment for farmers. In my State, less than 20 percent of the eligible acres
are enrolled in the Crop Insurance Pro-am. Many farmers view the cost, compared
to the potential benefits they could receive, as excessive.

I appreciate the efforts oi the administration to develop a plan to provide our Na-
tion's farmers with adequate protection from weather related disasters. I feel that
the proposal before the committee today is a step in the right direction and merits
our careful and serious consideration.

I look forward to the testimony of Mr. Ackerman, and working with this conunit-
tee on this very important matter.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR MAX BAUCUS
Thank you Mr. Chairman. This is a very important event and I am pleased that

Mr. Ackerman and Mr. Smith are here to detail the Crop Reform Proposal which
is before us.

I speak for many of Montana's farmers when I say that it's high time we reform
the Crop Insurance Program of USDA. For some time, the relative value of this pro-

gram to the producer has declined while the premiums have increased. As the Fed-
eral Government proved all too willing to enact disaster legislation, producers exited
the Insurance Program. We've been lefi, with an insurance program that is an em-
barrassment.

Today, farmers are reluctant to purchase a risk management product which they
believe offers too little benefit at an exorbitant price. Besides, they know that if we
do experience a disaster, their Uncle Sam will ride in and save the day with a disas-

ter relief package. All the benefits and none of the cost of the Insurance Program.
Finally we have said, enough.

This legislation is a significant step toward reforming the program. It will replace
the safety net of annual disaster programs with universal, catastrophic coverage. No
more annual of budget disaster programs. Participation will be linked to other
USDA farm programs. The insurance package will build on that base with afford-

able premiums for additional coverage. This program will accomplish these changes
while achieving fiscal accountability. With the necessary baseline changes which the
Conference Committee on the Budget has provided, the time to act is now.
WhUe I still have some questions, I believe this is a first step of significant impor-

tance. I will work to address concerns about the effective premiums for farmers who
have recently endured successive disasters. I will also pursue changes to enhance
the production of alternative crops, perhaps by extending or enhancing coverage of
these commodities. Finally, I will work to make certain that this legislation meets
the needs of all farmers without creating unacceptable burdens for the taxpayers.
Mr. Chairman, let me express my appreciation for holding this hearing. I look for-

ward to working with you to secure, passage for this important legislation.
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The Chairman. Senator Heflin?

STATEMENT OF HON. HOWELL HEFLIN, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM ALABAMA

Senator Heflin, First, let me thank Senator Leahy and Senator

Lugar for their leadership, and the Department of Agriculture. I

particularly appreciate the work in cooperation of Mr. Ackerman
and Mr. Smith, and I think it has been a rather remarkable effort

that has been successful to get the Budget Committee to come up
with a sizable amount of money to be used relative to this program.
Over the past 6 years, we in the U.S. Government have spent an

average of $1.6 billion a year on disaster rehef programs. By using
this and combining it with a crop insurance program, according to

0MB we can save $750 million over a 5-year period, which is in

keeping with budget-cutting and it shows that the administration

is interested in trying to save money in the field of agriculture.
We have had substantial cuts; since 1986, there have been sub-

stantial cuts in agriculture, but everybody is looking to try to still

say that agriculture has to bear more, and one thing is the GATT
issue that nas come up. So this idea of saving money is a laudable

effort, and I congratulate you in that regard.
As we look at a crop insurance program, I am not sure that we

shouldn't change the name to the risk management program. There
have been some connotations dealing with crop insurance and dis-

aster programs that perhaps from a public relations viewpoint, we
need to give a new name to it. That is just a personal thought of

myself. I am not willing to go to the wall and fight for it or that

sort of thing, but I throw it out for consideration.

Now, I hope that as we get into a new risk management program
that there can be what I call comprehensive coverage. Unfortu-

nately, in the past we have had situations with disaster and other

programs that an area may have suffered a disaster and an adjoin-

ing area closeby may not, and because of concepts of county units

and various other units, they didn't qualify.

My farmers refer to rain always as spotty. I keep hearing the

words, "the rain was spotty." I didn't get any rain, but my neighbor
down the road got some rain, and you hear this word "spotty" al-

ways. You know, I would really think that you might have within

an area of 5 miles a farm that really suffers a disaster and another
one that is 5 miles away didn't. So I hope that the coverage can
be comprehensive relative to that.

I have some concerns relative to the proposal, and I actually
have introduced a bill of my own which has a few differences from
the bill that is introduced. Number 1 is that I feel like we ought
to have a situation by which you could judge crop yields from a 4-

year basis, and you can drop the high and the low or you could

make a choice wnere you could have an average or a median in re-

gard to that.

My farmers also are interested in what they call their cost of

production package, and I think that this may be similar to what
Senator Daschle mentioned when he said dollar coverage relative

to that. That would be an alternative that could be within the

package. Some feel like that if they can have crop insurance where
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the premiums would be low enough which can cover their cost of

production maybe they can survive for 1 year, as opposed to other

types of insurance.
There are other problems that are confronting us. There are

some smaller crops, for example, that are not able to use a 4-year
average and they are forced to use a 10-year average production

history. This causes them great concerns to be able to have to fig-

ure this. I would hope that we could have some uniformity relative

to all crops that would be covered under a 4-year average rather
than some that would have to go under an average production his-

tory of something like 10 years.
There are some other problems as we go along pertaining to this.

One is the transfer of records from the ASCS office to the Federal

Crop Insurance office. We have some cases in which it takes up to

3 years for a farmer's yields to be transferred from the ASCS office

to the Crop Insurance office, and that is a problem we are con-

fronted with and as we get into more automation, computers and
other things, it would appear to me that these figures could be ex-

pedited.
I think the Crop Insurance Proposal here that the administration

has come up with will also be a tool to eliminate some fi^aud and
abuse that has occurred, too, relative to it. I think that you have

got some provisions that help a great deal in regard to this.

I congratulate you on the way we are going forward. I think
there are some adjustments we ought to make on the thing, but
overall it is a very good program and it is designed to save money,
and nobody ought to complain about that. I believe that as we
move forward that this can be something that provides more cer-

tainty.
As Senator Conrad mentioned about it, we have had several dis-

asters where it was perhaps localized in one or two States and it

was impossible to get a disaster bill. If a disaster occurred in the
district of the Chairman of the Appropriations Subcommittee on

Agriculture in the House, we usually got a crop disaster bill, but
if it occurred in somebody else's district it was somewhat difficult

to be able to get it, unless it is widespread. If it is widespread, then
there is general acknowledgement that there is a disaster.

There are things that we can do and we ought to improve it be-

cause if we come up with a bill, it is going to, I think, be a bill

that will be lasting for a while. Since now we have got some money
to do it and things are moving, the movement is now, the time is

right, and I think we ought to adopt a full, comprehensive bill in-

stead of a spotty bill.

The Chairman. We will have a special section on spotting.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman. That is a fascinating idea. My State is too small
to do that. If it rains anywhere in the State, it rains everywhere
in the State.

Senator Heflin. That is because you have got a small State.
The Chairman. Yes, just a small one.

Senator Heflin. Well, it snows.
The Chairman. Well, not too much. I mean, you know, we had

less than 140 inches last winter.
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[Laughter.]

The Chairman. On the other hand, some of it came down kind
of heavy. I remember one night we had 12 or 13 inches that night
and it was so bad, the schools opened an half-hour late.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman. They, of course, replaced the school board so that
wouldn't happen again.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman. We have a different method of snow removal.
You understand the method of snow removal here in Washington.
It is a very religious experience. People take the attitude that if

God put it there, God can take it away because, God knows, neither
the city nor the surrounding counties are going to, and never have.
The only method of snow removal that works here is several warm
days.

I want to join also with the others who applaud the work that
Ken Ackerman has done, and I was not surprised after he left this

committee that he would do so well. Ken, I want to just note per-
sonally for the record how much I appreciate the way you and your
office responded to questions not only from me, but from all Mem-
bers of this committee.

It is now your show. You get a chance to tell us what you want
to do.

STATEMENT OF DALLAS R. SMITH, DEPUTY UNDER SEC-
RETARY, INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS AND COMMODITY PRO-
GRAMS, UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE,
WASHINGTON, DC; AND KENNETH D. ACKERMAN, MANAGER,
FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION, UNITED
STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, WASHINGTON, DC.

Mr. Smith. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Members of the commit-
tee. I am Dallas Smith, Deputy Under Secretary, International Af-
fairs and Commodity Programs.
The Chairman. Also no stranger to this committee and we are

delighted to have you here, and I would note again another office

that has always responded to questions from this committee and I

do appreciate it.

Go ahead, Mr. Smith.
Mr. Smith. Thank you. We appreciate hearing your comments in

support and concerns on our proposal. We are also pleased that
this committee is holding this hearing today to discuss the Crop In-
surance Reform bill. Mr. Ken Ackerman, as has been noted. Man-
ager of the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation, is here with me
to discuss the administration's newly proposed crop insurance re-
form program.
As you know, on March 2, 1994, Secretary Espy announced de-

tails of the administration's proposal to reform the Crop Insurance
Program and transmitted draft legislation to Congress. Last week,
the Senate and House conferees agreed with the Secretary's initial

request of a $1 billion baseline adjustment to the budget. Now is

the time to work together to support this proposal, which enjoys
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broad support in the agricultural community, and get it enacted in

time to be implemented for the 1995 Crop Year.
Mr. Chairman, I would like to take tnis opportunity also to ac-

knowledge and thank the Members of the Senate Committee on

Agriculture, Nutrition, and Forestry who, with their counterparts
in the House, have introduced this proposal into the Senate and
the House. It is our belief that this proposal is a step in the right
direction to reforming crop insurance. Mr. Chairman, we also have
a proposal that represents the best advice we could get from all

parties involved. With this committee's support, I believe this crop
insurance reform has a solid chance of being fully implemented.
Mr. Chairman, if it is agreeable with you at this time, I would

now like to ask Ken Ackerman to summarize the provisions of the

legislation.
The Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Smith.
Mr. Ackerman?
Mr. Ackerman. Thank you. I want to thank the committee and

thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is very much a personal honor for me
to be attending a hearing in this room sitting at this end of the
table.

I also want to thank you for holding this hearing very quickly.
As many Senators around the table have noted, it is well known
that our prospects for passing crop insurance reform legislation are

very dependent, or have been very dependent on our obtaining a
baseline adjustment in the budget resolution. We very much appre-
ciate the fact that the budget conferees have included that full

baseline adjustment. I understand that the final vote on that, the
final decision on that budget resolution will be in the Senate, I be-

lieve, today, so we are very hopeful that that will be accomplished.
That done, we feel, as Senator Heflin mentioned, that now is the

time that we have the momentum to take action. We would like to
move forward and see this bill adopted in time to be implemented
for the 1995 Crop Year. That is an ambitious timetable, but we
think it is a workable timetable. To do that, though, we need for

you to know that because of the complexity, the difficulty involved,
the simple logistics of putting this plan into effect, we would need
to have a bill completed by about early July, about the beginning
of July, in order to have this program up and running for the 1995
Crop Year. That is what we would like to do and at this point we
are very much prepared to clear our decks, clear our desks, and roll

up our sleeves and work with you to try to get this done.
What I will do is very briefly walk you through what we have

proposed and why we have proposed it. For crop insurance, basi-

cally we find ourselves on the horns of a dilemma of two competing
forces which are shaping our program. They can be summarized as
more risk and less money.
On one side, as Senator Conrad mentioned earlier, over the past

half dozen years we have seen literally an unprecedented parade
of disasters affecting American agriculture, starting with the 1988
Drought of the Century; the 1989 Drought of the Century; the 1992
Hurricane of the Century—Hurricane Andrew; the 1993 Flood of
the Half-millennium. As of yesterday, I understand there was a 7-

foot hail storm in Texas.
The Chairman. What?
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Mr. ACKERMAN. 7 feet of hail in some parts of Texas.
The Chairman. How the heck do you get 7 feet of hail?

Senator Kerrey. Only a Texan would claim that.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman, That is the highest elevation in Texas now.

[Laughter,]

Mr. Ackerman. Apparently, there were pictures on CNN this

morning of 7 feet of hail in some parts of Texas.
At any rate, the parade of disasters has put into the forefront the

need for meaningful risk management tools. On the other side, as

everyone knows, we are facing an unprecedented deficit crisis at all

levels of government, starting in Washington and spreading to

State and local governments as well.

We have a multi-trillion-dollar Federal deficit. Deficit reduction
is one of the foremost priorities in our country today, and at vir-

tually every step of the way agriculture has been in the forefront

as being a target for cuts. In last year's reconciliation bill, agri-
culture absorbed $3 billion of cuts, including $500 million in crop
insurance alone. This type of budget pressure is going to continue
to shade all discussions of this program.
The problems with crop insurance very much came to the fore

and were very much dramatized by last summer's flood in the Mid-
west. With this committee, I don't have to walk through the mag-
nitude of the flood. Everyone here knows how bad it was. It did,

however, expose a number of problems in the Crop Insurance Pro-

gram. Some of them were very specific
—the lack of preventive

planting coverage, for instance, in many areas; the fact that our

price selection system is overly rigid; the fact that in many areas
we simply built our buildings too near the water.

In Des Moines, Iowa, for instance, our area claims office in Des
Moines is on the fifth floor of an office building about a quarter of
a mile fi^om the river. Normally, you would think that would be
safe from a flood. This year, that office got flooded out. The base-
ment of that building a quarter of a mile fi-om the river flooded.

We had to evacuate for several weeks. That experience is obviously
mild next to what was experienced by farmers in that State and
in many States throughout that region, but clearly it exposed some
of the problems in our program.
The biggest problem that came out of this experience, however,

is the fact that over the past 10 years we have had developed in

this country two redundant programs, two parallel programs trying
to do the same thing and unfortunately working at cross purposes
in the end.
While we have spent upwards toward $900 million per year for

Federal crop insurance, for various subsidies, when disasters have
struck crop insurance has simply not been an adequate safety net.

The participation level has been too low. As a result, literally, in

8 out of the last 8 years we have had to provide ad hoc disaster

payments to farmers.
As the chart over here on the left side shows, the size of these

payments varies dramatically year bv year. Yet, we have had to

provide these payments in 8 out of the last 8 years. The problem
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is that the dependence on disaster programs has created a level of

uncertainty which is bad for farmers and bad for taxpayers at the

same time.

From the farmer's point of view—several Senators have already
made this point—the main problem is that if you do not have crop
insurance and if you are dependent on disaster aid, you simply
have no idea at the beginning of the year whether you are going
to get protection or not or what that protection is going to be.

If you suffer a loss, as many farmers already have in 1994, you
have to worry whether your loss is going to be repeated by farmers

across your State and 10 other States and 20 other States to see

whether disaster aid is going to arrive or not. In some years, disas-

ter aid is fully funded; in other years, it is 50-percent funded. In

a future year, it could be 30-percent funded or 80-percent funded.

There is no certainty, and if you are trying to run your farm as a

business, you cannot do it.

From the taxpayer's point of view, you have the same uncer-

tainty. As Senator Lugar pointed out, ad hoc disaster aid, whether
it is for agriculture or for anything else, is not subject to any of the

fiscal discipline that applies to other areas of government spending.
It is not subject to the pay-as-you-go rules. It does not have to be

offset with spending cuts.

As a result, while over the past 10 years we have spent an aver-

age on crop disaster assistance of $1 billion a year, over the past
6 years that average has risen to over $1.5 billion a year. As Sen-

ator Heflin said, it is now roughlv $1.6 billion for the last 6 years.
With each succeeding disaster bill, whether it is for agriculture or

for a California earthquake, the level of taxpayer resistance gets

higher and higher and higher. So, that is the imcertainty from the

taxpayer point of view.

What USDA is going to do about it is this: On March 2, Sec-

retary Espy announced a wide-ranging set of changes in crop insur-

ance. These changes grew very much out of the experience of last

summer's flood. Secretary Espy and President Clinton spent quite
a lot of time in the Midwest talking to farmers and, frankly, they
heard an earful. They heard a lot of problems, a lot of concerns

about these programs.
Basically, our program goes in three directions. We want to make

the program more fiscally sound, we want to make it more farmer-

friendly, and we want to resolve this problem with disaster pay-
ments. That is the main theme of the legislation before the commit-
tee today. What the goal of the legislation is is very simple. We are

proposing to merge crop insurance and disaster aid into a single,

unified on-budget program.
As Senator Kerrey said, we are not creating a new program. We

are not even asking for new money. We are simply proposing to

merge these two current programs, at approximately their current

funding levels, into a single, unified on-budget program. To do this

takes two steps.

First, we are proposing to create legal barriers, parliamentary
hurdles, against future ad hoc disaster programs. We discussed

this in the hearing several weeks ago on disaster aid. Basically,
we would be requiring that any crop disaster bill in the future

be treated as regular PAYGO spending, that it not be given
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emergency status under the Budget Act. This means that it has to

be paid for with offsetting budget cuts. We view that as a very sig-

nificant parliamentary hurdle against a disaster bill.

At the same time, we are proposing to take the money for that

program and direct it toward an expanded crop insurance program.
The way we would do that is outlined in the written statement, so

I will walk through this very, very quickly. We would create a new
level of catastrophic coverage made available to all farmers of in-

sured crops. The Government would pay the premium. It is like a

rainy day fund. The farmer would pay a processing fee of $50 per
crop, per county, with a cap of $100 per county. The idea is to

make it very accessible, very economical, so that the largest num-
ber of farmers can get their hands on it.

The level of coverage available would be similar to what farmers
have gotten under disaster bills the past several years. The testi-

mony contains a number of charts making this comparison in a

very detailed way.
We recognize that this 50/60 coverage, this catastrophic cover-

age, is very low. It is intended to replace disaster programs. Most
farmers should get and are encouraged to get higher levels of cov-

erage, and so the second key point is that we are creating financial

incentives for those higher levels of coverage.
The third point is that we provide mandatory linkage. I know

this is a controversial issue, but we think it is very important. We
are requiring that for any farmer to get a Farmer's Home loan or

participate in a USDA commodity program, they must have ac-

quired at least the catastrophic level of coverage. The effect of this

is seen in the chart on the left which shows the effect on participa-
tion of the mandatory linkage.

Basically, crop insurance in 1993 had a participation rate of

about 33 percent of eligible acres. With mandatory linkage, we ex-

pect that that total participation rate will rise to about 80 percent.
It is a very dramatic increase, and the purpose of it is to make sure
that in a future disaster the bulk of farmers are, in fact, covered.

The Chairman. From the approximately 40-percent participation
that it has been in the past, how is it going to go to the 80-percent
rate of participation? That is, how will your proposed increase par-

ticipation in the Crop Insurance Programs?
Mr. AcKERMAN. The reason we would go to the 80 is because we

would now have a mandatory linkage. In order, for instance, for a
farmer to qualify for a wheat deficiency payment or a corn defi-

ciency payment, they must have acquired at least the catastrophic
level of coverage. The simple math of how many people are in these

programs and how many people get Farmer's Home loans are what
drives those numbers.
The Chairman. If you have most producers get into catastrophic

coverage, are you going to have to maintain a linkage between crop
insurance and other USDA program benefits, a mandatory linkage?
Mr. AcKERMAN. We think we will and. Senator, the reason is

this: Our main concern behind the mandatory linkage is that we
do not want to go through the process of reforming crop insurance,
creating these legal barriers against disaster bills, and then 2 years
down the road have a major drought, a major flood, and find out
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that a lot of farmers, even for good reasons, simply have not ac-

quired the coverage.
Whether it is a matter of simple inertia, whether they are simply

skeptical of a new government program—^for whatever reason, if

they don't have the coverage, then they either will not be protected
or it will create the very kinds of pressures that could unravel this

program.
The Chairman. Well, they know the coverage that we provided

in 1991 and 1992 through disaster programs. What would you say
this does for them? I mean, suppose they had had this instead of
the Disaster Programs. Do they come out better or worse?
Mr. AcKERMAN. If they have not had crop insurance and they

were relying on the Disaster Programs, in virtually every case they
will do better than they did in 1991 and 1992. In most cases, they
will come close to what they did in 1993.
The Chairman. The 1993 Disaster Program was a more generous

one. 1993 and 1988 were more generous disaster programs anyway,
were they not?
Mr. Ackerman. That is correct.

Senator Heflin. Might I ask, is there a possibility of trying to

have some method which almost forces—maybe I don't want to use
that word—adoption of that coverage? For example, on gasoline off-

the-highway use, there are various forms that have to be used.
Could there be a connection between the use of those forms and the
refunds in connection with this coverage? I just throw that out as
a thought that just hit my mind. I hadn't really thought about it,

but if there could be some type of connection which might bring
about more coverage. I don't know whether I am for it or against
it.

[Laughter.]

Senator Heflin. I mean, I just thought about some method of
collection. I reckon that deals with the IRS, though, in between the

departments and whether it can be connected or not.

Mr. Ackerman. Senator Heflin, if this is setup so that a farmer
signs up for catastrophic coverage and it is linked to a deficiency
payment in the future, or linked to a loan, the idea of offsetting the

price of one against the other is certainly something we could look
at if that would make it more administratively feasible.

But the idea was we felt it was important for farmers to be in
the program and that there be at least a meaningful processing fee
so that it is not something that you are getting for nothing. It is

an insurance policy that you are putting up money for. On the
other hand, if there are ways to make this more administratively
efficient either by tying it to deficiency payments or loans, we are

certainly open to ideas.

Senator Daschle. What about tying it to their eligibility for dis-
aster payments? I mean, they would simply give up any protec-
tion—they could sign up for the farm program, but they would
have the option of not having that coverage and they would sign
to that effect.

Senator Kerrey. They would sign a waiver.
Senator Daschle. They would sign a waiver. Is that something

you looked at?
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Mr. ACKERMAN. It is something we looked at and, frankly, it was
something that we weren't very comfortable with, and the reason
is that it is a lot easier to sign a waiver than it is to sign a $50
check. The concern is that if a larger number of farmers took that

option and simply signed away their rights to a disaster payment
and, in fact, 2 years down the road a disaster occurred, there will

be one of two outcomes. Either those farmers will, in fact, be un-

protected and they will be very concerned. They will say they didn't

understand, they didn't realize. There is, in fact, a history of disas-

ter payments aid out of the last 8 years and many farmers will

probably be very skeptical if they are simply told to sign this piece
of paper and disaster aid will vanish.

Or else you will have the very types of political pressure to undo
this program, and if we go through the process of spending this

sum of money and creating these new parliamentary hurdles to

disaster payments and then violate it in 3 years, then I think we
really will have taken two steps backwards.
The Chairman. You also have the problem, as we start getting

more and more budget crunches here, that there is going to be less

and less support for disaster payments if everybody knows there
could have been an alternative, whether disaster insurance or oth-

erwise. Some of the problems that result with the disaster pro-

grams like we saw a week or so ago in oversight hearings on disas-

ter progress and some of the problems that result with the Disaster

Programs versus an in-place, carefully monitored, setup insurance

program—are going to turn a lot of people off, too.

I hope that the word is going out that it is not wise for people
to say we will just put off doing any reform of crop insurance be-

cause the Congress will come through with disaster payments each

year, as we have the past several years, at the rate of around $1
billion, because I don't see that continuing to happen.
There will be some extraordinary disasters; there always are in

this country, but they are going to have to be truly extraordinary.
I think that certainly the feelings I am getting from hearing from
other Members both from farm States and nonfarm States is that

there is a real concern about continuing disaster relief the way we
are going.

So, I hope that if we do something, everybody understands we
are in it for the long term. It is not going to oe a case of going back
to disaster payments. In fact, one of the things we have been able
to do is get the ability

—with the Department's strong help—from
CBO to be able to offset some of the money that we normally put
into disaster bills into setting this Crop Insurance Program up.

Incidentally, one thought that occurs to me—and, Mr, Smith, you
may be the best one to talk about this. We have talked about the

reorganization of the Department. The Federal Crop Insurance

Corporation in that reorganization was moved from Small Commu-
nity and Rural Development to the Farm Service Agency. What
does that do in the way we handle these disaster programs?
Mr. Smith. Mr. Chairman, we feel that the reorganizational

structure that we are looking at now in the Farm Service Agency
will support the delivery of this risk management effort through
the new system. In fact, in our organizational structure we see an
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identity for risk management at the deputy administrator level in

the Farm Service Agency.
At the local level, the county level, by going to changes in tech-

nology, the Infoshare system, we see the Farm Service Agency con-

solidated function supporting the data needs of the risk rnanage-
ment aspects of our program. So we believe the reorganization will

reinforce and support the delivery of this service to the farmers.

The CHAraMAN. In other words, the Farm Service Agency then

uses the ASCS to do that?

Mr. Smith. Well, the Farm Service Agency will incorporate the

missions of Federal crop insurance, ASCS and farm credit from
FmHA. In doing so, we are planning to bring the Federal Crop In-

surance Corporation under the FSA and have it aligned as one of

the deputy administrator areas so it will receive the same degree
of attention in that organizational structure as it currently does.

The Chairman. Are FCIC and ASCS already talking about what

happens under the new structure—I mean, we could do it on a

chart here, but the reality is you have people and systems and pro-

grams that are going to have to do the actual job. I mean, are they

already looking at that?
Mr. Smith. Yes, Sir. We have common areas of support. For ex-

ample, in the administrative area there will be common areas of

support, but even under our current structure with ASCS and Fed-

eral Crop Insurance as separate agencies, we have a large degree
of cooperation in how those programs are delivered and now data

is shared.
The Chairman. Senator Lugar?
Senator Lugar. I just wanted to ask about the whole actuarial

problem that comes with crop insurance. It is something that you
have had to face as experts. In private insurance markets, for fire

insurance, for example, the insurance companies pool the risk by
insuring a large number of people against a particular hazard, fre-

quently over a large area, maybe over the whole country with a na-

tional group of people. This pooling allows the insurance company
to manage underwriting risk because the probability of fire in one

person's house is statistically independent of the probability in an-

other person's house.

Now, the dilemma with crop insurance in the past has been that

adverse weather often affects thousands of farmers simultaneously
who are right together in critical mass, so that as opposed to the

actuarial problems of a fire occurring somewhere in America right

now, the crop thing is often very concentrated and actuarily in a

very different situation.

Just as a matter of theory, how can you construct a program that

really meets this devastating concentration?
Mr. AcKERMAN. Senator Lugar, it is a very interesting question

and it goes to the core of why there is a Federal crop insurance pro-

gram rather than crop insurance being handled solely by the pri-

vate sector. You are exactly right. If you take a year like 1993 or

1988, a year like that could have wiped out a totally private sector-

based system.
Even with a government-supported system, a year like 1993 has

put a very serious strain on the private sector participants in Fed-
eral crop insurance because we have a system of risk sharing.
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which has had an increasing burden on the private sector in the

past few years. So this year the private sector took a very substan-
tial hit because of the losses.

We have to construct our program over the long haul. When we
set rates on crop insurance, we use data going back 20 years to get

meaningful averages. We try to aim for a 1.1 loss ratio, or we need
to under the Reconciliation Act, based on an average over several

years. That is the only way we can make the program work for

that very reason.
Senator Lugar. In the legislation, however, FCIC has an open

line to the Treasury in the event that it didn't work out that way;
in other words, there is an overwhelming situation.

Mr. ACKERMAN. If you have a year like 1993 with a very high
loss ratio, yes, the indemnities are considered mandatory spending.
The point I would make, though, is that we are also at the same
time under a statutory mandate under the reconciliation bill to

have a 1.1 average loss ratio. So if we have a
very big loss in 1

year, we have to design our program so that the losses in other

years will be less, so that over time we would have a 1.1 loss ratio.

Senator Lugar. So that if you had a spike of $5 billion more in

a particular year, which adds $5 billion to the overall deficit in that

year, then the next year you have to begin reconstructing so that

premiums then rise for the next 10 years. How do you space out
the incidence of that spike of loss?

Mr. AcKERMAN. Well, for instance, 1993 was a very large loss. It

does go into our rating formulas. Our rating formulas use 20 years
of data in order to factor it in. We are also taking a number of

other steps to get our loss ratio down generally. The nonstandard
classification system is one. The tighter rules on actual production
history is anotner.

Senator Lugar. I raise these questions because it appears to me
that we are opening up an entitlement program of some signifi-
cance. Now, you make the point correctly that even if you have an
unlimited entitlement and a drain on the Treasury, you try to re-

capture this over several more years
of the program through in-

creased premiums. However, at the same time, for the moment, we
don't have the problem and the Congress could decide on no disas-

ter program at all, and we know the limits, at least, of the sub-
sidies for the Crop Insurance situation.

Mr. AcKERMAN. I would respond this way. There are two re-

sponses. One is that currently crop insurance indemnities are man-
datory spending today. This year, we did go up to $1.6 billion in

our payments. Also, this year there was a disaster program, bring-

ing the total to close to $4 billion if you combine disaster with crop
insurance.
Senator Lugar. Between the two programs, $4 billion?

Mr. ACKERMAN. Close to that, yes.
Senator Lugar. And you are hoping now in this program to limit

it to what?
Mr. AcKERMAN. In our program, you would have—under this pro-

posal, you would have one program. You would be combining the

two together and you would have one program with one set of

rules.

Senator Lugar. But what budget impact?
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Mr. AcKERMAN. As to exactly what it would have been in 1993
under the new program, we have run some numbers on that. Gen-

erally, it depends on what you assume on the participation at the

higher levels. It could have been somewhat less if fewer people
bought the buy-ups. If a lot of people bought the buy-ups, it would
have been close to the cost this year.

Senator Lugar. Would it have been $4 billion?

Mr. AcKERMAN. I think the exact number—just to be precise,

crop insurance was about $1.65 billion and disaster aid is about

$2.1 billion for this year. There are ASCS people in the room who
will correct me if I am wrong—$2.3 on disaster aid and $1.65

Senator Lugar. But I was trying to say, if we had this program,
if we passed this law, what would it have been, the same?
Mr. ACKERMAN. Again, depending on how many people bought up

to higher levels of coverage, if this had happened in one of the

early years under the reform proposal, it would have been some-
what less. If it were in a year when a lot of people bought buy-up
coverage, it would have approached the current year.

Senator Lugar. In my opening statement, my analysis was that
bv 1997, this new program does cost more than the average, and
clearly by 1999. Is that your analysis, too?

Mr. AcKERMAN. Our projections show that by 1999, by the fifth

year out, it is about the same as the current program. It is a little

bit more. I would only say that these projections about what is

going to happen 5, 6, 7, or 8 years out in the future are very much
based on projections of what the participation rate will be, and par-
ticularly how many people are going to buy up to higher levels of

coverage. That is something we are making good-faith projections
on, but it is something we don't really know.
Senator Daschle. Can I just ask for clarification? Does that in-

clude net costs or gross costs? I would think with higher participa-
tion would come much higher premiums, which would discount the
overall cost of the program.
Mr. AcKERMAN. The numbers I was throwing out were simply

the total amount of payments. It is gross, not net.

Senator Daschle. So in answer to Senator Lugar's question,
what would the net be? Do you know, Ken?
Mr. AcKERMAN. Well, the comparison between the new program

and the current program would be—I would have to get you exact
numbers on that, but that comparison—the more people who buy
up to higher levels of coverage, then the more expensive the new
program is. If approximately tne same number of people buy higher
levels of coverage as today, then the new program would cost less

than the status quo.
Senator Lugar. Let me just pursue this specific year we are in.

As I understand it, even with the $1 billion of baseline adjustments
that has been in the budget we are about to vote on, CBO says
the administration's bill raise direct spending by $711 million in

budget authority and $362 million in outlays over 5 years. How do

you propose to change the draft bill that is in front of us to make
it budget-neutral?
Mr. AcKERMAN. Again, we would have to sit down with CBO and

see exactly what their assumptions are that underlie those esti-

mates.
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Senator Lugar. On the other hand, do you agree that you have
to make it budget-neutral by the time we have a markup of some
sort?

Mr. AcKERMAN. We agree we have to work with you on this. All

I can say is that these budget estimates are very much based on
the assumptions that you make on participation and on other fac-

tors, and what we would like to do is to sit down with vou and the
committee staff and with CBO and go through these budget esti-

mates to make sure that all of our numbers match up.
Senator Lugar. I think that would be very important. The Chair-

man has returned. I would suggest that probably prior to the

markup—I understand the timetable that you have and that is

common sense in regard to the wheat signup, but it seems to me
that all of us would be a great deal more comfortable if we have
some informal sessions of staff and/or Senators to begin to wrestle
with the money and with the assumptions that are here.

If we are having some difficulty
—and I am and that is why I am

asking these questions—Colleagues who are not versed in crop in-

surance on the floor may have even more if we are not able to

guide this. I am, I suppose, wrestling with the question of whether
we are creating something here wnich almost by its nature is

bound to be an entitlement that is substantially more expensive
and beyond budget control over the years.
For example, you postulate that 80 percent of farmers are likely

to sign up because 80 percent participate, and that may be true.

I was interested in that figure because it has been declining in com
for a while. Maybe it will come up, given the need, but that is an
interesting set of circumstances. As farmers become larger, for ex-

ample, and have larger farms, many are going independently of the
Federal Signup Programs.
Now, is your suggestion that because of the Crop Insurance they

may come back into the programs, or the other way? I am not cer-

tain whether we are going to get to 80 percent or not, or maybe
crop insurance gets you to that point. Now, if you do go back and
you are a large farmer, maybe the large farmer would say, okay,
I do want to do into this seriously; you have got a subsidized Fed-
eral program and therefore I am going to buy a lot more crop insur-

ance, I am going to go beyond 50 percent or 65, or what have you.
Now, under those circumstances, you point out these larger farm-

ers come in, they cover themselves more, and the possibilities then

actuarily are that the program is going to cost more in the process.
Now, most farmers haven t wrestled with this yet, but we are going
to have to make some assumptions as to how they will come out
because there is no stopper with this program if you have got to

make the outlays. It is an entitlement.
The budget people who may have wrestled pretty hard to get $1

billion a year for the next 5 years—and that has been a major item
in the conference—may be startled to find the implications of this.

Now, you may be able to explain all this to us and to them, but
I am just suggesting that we need to sort of wrestle with this be-
fore we come to a markup.
Mr. AcKERMAN. We would be very anxious to sit down and do

that. I would make one point.
Senator Kerrey. Can you do that before June 8?
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Mr. AcKERMAN. Certainly. We will make very effort to be here.

I understand that we may be meeting with the committee staff as

early as this Friday to start talking through some of these num-
bers.

Senator Lugar. I don't know whether other Members share any
of these questions and I don't mean to be just contrary about it,

but I think there are some very large sums involved over a long
period of time. Long after we have all passed beyond this situation,

somebody is going to have to wrestle with this program.
So, much the way we did the credit thing before—you know, we

had a number of sessions sort of going through that section, and
I think we did that one right. This, I think, has serious implica-
tions in ag policy and probably needs to be handled carefully.

Senator Kerrey. I certainly would agree with your concern. We
don't want to start either a mandatory program that is going to re-

sult in much larger budget exposure, nor do we want, it seems to

me, to lose sight of the connection between this issue and the effort

to link the requirement to purchase with participation in the farm

programs.
The idea here is to increase participation in crop insurance while

making it more
actuarily

sound than it is right now. I presume
that is what the proposal does, but I think what Senator Lugar is

asking for is a check of that presumption because if we launch into

something and that presumption turns out to be unsound, then we
are going to be standing here a couple of years from now with sub-

stantial budget exposure and a substantial amount of explaining to

do to Colleagues who trusted our capacity to do a proper analysis.
Senator Daschle. I am still curious as to how vou conclude that

greater participation means greater cost. It woula seem to me that

greater participation means higher premiums, more premiums,
compared to no premiums today with disaster payments, which
would mean therefore greater offsetting revenue for the increased

outlay in protection. Where is my logic failing me?
Mr. Ackerman. The greater cost that exists at these higher

levels has to do with the fact that the subsidy rates are linked to

premiums. If you get a higher level of coverage, the bill contains

targeted incentives for buy-ups. If you get a catastrophic level of

coverage, this 50/60 level, the Grovernment pays that premium at

50/60.
Senator Daschle. Yet, that is what it is doing today. I mean, dis-

aster payments are doing that.

Mr. Ackerman. Correct.
Senator Daschle. So that would be sort of a neutral balance.
Mr. Ackerman. That is correct. That would be balanced, but

if you get a higher level of coverage, a 75-percent yield or a 65-

percent yield, the proposal gives you a higher level of subsidy than
that catastrophic as a way to encourage you to buy a higher level

of coverage. Also, at the higher level there is an expense reimburse-
ment to the companies linked to the rate of premium, and that is

why as more farmers get higher levels of coverage the subsidy lev-

els go up.
Senator Daschle. Does that assume that you need it every year?
Mr. Ackerman. No. Actually, it is not dependent on whether

there is a claim every year. It is simply based on the amount of

92-780 0-95
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premium charged. The one effect of having more farmers in and
more farmers paving premium is that, over time, that could lower
the cost to the farmer because the more farmers in the program
and the more farmers participating, generally that would result in

a better loss history and that would result in better premiums to

farmers.
Senator Kerrey. One thing that is going to give us an oppor-

tunity to examine this closer is the hearing that I think Senator

Pryor is holding next Thursday. The insurance industry will be

there, commodity groups will be there, and so on. I think it is very
important for us to look, at that moment, at this thing from the

standpoint raised by Senator Lugar,
The thing that I fear is that you put in place something that

would end up basically creating incentives to do
precisely

what we
don't want to do, and that is to have producers basically farming
for the Crop Insurance Program.

Senator Conrad. To the Senator from Nebraska, have we found
a new order?

Senator Kerrey. Yes, it is a new world order.

Senator Conrad. I see.

The Chairman. In the current world order. Senator Conrad.
Senator Conrad. I like the old world order.

Mr. Ackerman, there is a part of this that concerns me a great
deal and I want to make sure it doesn't escape the attention of my
colleagues, and that is my understanding is with the Appropria-
tions Act for fiscal 1995, under that provision, in counties with loss

ratios of greater than 1.1 in which for at least 70 percent of the

years in which crop insurance was offered individual farmers who
are above that 1.1 will have their premiums or their coverage ad-

justed to meet 1.1. Is that correct?

Mr. Ackerman. Not exactly.
Senator Conrad. Say it in the way that you would to give a

proper characterization.
Mr. Ackerman. Under the Appropriations Act, certain counties

are identified as high-risk counties. If they have an average loss

ratio of greater than 1.1 more than 7 out of 10 years, then within
those counties a farmer with a disproportionate loss record—that
could be a loss ratio of 3 or 4; that trigger number varies some-
what. Those farmers with disproportionate loss records have their
rates adjusted to 1.1.

Senator Conrad. To what?
Mr. Ackerman. To the 1.1 level. Those particular farmers with

very high loss ratios, as you say, do, in fact, experience a very
sharp rate increase.
Senator Conrad. Well, I must say that is a real concern. I mean,

I represent a State that has had three of the worst disasters since
1988 in our history, and obviously those people are going to have
loss ratios above 1.1 percent, or at least some considerable number
of them are. Then if, all of a sudden, they are going to be expected
to go from whatever that loss ratio has been—let us say it is 2.5—
to 1.1, they are going to be mighty surprised about this new plan
that is to be an improvement, aren t they?
Mr. Ackerman. Well, it is in the statute. It is something that we

are required to carry out.
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Senator Conrad. I understand that. I am just talking about

where the rubber meets the road is out there when we are out

going from town to town at a community forum and somebody gets
a notification that their premium is being jacked up because they
have been the victim of a lot of disasters recently. Thev are going
to say to us, what are you guys doing down there; we have had a

series of natural disasters and now you guys have created a man-
made one down there in Washington.
Mr. AcKERMAN. If I may, this program is a complicated one and

there are two parts to it. There is the Appropriations Act language
which requires us to implement this program for high-risk coun-

ties, plus we have a broader program which covers major crops in

other counties. The adjustments are not as sharp.
The reason for this NSC system—the Nonstandard Classification

system—is that studies over the years have shown that a very,

very small percent of customers, of producers, have received a very

disproportionate share of claims under crop insurance. The goal of

this program was not simply to go to an area where there have
been high losses because of droughts or storms or whatever, but

within an area to look for those farmers who have had very high
loss ratios compared to all of their neighbors.

Senator Co^fRAD. Yes, but, Mr. Ackerman, if you are a farmer
who has had a disproportionate share of natural disasters, you
would expect that you would have a disproportionate loss ratio. I

mean, the idea of insurance of any kind is to cover you against a

disaster and if you have, through no fault of your own, been the

victim of a series of disasters and then you go to them and say,

well, because you have had a disproportionate share of natural dis-

asters you are going to get hit on your insurance rates—I just say
to you if I were the recipient of that kind of government policy, I

wouldn't be very happy.
What kind of premium increases could they expect to get as a

percentage?
Mr. Ackerman. In some of these cases, they have been very

sharp increases—50 percent, sometimes more—^very sharp in-

creases.

Senator Conrad. Could you get us those counties and the num-
ber of people affected?

Mr. Ackerman. Yes. I can get you a list very specifically of how
many farmers in specific counties. We can do that.

Senator Conrad. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you.
Senator Grassley?
Senator Grassley. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

My first question deals with something that Senator Lugar al-

luded to in his opening statement, and I think I want to character-

ize my question this way: If we have a problem selling this con-

cept—and I suppose the more it gets to a point of our making a

decision, the more we will have to defend it. I would like to be able

to put as much in real world terms, the way the farmers would be

asking about it, and how it might impact on them.

So, along that line, I was wondering if you have given any
thought to if, whether or not, this program had been in effect, for

instance, in the 1988 Drought or the 1993 Flood—and I suppose.



32

I think, particularly of the 1993 Flood because it is so gigantic and
it is so near term, at least—how the farmer would have oenefitted
if this had been in place versus what we had in place, and what
the costs would be to the Government as a result of that. Have you
given that any thought?
Mr. AcKERMAN. Well, let me walk you through a couple of

scenarios. For one thing, if you had a situation like the 1993 Flood,
farmers would have known at the beginning of the year that, in

fact, there would be protection. They would not have had to wait
to see that there would be a flood affecting 9 or 10 major States,

plus a drought in the Southeast, to know that Congress would, in

fact, pass a disaster bill and that the Senate would, in fact, be suc-

cessful in raising the level from 50 percent to 100 percent. They
would have known at the beginning what their coverage was with-
out having to wait through that process.

Second, the exact comparison of how much they would have re-

ceived, one program versus the other
Senator Grassley. This is the pocketbook issue that I am most

concerned about.
Mr. AcKERMAN. 1993 was a particularly generous disaster bill. It

was fiilly funded, as compared to 1991 and 1992. Generally, what
you would get under the 50/60 Crop Insurance Program for most
farmers is close to what you would have gotten under the 1993 ver-

sion, although with some variation.

The Disaster Programs are based on program yields. The Crop
Insurance is based on individual yields. So those farmers who have
the best individual yields would do the best under the Crop Insur-
ance alternative. We have provided some very specific comparisons
for corn, for wheat, and for soybeans on exactly how they stack up.
In virtually every case, a producer does significantly better under
50/60 than they would have done under the 1992 Disaster bill.

Generally, they come pretty close to how they did in 1993, though
with some variation. There are some crops wnich fall closer to the
middle between the two. As I said, there is this variation based on
individual yield.
The second scenario would be for a farmer who currently had

crop insurance and who was getting crop insurance plus a disaster

payment at the same time. For them, there would only be one pro-

gram. They would only get the Crop Insurance payment. However,
they could get higher levels of crop insurance and enjoy these tar-

geted incentives for buy-ups that we were discussing a minute ago,
if they choose.

There will probably, we expect, be private sector products that
will come into being to replace the missing disaster element of it.

We expect they will be able to take that savings and leverage it

into either a so-called double bottom or disappearing deductible or

similar type of product to make up that difference.

Senator Grassley. I think that rather than the specific answers

you have given me, I think the most important thing is you are

telling me that you have compared these the way I asked you and
that you do have very indepth information for us to look at.

Mr. AcKERMAN. Yes.

Senator Grassley. OK My second point would be in regard to

the mandatory aspects of it. I suppose that I am somewhat sympa-
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thetic to the mandatory aspects of it as a practical matter, not

philosophically. On the other hand, I was wondering if you have

given any thought and research to the fact that if it were voluntary
and farmers were looking at how it would benefit them and the

protection they would have, and so forth, you might not be able to

sell it on its merits rather than being a condition for participation
in the program, and would you have more or less participation?
Mr, ACKERMAN. I think I would answer this way: If we did not

have the mandatory linkage, I think, yes, the program sells itself

to a great extent. However, the fact that we have had ad hoc disas-

ter payments for 8 out of the last 8 years would result in very little

confidence, or I think there would be a problem convincing farmers
that they need to get insurance because there will not be an ad hoc

payment.
If you do not have the mandatory provision, our feeling is that

you would not have sufficient participation to prevent very serious

pressures for an ad hoc disaster bill in the future and many farm-
ers would be left out.

Senator Grassley. Part of my reason for asking the question is

related to the fact that over a long period of time—and I have
served in the Senate more under Republican Presidents than under
Democrat Presidents, but even under a Republican President I felt

somewhere in the bureaucracy there within USDA there was a feel-

ing that we ought to—or maybe it would as much from interest

groups on the outside that over a long period of time have had
some sympathetic ears within the bureaucracy—that we ought to

be mandatory in this approach.
I guess I want to caution you that you don't fall victim to that

needlessly and make something mandatory to be successful in their

way of thinking that maybe you don't have to. It is more a caution
than anything else, but I would ask you to reflect on that, not for

right now.

My last question deals with something you haven't dealt with in

this bill, and it is in those States where they don't have—you
know, like we are a corn-soybean State. I suppose 99 percent of our
income is from corn and soybeans and the animal livestock that

goes with it. So you have a few people that are trying to diversify
or you have a few people that have been very specialized over a

long period of time and they can't get coverage. They would get the
Disaster Program as they did in the old way, but can't they be in-

cluded in your program? Why can't they be included? They aren't

included.
Mr. AcKERMAN. If you are referring to the
Senator Grassley. You know, the orchard or the potato type peo-

ple, the vegetable people.
Mr. AcKERMAN. Senator, right now crop insurance covers about

50-odd different crops. In the testimony, we have included a long
list of all of them. There are about a dozen or two dozen additional

crops that we are thinking to add in over the next couple of years.
Senator Grassley. But, see, it might not include those people in

my State, right?
Mr. AcKERMAN. That is correct. There are many, many crops that

this does not include. We understand that that is a problem.
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Senator Grassley. It might include them in some State, but not
in another State, right? Isn't it such that apples in Washington
would be covered, but not apples in Iowa covered?
Mr. AcKERMAN. I believe that is right. There are situations

where crops are covered in some counties or some areas and not
in others.

Senator Grassley. Yes, that is right.
Mr. AcKERMAN. We have been looking to expand the program in

a number of areas, both into new crops and into new counties. Gen-

erally, the caution that we have—the reason that it takes us time
to do it is because of the requirement for actuarial soundness. We
had some bad experiences in the mid-1980's and we expanded it.

We had some embarrassing situations where we took on risks that
we should not have taken on, and that is why we are trying to be

very careful how do we expand, but we are trying to expand.
Senator Grassley. Obviously, you can't do it between now and

the time we pass this legislation, but isn't there some sort of assur-
ance we can get that you are going to solve these problems of mak-
ing sure what the responsibilities of the Government would be
under certain disasters so that you can work out the tables, or are

you saying it is going to be impossible?
If you have got one apple grower in O'Brien County, Iowa, and

it is the only one in that county—there might only be 10 in Iowa—
he can't be covered. Is that basically it? It seems to me like we
ought to be able to work that out.

Mr. AcKERMAN. No. Actually, this is something that we are ac-

tively working on because this situation has come up in a number
of different areas in a number of different States where there has
been a press to expand into new county programs. We are looking
at a number of different options, such as using written agreements
for individuals farmers, basing their rates on adjoining counties,

things like that. The main caution that we have, again, is the actu-
arial concern, but this is something we are trying to work through.
Senator Grassley. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you very much. Senator Grassley.
Senator Kerrey?
Senator Kerrey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Incidentally, if I could just add one thing to what

Senator Conrad was saying earlier on the costs going up. That is,

some of this is going to be—well, all of it will be eventually related
to actuarial tables. To use an example, if people plant continuously
in a flood plain, then their costs are going to be higher than some-

body who plants on high ground. If somebody plants a crop in one
area where another one might have been more appropriate, their
costs are going to be changed, and I think that whatever we do has
to reflect that.

I don't think that a farmer who, for example, avoids flood plains
or balances crops appropriately should be penalized for that, and
I don't think that the Senator from North Dakota is suggesting
that somebody should plant for the program and not for the mar-
ket.

Senator Conrad. Mr. Chairman, if I might just respond and say,

obviously, if we have got an egregious example where somebody is

farming the Crop Insurance Program, then we will go get them.
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The Chairman. Well, we had an example of that a couple of

weeks ago.
Senator Conrad. Absolutely, and we know those, but I don't

think we also want a situation in which somebody who has been
the victim of a series of natural disasters that seem to have come
one upon the other ought to have the whole notion of risk-sharing
taken away from them either.

The Chairman. The Ranking Member has pointed out that since

I became Chairman of this committee, we seem to have had more
disasters.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman. I don't know whether this is a coincidence or not.

I told him when I became a prosecutor, the county I became pros-
ecutor of hadn't had a murder in 20 years. They had a bunch of

doubtful suicides, but they hadn't had a murder in 20 years.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman. I became prosecutor and inside of 3 or 4 months,
we had half a dozen or more murders and it created some question.

[Laughter.]

Senator Conrad. IMaybe this is a whole career pattern, Mr.
Chairman.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman. Senator Kerrey?
Senator Kerrey. I would like to talk about the dual delivery rec-

ommendation. You are recommending that dual delivery occur as

a consequence of understandable concern that there may not be

private sector insurance agents available in certain parts of the

country, and thus we need to have the ASCS prepared to do that.

My concern is that in directing it in the legislation, you
will have

to have every ASCS office, as a consequence, make tne effort and

acquire the expertise to do far more than just be able to make rec-

ommendations about catastrophic coverage. My question, Mr. Ack-

erman, is whether or not you are open to a change in this legisla-

tion that would merely give the FCIC manager the authority to

provide assistance to ASCS offices in those areas where there is a

shortage rather than requiring every ASCS office nationwide to get
this expertise.
Mr. AcKERMAN. Well, let me start with this. As far as a change

in the legislation, I am not in a position to talk about changes in

the legislation today, but we are obviously interested to look at any
ideas.

We felt that the dual delivery system was necessary because of

a simple workload effect. Under this proposal, with mandatory
linkage, we may have as many as a million or more new policies

coming into this system in the first year. That is a very big capac-

ity question. We felt that we could not avoid to have sign-up dis-

ruptions in the first year because of the importance to get this pro-

gram off to a clean start.

As you mentioned, there are many areas in the country where
there are a lot of agents, but there are many other areas where the

number of agents is far less—many areas of the country. There are
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a number of States in the upper Midwest, for instance, where you
have 2,000 or more agents. There are other States where you have
a dozen or less. There are many States where you have 200 or 300.

There is an extreme variance regionally and State by State, in

some cases even county by county.
We have had a number of discussions with ASCS on this particu-

lar point. I have met with Mr. Buntrock of ASCS. Our respective

agency staffs have met to discuss what is involved in setting up
this dual delivery system. Obviously, there are some logistical chal-

lenges involved. It is something we are going to have to work
through, but we have felt that we needed to have at least a backup.
We felt we needed to have this kind of system in place to create

the most convenient possible delivery system for farmers, particu-

larly given the mandatory linkage.
Senator Kerrey. Well, essentially, you are saying that it is the

mandatory linkage that creates the requirement for dual delivery?
Mr. ACKERMAN. Yes, because that is

Senator Kerrey. So that if we were able to persuade you that
there is a better approach than mandatory linkage—let us say we
decided to go with a waiver of right of disaster payment if someone
did not want to purchase crop insurance. Then there would not be
the necessity at all of a dual delivery system?
Mr. AcKERMAN. I think we would still have a concern about it

simply because we want to have high participation in this program.
We hope to encourage high participation in this program all over
the country.
Senator Kerrey. Well, I just say, with respect, that this thing is

supposed to be a tool used by producers to assess risk, not a tool

used by the Government to carry out some administrative mission.
I say with great respect that I would be concerned about a blanket

requirement that every ASCS office had to offer catastrophic cov-

erage. They are going to have to acquire much more capacity and
expertise than that which is necessary simply to provide cata-

strophic coverage, if we want to encourage producers to purchase
buy-up coverage.
You know, we are going to invest a lot of money and a lot of time

in many areas of the country where this expertise already exists,
and I would just say with great respect that if the dual delivery

system is, as you have indicated, connected in any way to the re-

quirement of linkage, then I think it would push me even stronger
to consider moving to a waiver requirement for catastrophic cov-

erage as opposed to requiring crop insurance purchase if one was
going to be a participant in either a Farmer's Home or the farm

program.
Mr. Ackerman. I would only say that with or without linkage,

the goal of this program is to dramatically increase participation in

crop insurance because that, we feel, is the only way to justify the

ending of ad hoc disaster programs.
Senator Kerrey. Well, I think the goal of increased sign-up in

crop insurance is admirable, but it should occur as a consequence
of the producer assessing the risk and making the judgment that

this was preferable to not having any coverage at all. We then need
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to make sure that we put in the law provisions that give us cer-

tainty that not only is this not going to become a spending program
that is unlimited and that has no checks on it at all, or that we
find ourselves with substantial amounts of egg on our face a couple
of years from now. It seems to me that we have also got to set in

the law assurances to taxpayers and colleagues that if we are going
to allocate $5 billion in this fashion that we are not going to have
a disaster program.

I am not, Mr. Ackerman, persuaded that the linkage gets that

done. Just merely increasing the percentage of people signed up, I

don't think necessarily gives us that kind of assurance. I have seri-

ous problems with this dual delivery system. It is obvious that I

do. I think just on the face of it you are going to require an invest-

ment in time and training that is unnecessary in many parts of the

country and create additional administrative costs that we don't

need to have.

Second, I think particularly if you connect it to the linkage
issue—our effort here should be, with this law, to give producers

something that they can bank on, give the producers something
that they can use to assess the possibility of disaster. It ought not

be a program that they then farm instead of the farm program. It

ought to be something that we can, straight-faced, say to every tax-

payer that doesn't live in an area where there is agriculture that

this is vastly preferable to this status quo. I want to be able to do

that when we pass this bill this year.
Senator Heflin. I might say there are differences of opinion on

that at times.

Senator Kerrey. Gk)od.

Mr. Ackerman. I would only say that we tried to design this pro-

gram with the idea of increasing participation as much as possible
in order to make future disaster programs imnecessary. To do that,

we felt it was
Senator Kerrey. Let me follow on what the Senator from Ala-

bama said because I am not suggesting that we not provide the op-

portunity for ASCS offices in Alabama to be a source of information

in processing crop insurance. I am merely saying that in States like

Nebraska where we have substantial private sector development
already, it doesn't make sense for us to ask the ASCS office to par-

ticipate in a dual delivery system when I have already got the ex-

pertise there.

It doesn't, it seems to me, make sense for us to take this ap-

proach if there is an alternative mechanism that allows States like

Alabama that may need the ASCS office to deliver the product—
if there is another approach that would allow that to occur.

Mr. Ackerman. Senator Kerrey, I would simply point out that

under our proposal farmers in Nebraska would have the choice.

They could go either to a private agent or to an ASCS office.

Senator Kerrey. Yes, but ASCS offices will not have the choice.

They will have to acquire the expertise. If there is one farmer that

walks in there with a law saying that the ASCS will process your
insurance, every ASCS office will have to have the training to un-

derstand the Crop Insurance Program, will they not?
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Mr. AcKERMAN. They would have to have someone there, yes,
who understands the Crop Insurance Program.
Senator Kerrey. Yes, so whether there was 1 farmer or 1,000

farmers walking in that office, that office will have to have the ex-

pertise to be able to answer the question that a private sector in-

surance agent sitting out there with the expertise can answer, yes
or no?
Mr. AcKERMAN. Yes.
Senator Kerrey. Well, that seems to me to be an extremely inef-

ficient way to operate this program.
Mr. Smith. Senator Kerrey, I would also make the observation

that the reverse is true, too, in terms of a farmer wanting to par-

ticipate in the commodity program but the service is not available
in a particular area to enroll. Our effort here is to make available

to the producer the option of obtaining the catastrophic insurance
either through the ASCS or FSA structure, as we are going to our

reorganization.
But the private sector will have the opportunity to offer the cata-

strophic and the buy-up insurance in many cases prior to that pro-
ducer ending up at the county ASCS office as an alternative be-

cause, generally, they are involved in acquiring their insurance

way before they come in to sign up for the ASCS commodity pro-

grams.
Mr. AcKERMAN. I would only make one other point, Senator. I

think your basic point is right that the resource need is—there is

a lot of regional variation in the resource need for dual delivery.

Obviously, in the State of Nebraska where you have a very large
number of private agents, we would expect under our proposal that
the bulk of farmers who get catastrophic coverage will buy it

through private agents. In other parts of the country, that is prob-

ably not the case, but we feel that we have enough flexibility to

work with ASCS to make this available in different parts of the

country.
Senator Kerrey. I don't think the bill provides you with any

flexibility at all.

Mr. AcKERMAN. We have to provide the expertise in all of the of-

fices, but as far as the level of resources and how we manage that
and how we put different resources in different offices, the amount
of resources—on that, we have a good deal of management flexibil-

ity.

The Chairman. Senator Daschle?
Senator Daschle. Let me go back to a comment I made in my

opening remarks and ask you, Mr. Ackerman, whether you have
looked at the possibility of providing dollar coverage. One of the
concerns that I have besides the inadequacy of the program is the

complexity of it. A lot of our farmers have complained frequently
about how complicated the calculation is for eligibility and for pre-

miums, and have suggested to me that simply having the ability
to buy a dollar amount of coverage would be a very simple way to

address this. Have you looked at it?

Mr. Ackerman. Yes, Senator, we have looked specifically at this.

I will tell you, in my meetings with farmers around the country,
I have heard that very same complaint. I have heard it phrased a
lot of different ways, but it comes down to the same thing. Farmers
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want a more simple program. A lot of comparisons are made to the

crop hail insurance system where you can buy dollar coverage.
Senator Heflin mentioned cost of production coverage and com-

pared it to your proposal for dollar coverage. I think there is a lot

to that as well. In many cases, farmers know what their cost of

production is. They know that dollar figure and would like to be

able to simply insure that dollar figure.
We have had a number of discussions with the Economic Re-

search Service and we have talked to some of the producer organi-
zations. We are looking at this. We would like to be able to put to-

gether at least some kind of pilot program to test out this idea be-

cause I think there is very much a demand for it.

Senator Daschle. Well, I would hope we might be able to go be-

yond the pilot project, but in any case I am pleased to hear that

you are open to the idea.

Second, there has been a lot of confusion this spring about pre-
ventive planting. We thought that we had clarified that after last

year's problem in not allowing prevented planting coverage, at

least to the degree we wanted. We thought that that was going to

be the case. Farmers were then told that, no, they weren't going
to be eligible for certain kinds of prevented planting coverage, and
now it appears that that decision may be reversed.

Could you clarify what the Department's position is on prevented
planting coverage right now?
Mr, ACKERMAN. Senator, I regret the confusion that did occur.

The preventive planting issue was complicated by basically weath-
er events that occurred late in the year. Basically, preventive

planting does apply on all of the major crops. The question that
came up was if you have land which is still underwater from the

winter or from last summer's floods, whether it would qualify for

preventive planting.

Basically, the line we drew was that if land is now basically per-

manently underwater because of recent weather events and it has
not been damaged by an insurable cause of loss—if, however, your
land is still wet from snow last winter but normally would dry out
between now and the end of the planting season, then it is covered,
so that if rain occurs which prevents the land from drying out, it

would be covered.

Senator Daschle. In other words, the definition of "permanent"
is 1 year; that is, if it is wet for the entire duration of the crop

year, it would be considered a permanent wetland and therefore

not eligible for coverage?
Mr. AcKERMAN. The legal requirement that we have to work with

is that a farmer be prevented from planting by insurable cause
that occurs within the insurable period. If land is wet, but that
land would normally dry out, then that land is coverable.

Senator Daschle. So if it would normally dry out, even though
it may not dry out this year, it would be coverable?
Mr. AcKERMAN. It would be coverable. If it does not dry out this

year because what normally would be an average amount of rain

this year becomes an excessive amount of rain simply because the

land started out too wet, that land would be coverable.



40

Senator Daschle. We have a lot of areas in South Dakota that
fit that murky status of maybe being wet for the entire duration
of this year or last year, in particular, but normally would be dry.
So there is a lot of confusion, and I can't emphasize enough how
important it is that we clarify and continue to clarify. One clarifica-

tion in some cases isn't enough, and I would urge you to keep talk-

ing about it so as to bring people to a better level of understanding.
Finally, let me ask you about catastrophic yield floors. I know

they have been calculated, and I think there is some concern about
how you have calculated them and how applicable they are across
the board, a little bit along the lines of what Senator Conrad was
talking about.
How did you calculate the catastrophic yield floors?

Mr. AcKERMAN. We are still in the process of doing it and we
have not made a final decision on this yet. Basically, when we put
into place the 4- to 10-year APH system last year, following on the
reconciliation bill, we put in a 10-percent cap, which means that

your yield cannot fall more than 10 percent a year.
Originally, we felt that that would be a one-year provision and

that for permanent purposes we would put into effect a cata-

strophic year adjustment that would be part of the permanent APH
program. Recently, we have put out a proposal on how that would
work and the idea is that this would go into effect for the 1995
Crop Year. The 1994 Crop Year, the current year, is covered by
that 10-year cup.
We have gotten a fair amount of feedback on our proposal. We

understand it is controversial. There is some disagreement among
different groups about how it would affect them. We have not made
a final decision on it. We want to listen to everybody on this and
come up with something workable.
Senator Daschle. Well, as you do, I hope that you will stay in

very close consultation with many of us. I think we have some con-
cerns about the definition and the applicability of those floors, and
we would be interested in working with you on it. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you very much. Senator Daschle.
Senator Heflin?
Senator Heflin. In calculating the cost relative to this—and Sen-

ator Lugar raised CBO and others—in the costs that you have cal-

culated and worked with 0MB on, have you taken into account the

savings that usually occur when you have a widespread disaster in

the target price payments that occur?

Usually, when you have a disaster the price of the commodity
goes up, and therefore the gap between the target price and the
market price is much narrower, meaning therefore there is less

payment. It seems to me that as an actuarial calculation of cost for

the future and as we go along that there is a relationship between
those. Are those being calculated at the present time in the esti-

mates of cost?

Mr. AcKERMAN. Senator, the answer is this, and it may sound
like a strange answer, but in making its cost projection

—and 0MB
may correct me on this after this hearing—the assumption made
was that FCIC operates under a 1.1 loss ratio. We are required to
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do that by law, and so the cost projections for the Crop Insurance

Reform are based on our complying with a 1.1 loss ratio.

In coming up with the data on past years and the actual cost of

the Disaster Programs, the effect you are talking about was looked

at. I frankly don't know whether this was looked by CBO in their

cost estimate, but I think you are right. When we look at this pro-

gram and what the actual costs will be, it is something that we do

have to look at.

As I mentioned before, trying to come up with a meaningful cost

projection on a program like this going out 3, 4, 5 years into the

future, these assumptions that you make are very sensitive and

they can result in wide price swings in the projected costs or sav-

ings.
Senator KDeflin. Well, should there be some language in this bill

that relates and takes into account—I don't have any suggestions
of any language here, but just the concept that this be—if it is, as

Senator Lugar says, an entitlement program, there ought to be

some accuracy and there ought to be some interrelationship be-

tween cost savings that occur brought about by disasters into the

target price deficiency payments and the cost of the crop insurance.

I mean, it is something that ought to be looked at as to how they

might relate.

Now, another question is I am curious—I should have talked to

my staff about this, but I haven't.

[Laughter.]

The Chairman. Do you go on the realization that I have come to

that we are merely constitutional impediments to our staffs, or con-

stitutional necessities?

Senator Heflin. Constitutionally impractical, I think.

The Chairman. Yes.
Senator Heflin. The concept of making one small minimum pay-

ment for the catastrophic insurance, regardless of size of farm or

size of income or other things—that is, the concept that if a farmer
has got 50 acres, he pays the same price for catastrophic insurance
as a farmer that has got 1,000 acres—why isn't there some progres-

sivity involved in this as to the charge?
Mr. AcKERMAN. The reason that it is a flat fee is we wanted to

make it clear this is a processing fee, not a premium. The $50 is

basically the cost of processing the papers as opposed to insuring
the land.

Senator Heflin. What is the rationale behind that? Is it the con-

cept of giving them that amount of insurance and just the process-

ing that is doing it?

Mr. ACKERMAN. Essentially, what we are doing is, in a way, tak-

ing the Disaster Programs and now merging them into the Crop In-

surance Program. We are basically delivering these funds. What in

the past would have been a disaster payment, we are delivering

through a crop insurance system. By having the Cxovernment pay
the premiums for that 50/60 Coverage, it is like setting up a rainy

day fund for these types of catastrophes in the future. We did not

think it should be free. We felt that the farmers should bear the

burden of paying the processing cost and that is why we built in

the $50 fee.
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Senator Heflin. Well, now, on the basis of buy-up coverage, the

figures that I have seen as to savings as to the present crop insur-
ance is somewhere in the neighborhood of 8 to 17 percent, I believe,
or somewhere like that. If there were some situation relative to the
basic coverage payments, could not there be substantially more
savings on the buy-up coverage premium?

I am just exploring it. I am not suggesting doing it, but the con-

cept that I am thinking about is if there were a payment for the

catastrophic which was substantially more, but yet substantially
less than what normal crop insurance was, could it therefore in the

buy-up insurance reduce the premium that the farmer might pay
and the overall situation might be better? I just raise that as a
basic concept that we are looking at as to whether or not the farm-
er in the long run would be better off under one option as opposed
to another option. Of course, you would have to have some sce-

narios, cost situations, money figures, in order to determine it.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Well, conceptually, if you either have farmers
contribute more to the catastrophic level or if you lower the cata-

strophic level or change the catastrophic level, that could provide
more funding for the higher level of coverage. However, we wanted
to keep the catastrophic level available for a nominal cost in order
to make it very, very accessible. This will be what exists instead
of disaster payments. We wanted to make sure that it is as easy
and accessible to as many farmers as possible. If you starting rais-

ing the price of catastrophic coverage, then you are making it less

accessible. That is the balance that is involved. We agree with the

concept. The more farmers who buy higher level coverage, the more
financially sound the system will be.

Senator Heflin. Well, it may be somewhere in between that
some consideration—I am just speaking conceptually. I don't have
any figures. I hadn't really thought about it until just sitting down
here in regard to it, but maybe some thought ought to be given to

it.

My State is a State that has a small percentage of coverage. I

don't know what it is right now, but it used to be around 20 per-
cent or something like that. To get them to go to much more and
to get away from it, there needs to be considerable savings in the

premium. I think if there are considerable savings in the premium,
you would have people buying it, but there is going to be some re-

sistance. There is only 10-percent savings and that sort of thing,
but if you get up in the neighborhood of 20-, 25-percent savings,
then I think that there would be substantially more purchasing of

it. I mean, it is just a concept. I don't want to shake the boat or

rattle the thing too much, but I think it is one it would be well to

give some consideration to.

Mr. AcKERMAN. Senator, let me make two points on that because
this is a very important issue and it is something that I have heard
a lot in meeting with farmers, particularly in a number of parts of

the South and other parts of the country.
There is a concern that premiums are too high and that even the

8 or 10 or 15 percent discounts you would get under the incentives
for buy-ups may not be enough. Part of the challenge that we had
to work with in designing this bill is that we had a limited pot of

money. Even assuming that we might be able to get a $1 billion
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baseline adjustment, we had a limited pot of money to work with.

If you take from any one pool, you have to give to another pool.
Someone loses, someone gains. It all has to work within a limited

amount of money.
One thing to think about, though, is that part of the reason that

rates are high in some areas is because participation has been low
in those areas. There are some parts of the country where the peo-

ple in crop insurance have generally been high-risk farmers, and
that has affected the rate base. That has affected the loss history
that is used to calculate rates.

As you go to catastrophic coverage with a mandatory linkage
that requires a very broad base of producers to get into the pro-

gram, including producers who have very good risk histories, very
limited experience with loss, that, over time, is going to improve
the loss history of those counties and will improve rates, that fact

in itself. That is not a total answer to the concern, but it is one

way to get at it indirectly.
Senator Heflin. Well, that may be true, but I don't see a big per-

centage of savings from that.

The Chairman. Senator Feingold?
Senator Feingold. Thank

you,
Mr. Chairman. The hour is quite

late, so I will just say a couple of things. I would ask that a longer
statement and some questions be submitted for the record.

The Chairman. So ordered.
Senator Feingold. I appreciate the chance to follow Senator Hef-

lin because the first question I was going to ask, and I will
simply

comment on it, is about this fee, the flat fee, not reflecting the dif-

ference between the sizes of farms. I have heard your answer, but
I am a little concerned about the notion of the rainy day fund that

you mentioned. We will pursue that another time, but I am won-

dering if there should be some difference in this fee based on the
size of the farm.
Mr. Chairman, the main point I want to make is I think reform

is very badly needed, at least as far as Wisconsin is concerned. We
suffered 2 million acres of losses as a result of flooding, but very
few of those acres were insured. I think our State is either the low-
est or one of the lowest in terms of purchasing of the insurance.
One figure I have heard is 11 percent, and so very few of those
acres were insured and I don't think that is an indictment of Wis-
consin farmers, but an indication of problems with the program
and that it needs reform.
The current program cannot meet some unique needs of Wiscon-

sin farmers, and the ad hoc disaster assistance has created some
problems of its own for farmers, as you well know.

Let me just make four very quick points about possible concerns
I have in the context of wanting very much to see some reform
occur. As I have mentioned, in Wisconsin we have a unique situa-

tion. We grow insurable crops such as alfalfa, hay and feed grains
for use on farms, but I want to be sure that any crop insurance re-

form doesn't discriminate against our producers who are less likely
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to have documented their on-farm use of feed. That is something
that can be very problematic for the type of industry and agri-
culture we have in our State.

Second, of course, we do have a lot of dairy in Wisconsin, but we
have a fair amount of diversity in our agriculture, from straw-
berries to ginseng. As I understand it, this diversity is another rea-
son that crop insurance has been a little less attractive for Wiscon-
sin farmers, and I am hoping that this proposal addresses that

problem for noninsured specialty crops.
Third—and Senator Kerrey was alluding to this—^yet, I think in

another context—is to make sure that as we do this we don't undo
the good work that this Chairman and the Department have done
to eliminate some duplication within our current system. I would
be very concerned that we don't go backwards in doing this in

terms of creating a system that is duplicative.

Finally, it is very important to me, as it is to the other Members
of the committee, that the terms of crop insurance policies are fair

to all farmers, regardless of size or type of operation, and that sort
of comes back to my first comment.

I would only ask one question at this time, Mr. Chairman. The
proposal in its current structure mandates participation for farm-
ers participating in USDA programs or receiving an FmHA loan.
Will the mandate also apply to farmers receiving indirect benefits,
such as indirect market price supports and that type of thing?
Mr. AcKERMAN. The legislation contains a list of the specific stat-

utes and specific programs that are affected. Generally, they are

programs with direct pajonents to farmers. They cover some con-
servation programs, as well as direct commodity programs, but
generally they are programs with direct payments.

Senator Feingold. Then that leads to my followup, which is it

sounds like a number of farmers, of course, would not be required
to purchase under that scenario if they are only beneficiaries of an
indirect benefit. How are they going to know, if this works out the

way it should, that ad hoc disaster assistance simply shouldn't be
available anymore? What are your plans to market this rather im-

portant fact and make sure that farmers understand it?

Mr. AcKERMAN. Part of the reason that we are saying that to get
this program up and running for crop year 1995 we need to have
a decision by early July is because it is going to be important to

undertake a major public education effort along with this program.
We are going to have to get the word out to farmers not only of

nonprogram crops, not only farmers who receive indirect benefits,
but all farmers that, in fact, this new program exists, that it is

going to be important for each producer to assess their own needs
in light of it; for those who are not in the programs, to rethink pur-
chasing crop insurance, whether or not they are affected by a man-
date; for those crops that are simply outside of the programs,
whether they should reassess their needs. But, generally, the direct
answer is we are going to have to undertake a very significant pub-
lic education program in time to get this bill off smoothly.
Senator Feingold. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you.
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Gentlemen, thank you very much. We have had a good start to

what is going to be, I have a feeHng, a lot more discussion in this
area. I thank you both for your help.
Mr. Smith. Thank you very much.
Mr. ACKERMAN. Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you. We stand adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 12:20 p.m., the committee was adjourned.]





APPENDIX

Deputy Under Secretary Dallas R. Smith
and Kenneth D. Ackerman

We want to thank the committee for holding this hearing today on the adminis-
tration's proposed "Federal Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994," which was, as of

yesterday, introduced by Senator Leahy and a number of cosponsors. We, and par-
ticularly Secretary Espy, greatly appreciate your attention to the administration's

goal of reforming Federal crop insurance ana we look forward to working with all

committee Members in developing a plan that will work well for American farmers
and taxpayers.
As much as any program in Washington, Federal crop insurance has long needed

change. The discontent with this program from farmers, taxpayers, insurance in-

dustry, Congress, the President, and others, has focused on longstanding, well-
documented problems:

• Despite an annual crop insurance price tag approaching $900 million,

Washington has had to step in with crop disaster relief payments to

farmers in 8 of the last 8 years. Standing alone, crop insurance, with a
nationwide participation rate of just 33 percent in 1993, simply has not

Rrovided
an adequate safety net. These on-budget crop disaster programs

ave cost taxpayers an average $1 billion per year over the last decade,
and more than $1.5 billion per year over the last 6 years. This conflict

between crop insurance and crop disaster programs must end.

• Crop insurance has chronically lost money. Since 1981, the Federal Crop
Insurance Corporation's (FCIC) insurance operations have produced an
overall "loss ratio" of about 1.47. That means that we have paid out
about $1.47 in claims for every $1.00 collected in premiums and premium
subsidies, not counting overhead costs. Any private business posting
these numbers would have gone bankrupt years ago. Taxpayers are tired
of picking up the tab. The program must be made more financially
sound.

• Farmers continue to complain that Federal crop insurance does not meet
their needs. The program must be made more farmer-friendly with new
products, more flexibility, and a good attitude toward Listening to cus-
tomers.

Last summer's disastrous Midwest flood and Southeast drought brought the prob-
lems of crop insurance into sharp focus for Americans across the country. Secretary

Espy and President Clinton travelled extensively in the flooded areas, and spoke di-

rectly with farmers about their problems and experiences in dealing with Federal
programs designed to assist them. Again, and again, they heard concerns. These
problems ranged from lack of coverage for prevented planting, to inflexible price
elections, to uncertainty about the availability and timeliness of help. On March 2,

Secretary Espy announced a massive reform program that grew directly from last

summer's experience.
In essence, we are recommending a 2-pronged program to fix Federal crop insur-

ance: (1) reform from the inside out—administrative steps to make the program

(47)
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more financially sound and farmer-friendly, and (2) reform from the outside in—the

new 'Tederal Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994."

Federal Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994

The Federal Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994 is the centerpiece of our reform

plan. This bill responds specifically to the central finding of our review following last

summer's experience. Ad hoc crop disaster bills over the years have been an effec-

tive act of government for people in crisis. These relief programs have helped mil-

lions of Americans, farmers and nonfarmers alike, survive the most difficult periods
in their lives. However, the reliance on this ad hoc relief that has developed as a
result of an underused crop insurance system, has created a level of uncertainty
that is bad for both farmers and taxpayers.

In fact, the repeated availability of ad hoc relief has been a disincentive for many
farmers to participate in the Federally-backed Crop Insurance Program.

In a crisis, a farmer without crop insurance, who depends on disaster relief, has
no way of knowing in advance what his or her protection will be. Farmers do not
know whether a disaster bill will be approved or, if approved, what payment level

the bill will provide. Further, a farmer sufiering a loss must hope that other farmers
across the State, and in 10 or 20 other States, are experiencing similar losses in

order to create the momentum for legislative action.

An examination of history reveals that victims of local disasters often get less

than those of wider disasters, even though the individual farmers may suffer similar

losses. For example, victims of 1992's Hurricane Andrew in Florida, received aid at

50.04 percent proration while victims of this summer's Midwest flood received aid

at 100 percent. Farmers with losses in States not involved in the large disasters

found that congressional decisions affecting their livelihoods were being oased upon
factors totally disconnected from their circumstances.
What will happen if natural disaster strikes again next year? Farmers trying to

plan their operations in a businesslike manner simply have no way to know.
Meanwhile, taxpayers are concerned that disaster aid is exempt from the budget

discipline that controls spending in virtually every other area of government. At a
time when deficit reduction is a paramount domestic priority, the price of these

emergency programs continues to rise. The public rightly questions the point of hav-

ing two expensive programs trying to address a single recurring problem—crop dis-

aster aid. Americans are generous in a crisis, but their patience nas limits.

The Federal Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994 resolves this situation by combin-

ing crop insurance and disaster aid into a single, unified, on-budget program. This

requires two steps. First, the legislation expands the Crop Insurance Program
to protect farmers, financially, when natural disasters ruin or damage their crops.

Second, it creates a legal barrier against future ad hoc crop disaster programs.
We view this proposal as being both a vital budget reform as well as a vital agri-

cultural reform.
The legislation is built upon several key pillars:

Catastrophic crop insurance coverage: The Federal Crop Insurance Program is

supplemented with a new catastrophic coverage level available to farmers of insured

crops for a nominal processing fee of $50 per crop per county, up to $100 per farmer

per county. The processing fee may be waived for limited resource farmers. The idea
is to make this coverage very economical and accessible.

Policies will cover prevented planting as well as actual crop losses, and will be
based on actual individual farm yields.

This catastrophic plan will protect against yield losses ^eater than 50 percent at

a payment rate of 60 percent of the expected market price
—a level comparable to

4 disaster relief programs in recent years. The difference is this: catastrophic cov-

erage is an individual insurance policy, not an ad hoc relief payment. It is a contract

that a farmer can take to the bank as collateral on a loan. Even if no other farmer
in the country suffers a loss, the farmer has the security of knowing that he or she
is covered.
Under this approach, in a future agricultural crisis, farmers will know in advance

the extent of their protection and taxpayers will know in advance the limits of their

exposure.

Buy-up coverage: Most producers desire higher levels of coverage than the cata-

strophic plan oflers to protect their farm businesses. The legislation provides tar-

geted subsidies for these higher insurance coverage levels. The out-of-pocket cost for

coverage at the 65- or 75-percent yield levels will fall by about 10 percent from cur-

rent levels. In addition, the bill gives FCIC the authority to offer policies covering
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85 percent of yield. The more farmers buy higher levels of coverage, the more fis-

cally sound the system will be.

Linkage to farm programs: To ensure the widest participation, eligibility to par-

ticipate in Federal commodity price support, production adjustment, conservation,
and Farmers Home Administration loan programs is linked to the Crop Insurance

Coverage at the catastrophic level or above. We expect that this step will result in

crop insurance participation rising from 33 percent to about 80 percent of insurable

acres.

The purpose of linkage is to guarantee that, if disaster strikes, the bulk of U.S.

farmers will be protected. We understand that farmers, Uke other Americans, do not

like being told what to do, this is human nature. But the linkage proposal is fair

and not onerous given the nominal cost of catastrophic coverage to farmers.

Delivery: Farmers may choose to obtain the catastrophic coverage either through
a private reinsured company or through a USDA county office. Higher insurance

coverage levels remain available only from private insurers. Our goal is to provide
the most convenient and efiicient means of quickly getting catastrophic crop insur-

ance coverage to the largest number of farmers. Private sector's insurance sales

force will have full opportunity to compete for the catastrophic market.

Industry competition: The legislation restructures premium rates to reflect both
direct premium subsidies and the expense reimbursement allowance to reinsured

companies. This provides a more realistic picture of the cost of the program both
to farmers and taxpayers. More efficient companies will be allowed to pass along
lowered overhead costs in reduced rates charged to farmers, creating a more com-

petitive market environment.

Uninsurable crops: A standing disaster program is created for crops not covered

by crop insurance, with payments triggered by area-wide loss levels and protection
levels similar to those under the Catastrophic Insurance Plan. This way, no one is

left out in the cold, the wet, or the dry.

Repeal of standing disaster assistance authority: Current authorities for standing
crop disaster relief are repealed. In the future, the expanded Crop Insurance Pro-

gram will replace disaster bills as the Federal response to emergencies involving
widespread crop loss.

As added protection, the legislation exempts appropriations for agricultural crop
disaster assistance from designation as an "emergency" for purposes of the Balanced

Budget and Emergency Deficit Control Act of 1985, as amended. This action essen-

tially places future crop disaster bills on budget. They must be paid by offsetting

spending cuts, rather than being allowed to proceed as
"emergency" spending.

Therefore, the primary vehicle for providing crop disaster assistance wiU be the Fed-
eral Crop Insurance FTX)gram, as its legislation originally intended.
We project that the new program created by the Federal Crop Insurance Reform

Act of 1994 will have a net cost of about $8.1 billion for fiscal years 1995 through
1999. The conference agreement to the Budget Resolution recognized the annual
cost of agricultural crop disaster assistance by placing it on budget at $4.5 bilUon
in outlays

over 5 years. By eliminating future ad hoc agricultural disaster pay-
ments, the Federal Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994 will result in a 5-year sav-

ings of about $750 million compared to the projected cost of maintaining the current
Federal Crop Insurance Program and the annual ad hoc disaster payments for agri-
cultural crops.
We woulcl like to implement this new program in cropyear 1995 so that its bene-

fits of certainty can be felt by farmers and taxpayers. Tnis timetable is ambitious,
and will require Congress to do its part. Combining Federal crop insurance and dis-

aster aid will be a complicated process involving training of personnel, rewriting of

rules, and educating customers. We must do it right.

Achieving Financial Soundness

Resolving the conflict between Federal crop insurance and disaster programs is

not enough. We must, at the same time, also make Federal crop insurance more fi-

nancially sound. The old way of doing business, where Federal crop insurance lost

excessive amounts of taxpayer money year after year, is simply no longer accept-
able. The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 (OBRA) requires FCIC to

achieve an overall projected loss ratio of 1.1 by the year beginning October 1995.

The Agriculture, Rural Development, Food and Drug Administration, and Related

Agencies Act of 1994 mandated additional cost-saving reforms. We are committed
to, at least, meeting this loss ratio goal and attaining actuarial soundness. American

taxpayers will accept nothing less.
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As part of the March 2 Reform Package, Secretary Espy released the FCIC's

"Blueprint for Financial Soundness" mandated by OBRA 1993. This document out-

lines the specific steps that FCIC will take to improve the program's financial

soundness and the savings we expect to result. Those steps incluae:

• A modified-APH (actual production history) program to better tie individual

farmer's insurance coverage to their individual yield history. We will modify
this program to permit a catastrophic yield adjustment beginning in crop year
1995;

• An expanded nonstandard classification system (NCS) to identify those farmers
with unusually high loss histories and adjust their rates to more sound levels;

• Greater emphasis on program compliance to prevent over payments based on
errors and abuses; and

• Greater risk-sharing with private insurance companies.

Finally, we wiU work to make Federal crop insurance more farmer-friendly by in-

troducing new products, more flexibility, and more responsiveness to complaints and
ideas from farmers, agents, companies, and all participants in this program. Just

recently, FCIC for the first time used the authority provided for in tne Food, Agri-
culture, Trade and Conservation Act of 1990 to back financially an innovative new
insurance product developed by the private sector. This process of partnership will

continue.
The challenge of reforming Federal crop insurance is complex and difficult, but

we believe our plan is a responsible one and will be responsive to the needs of Amer-
ican farmers and taxpayers. We hope that Congress will act expeditiously on the

legislation so that we may implement the new program for the 1995 Crop Year.

We will be pleased to answer any questions you may have.
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Federal Outlays for Crop Emergency Aid

1986-1994
Dollars in Millions

2,345

I
Crop
Insurance

I
Olsaslar

Payments

516

i^
<.'^

-

^-^

1985

Totals (506)

19S6

(516)

1994*

(3,384)

Crop Insurance, 6 Year Average (1989-94) 884-10 Year Average (1985-94) 719
Disaster Payments, 6 Year Average (1989-94) 1,575-10 Year Average (1985-94) 1,002

Crop Emergency Aid

Projected Taxpayer Savings
Dollars in Millions

Total
1995-99

Current Divided



52

.Participation Under the Reform Proposal
(with linkage)

1995 1996 1997

Crop year

Buy up coverage Basic coverage

Under the reform proposal, producers who participate in price support and
income support programs or who have loans under any program of the Farmers
Home Administration are required to obtain at least the catastrophic lerel of .

linsurance for all crops of economic significance fanned Ln the county in which
that producer has an interest. The linkage with commodity programs will ensure

that participation in the crop insurance program is 80 percent of eligible acreage
in 1995.

Requiring producers to obtain catastrophic crop insurance for progmm crops only

would potentially lower the crop insurance participation rate as significant crops

(e.g., soybeans) would be largely unaffected. Participation rates would likely be

only as high as 65-70 percent of eligible acreage.

K crop insurance is not linked to commodity program eligibility it is likely

that crop insurance participation will be only 55-60 percent of eligible

acreage, at least in the early years of program operation. Lower

participation rates could encourage ad hoc disaster assistance which would

further undermine participation.
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TARGETED SUBSrorES FOR BUY-UPS
COMPARISON OF FARMER'S OUT-OF-POCKET EXPENSE

WriH TAKGETtU SUBS
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PEDEnAL CROP INSUHANCc CORPORATION
PREMIUM/INDEMNITIES/LCSS RATIOS

1981 - 1993 (Crop Year Data)

(dollars in tfiousands)

YEAR



55

UNITED STATES CROP VALUE SUMMARY

INSURED CROPS
NATIONAL VALUE OF ALL CROPS $92,385,311,215

I
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UNITED STATES CROP VALUE SUMMARY

INSURED CROPS
NATIONAL VALUE OF ALL CROPS $92,385,311,215
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CROP EXPANSION
FEASIBILITY STUDY LIST

Feasibility studies are currently underway on the

following crops in anticipation ofdeveloping new

crop programs:

AVOCADOS
ASPARAGUS
BLUEBERRIES
BROCCOLI
CANOLA
CANTALOUPE
CARROTS
CAULIFLOWER
CELERY
CHERRIES-SWEET
HAY-ALL
HAY-HAYLAGE
HAY-OTHER

LETTUCE-HEAD
LETTUCE-LEAF
MUSHROOMS
NURSERY CROPS
PECANS
PEPPERMINT
PINEAPPLE
PISTACHIOS
SEED-FORAGE
SEED-LAWN
STRAWBERRIES
SWEET POTATOES
WATERMELON
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

CORN-PARTICIPANT

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

CORN NON-PARTICIPANT

1

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

CORN-PARTICIPANT

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

CORN NON-PARTICIPANT

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

WHEAT-PARTICIPANT

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

I
WHEAT - NON-PARTICIPANT

1

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

COTTON-PARTICIPANT

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

COTTON - NON-PARTICIPANT

YIELD LOSS %
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FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE CORPORATION

CROP INSURANCE REFORM COMPARED TO DISASTER ASSISTANCE

SOYBEANS

YIELD LOSS %



67

POSITION STATEMENTS

American Farm Bureau Federation (AFBF)

Mr. Chairman, thank you for this opportunity to testify on crop insurance legisla-
tion on behalf of the American Farm Bureau Federation with its 4.2 million family
members from across the Nation.

My name is Doyle Rahjes, and I am the president of the Kansas Farm Bureau
and a member of the Board of Directors of the American Farm Bureau Federation.
As a member of the National Commission for the Improvement of the Crop Insur-

ance Program, which completed its work in July 1989, I hope to share with you both
my experience there and my activities on crop insurance within the Kansas and
American Farm Bureaus.
At the AFBF 1994 annual meeting held in Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, the voting del-

egates reaffirmed our longstanding policy that crop disaster programs and crop in-
surance should be combined into a single program designed to obtain the greatest
amount of participation.
That is why we feel the objectives and the techniques of the administration's Crop

Insurance Proposal are worthy of serious consideration by Congress.
We do, however, have some reservations about certain provisions in the proposal

that we feel are contrary to achieving full participation and which apply unneces-
sary eligibility tests that would further discourage full participation in both the
Crop Insurance and the Price Support Programs.
Farm Bureau Policy is very clear that participation in a crop insurance program

should remain voluntary and that there should be no mandatory linkages between
farm program participation and Farmers Home Administration loan eligibility and
crop insurance. The current proposal does not satisfy that requirement. Even
though the linkage in the proposed program is limited to participation in the cata-

strophic coverage portion of the Crop Insurance Program at a nominal fee, it estab-
lishes a mechanism that could become very burdensome for producers. Moreover, we
are concerned that the nominal costs of the mandatory portion of the program would
set a precedent for the future. A cap on participation fees for catastrophic coverage
which is set at $100 today could escalate rapidly under future budget pressures, yet
producers would be required to participate whether or not they get any real individ-
ual benefits from the pro-am. In brief, we believe that a well-designed and attrac-
tive voluntary program will work much better. Voluntary access and freedom to par-
ticipate always win over government coercion.
Another important concern is the linkage between crop insurance and farm pro-

gram participation. If this linkage is made, then Congress would face a very difiicult
task of making sure that appropriate measures are taken to isolate the catastrophic
portion of the coverage from future budget reconciliation considerations. About $700
million in new money is being requested by the House for the Crop Insurance Re-
form effort based on previous prop-am crop expenditures resulting from ad hoc dis-
aster legislation. There is concern that if funding remains at the $700 million level,
nonprogram crops might be treated inequitably. If there were farm program crop
overruns (particularly if parliamentary changes make it increasingly difficult to

f)ass

ad hoc disaster assistance for noninsured crops), then noncovered crops would
ikely receive reduced or pro rated benefits.
We have a number of specific concerns about the levels of coverage. First, the 50-

percent yield loss provision of the "basic coverage" provides substantially less cov-

erage for moderate losses than disaster programs tnat have been implemented in
recent years. In other words, disaster funding has been applied to losses below 65

percent of normal production, whereas the proposed Crop Insurance Reform "kicks
in" only for yield losses greater than 50 percent. Another shortcoming of the Crop
Insurance Reform package is its reliance on yield as a trigger mechanism for insur-
ance payout.
Farm Bureau strongly favors coverage based on doUars-per-acre rather than yield.

Reliance on yield as a trigger mechanism tends to skew the program in favor of

high-risk production acres and makes it much more likely that gaps in coverage will
exit.

Second, with respect to the "buy-up" provisions, it is unclear as to where, and
from whom, producers must purchase this coverage. Here there is another potential
gap in coverage. By virtue ot it being a yield-triggered pay versus a dollar-per-acre-
age coverage, even if narrowly drawn, there is an invitation for future retrenchment
of program benefits, and as such make the overall Crop Insurance Plan less effective
when the day comes that a future Congress will be urged to provide disaster relief

beyond that provided by the Crop Insurance F*rogram.
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Finally, there are a number of provisions in the administration's proposal in sec-

tion 522, the "noninsured assistance program" that we view with great concern.

They include:

". . . (8) A person who has qualifying gross revenues in excess of $2 million

annually, as determined by the Secretary, shall not be eligible to receive any
noninsured payment." [Emphasis added.]

This section then goes on to define "qualifying gross revenue". Granted, the scope
of this language is fairly narrow, and the $2 million threshold might appear to

many observers as high, there is great mischief afoot in establishing a "means test"

in this legislation.
Veteran Members of this committee will recall the 1990 Farm bill debate and the

floor struggle necessary to avoid a much lower $100,000 means test amendment for

price support program eligibility.
It seems obvious to us that the $2 million level or any stated level will become

an early and easy target for budget cutters.

Another troublesome provision in section 522 also states as follows:

". . . (e) payment limitations—(1) The total amount of payments that a

person shall be entitled to receive annually under this section may not exceed

$100,000." [Emphasis added.]

The section goes on to define "person" along the same lines as now apply to price

support programs.
Finally, the language regarding the estimation of yields by averaging observations

from a minimum of four previous crop years needs to be clarified for fruits and vege-
tables. For some fruit and vegetable operations in the more temperate climatic

zones, there may be several crops planted sequentially in the same calendar year.
In light of this, is the intent of tne legislation really yields of crops planted in "four

continuous crop years,"
or "four consecutive crop plantings?"

In summary, Mr. Chairman, we feel this proposal has many attractive features,
and the basic idea behind it is sound.

However, we hope you and the rest of Confess will amend it by deleting or

changing the provisions we find counter productive and unfair.

American Association of Nurserymen (AAN)

Mr. Chairman, and Members of the subcommittee, the American Association of

Nurserymen (AAN) welcomes this opportunity to present the nursery industry's
views regarding legislation to reform tne Federal Crop Insurance System.

BACKGROUND

Founded in 1875, AAN is the national trade organization of the nursery industry.
We directly represent approximately 2,300 growers, landscape professionals, garden
center retailers and horticultural distributors. Through the membership of our State
and regional nursery and landscape associations, AAN represents an additional

16,000 family farms and small businesses in the nursery industry.

ECONOMIC STATURE OF NURSERY INDUSTRY

According to USDA's Economic Research Service (USDA-ERS), the nursery and
greenhouse industry continues to outpace other agricultural sectors in cash receipts.

Nursery and greenhouse crops totaled an estimated $9.0 billion in 1993—represent-
ing nearly 11 percent of the total cash receipts for all U.S. farm crops. Nursery and
greenhouse crops in 1992 ranked 6th in total grower cash receipts among all farm
commodities—ahead of such major crops as wheat, cotton and tobacco. Nursery and
greenhouse crop production now ranks in the top 5 agricultural commodities in 23
States, and in the top 10 in 42 States, including Vermont.

This impressive industry record of growth becomes even more so when one con-

siders that unlike other segments of agriculture, the nursery industry does not re-

ceive—nor does it desire—any Federal subsidies or price supports.
What we do want

is for the unique nature of nursery crop production to be lully recognized as part
of agriculture and for this recognition to oe reflected appropriately in any reform
of the Federal Crop Insurance Program.

NURSERY CROP PRODUCTION

Nursery crop production is a unique segment of agriculture, but it is agriculture
nonetheless. Unlike farming operations oi many of the "major" commodities, most
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nursery crops are not harvested in the same year in which they are planted. More-
over, although they may be planted at the same time, not all such nursery crops
are then harvested at the same time.
As with other agricultural crops, nursery stock is generally plamted in rows—

either in the ground or in containers—ana is cultivated by farm equipment sim-
ilarly used by other farmers. Most nursery farms grow hundreds of different vari-
eties of plant species which often require individuau attention, so the labor activity
can be more intensive than other agricultural crops. As an example of the unique
nature of growing nursery plants, let's examine the production of ornamental ever-

green trees. Some types of evergreens are first propagated from cuttings in a green-
house. Others are propagated from seed. After several months in the greenhouse,
the rooted cuttings (some of which may be sold to other nursery farms) are planted
in beds, usually Tor 2 more years. These 3-year-old cuttings (some of which again
may be sold to other nursery farms) are then transplanted m fields or in other con-
tainers and cultivated for as many as four or five additional years until the trees

begin reaching various marketable sizes. As other examples, rhododendrens may be
grown for 4 to 6 years or more before they reach marketable sizes, and landscape
specimen shade trees may be grown for 10 years or more.
Seldom does a nursery farmer sell an entire "crop" in any given year. For exam-

ple, evergreens planted in the field at the same time will not contain trees of uni-
form size. This is due, in part, to each plant's individual rate of growth, or perhaps
to variations in soil quaUtv in different parts of the field. As a result, when a nurs-
ery grower receives an order from a retail garden center or a landscape firm for or-
namental evergreens of a given size, the order may be fiUed out of several fields
of trees of varying ages.
As with other agricultural commodities, nursery crops are subject to insects, pests,

and diseases. Unlike most other agricultural crops, nursery plants are often shipped
with soil attached. Since soil increases the likelihood of narboring pests, a variety
of Federal and State certification and quarantine shipping requirements are im-
posed on nursery growers to prevent the spread of such pests to other agricultural
crops even when such pests are not dir^ectly injurious to nursery plants.

THE FEDERAL CROP INSURANCE SYSTEM NEEDS TO BE OVERHAULED

Since many nursery crops often take several years in the field before they are

ready for harvest, nursery farmers endure wide weather swings and patterns over
a multiyear period. In any given year, nurserymen may lose farmgate sales of tens
of millions of dollars in plant material destroyed by the vagaries of nature.

Nursery farmers traditionally absorb these losses and treat them as costs of con-
ductirig business. The weather patterns of freezes and droughts are often unpredict-
able. The toll is obviously heavier and more costly in some years than in others.
As noted earlier, the nursery industry does not receive any Federal production sub-
sidies or price supports, and we desire as little government interference as possible.
In turn, nursery farmers have historically not looked to the Federal Government for
direct Federal assistance.
Given the nursery industry's strong and continuing aversion to turning to the

Federal Government for direct financial assistance, there is, nonetheless, an impor-
tant mechanism by which the Federal Government can partner with the nursery in-

dustry. It is one in which the nursery industry, and the rest of agriculture, could
pay its fair share. AAN recortmiends that the availability of Federal crop insurance
be broadened to all agricultural crops, and that its purchase by farmers be made
more economical.
We are pleased that H.R. 4217, the "Federal Crop Insurance Reform Act of 1994,"

introduced on April 14, 1994 by House Agriculture Committee Chairman Kika de
la Garza and the Chairman of this subcommittee. Rep. Tim Johnson (D-SI)), largely
embraces AAN's position.
The availability of Federal crop insurance to the nursery industry is severely lim-

ited. In part, this is due to the often multiyear production periods for most nursery
crops, as well as the tremendous diversity of nursery crops. Even in those limited
instances where crop insurance is available to nursery farmers, the premiums are
excessive and unaffordable. By universally broadening Federal crop insurance to all

agricultural crops, costs can be pooled and risks can be spread more effectively.
Only when Federal crop insurance is available to nonprogram crops, such as con-
tainer and field-grown nursery crops, will the insurance system succeed in attract-

ing a sufficient pool of farmers and growers so that costs can be spread more widely
and the premiums can be more economical.
Current USDA Disaster Assistance Programs can unintentionally reward mar-

ginal farmers who, if only they were to change some of their management practices.
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could mitigate or even avert some of their crop losses. By the same token, current
USDA disaster programs are often off-limits to strong and innovative farmers who
make investments in their operations (such as implementing irrigation systems to

combat droughts) in often successful efforts to minimize crop losses. Federal crop
insurance premiums could reflect such investments and management practices.

Crop insurance for nonprogram crops would strengthen the financial position of

the insured in dealing with freezes, droughts, and other reasonably anticipated and

periodic weather swings and patterns. Crop insurance can act as collateral on loans,
and lowers the risk factor enabling lenders to offer better terms or larger loans.

Universally broadening the Federal Crop Insurance System to all agricultural

crops, and making such more economical, would present potential budgetary sav-

ings. It would mitigate the need for Congress to continuously find itself year-in and

year-out having to appropriate huge sums of Federal dollars to USDA disaster as-

sistance programs, which, unfortunately, have often been outright grants to mar-

ginal agricultural producers.
AAN strongly urges Congress to pursue the goal of universally broadening the

availability of Federal crop insurance to all agricultural producers for all crops, and

making the premiums more economical. H.R. 4217 is a positive first step in this di-

rection. AAN recommends that an overhauled Federal crop insurance system should
cover reasonably anticipated weather swings and patterns (such as freezes and
droughts) which damage or destroy agricultural crops. In so doing, USDA disaster

assistance programs could then be revamped to help restore farmers' lost income
due to catastrophic disasters, such as 1992's Hurricane Andrew or last summer's se-

vere Midwest floods, for which crop losses could not be averted no matter what pre-
cautions are implemented by farmers.

LEGISLATION MUST BE AMENDED TO EXPLICITLY COVER NURSERY CROPS

AAN understands that nursery crops—^both container and field-grown—^are in-

cluded on the official crop expansion feasibility study list for the development of new
crop insurance programs. AAN applauds this review of container and field-grown

nursery crops for inclusion as "eligible crops." At the same time, though, we are

deeply disturbed that section 4 of H.R. 4217 (which proposes a noninsured assist-

ance program for crops for which catastrophic risk insurance is not available) is lim-

ited to food and fiber crop production. We are concerned that if such limiting lan-

guage is included in any final legislation, it will work against the insurance eligi-

bility of nursery crops.
Since nursery crops are neither food nor fiber, the proposed eligibility coverage

in section 4 of H.R. 4217 effectively excludes nursery farms or production nurs-
eries—creating a wholly inappropriate and artificial wedge between the nursery in-

dustry and the rest of American agriculture. Legislation must be amended to explic-

itly cover nursery crops (and other nonfood or fiber crops, such as sod) as eligible
for insurance.

Conclusion

Mr. Chairman, AAN deeply appreciates this opportunity to share our thoughts
about reforming the Federal Crop Insurance Program in general. We hope Congress
will work to overhaul the Federal Crop Insurance System by universally broadening
its availability to aU agricultural crops, including nursery plants and trees, and by
making the purchase of crop insurance by farmers more economical.
AAN also urges that crop insurance premiums reflect the investments and man-

agement practices made by strong and innovative farmers to mitigate their crop
losses. By overhauling the Federal Crop Insurance System, USDA disaster assist-

ance programs could be revamped to help restore farmers' lost income due to truly

catastrophic disasters, for which crop losses could not be averted no matter what
precautions are implemented by farmers.
As always, Mr. Chairman, AAN is willing and ready to work with you, the Mem-

bers of this subcommittee, the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation, and USDA to

make the Federal Crop Insurance System more equitable and available to nursery
farmers. Thank you.
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SENATORS' QUESTIONS PRESENTED TO THE WITNESSES
AND RESPONSES THERETO

Senator Leahy's Questions

Reference. The adoption of new or innovative farming practices that are more
environmentally sound may, at least in the short-term, increase the risk of jield
losses. Innovative nutrient management technologies such as the late-spring-soil ni-

trogen test or crop tissue tests, for example, can substantially increase the efliciency
of fertilizers, but require the farmer to delay applying fertilizer until the crop is up.
If weather prevents access to the fields to apply fertilizer after the test results are

in, yields may suffer.

Waiting to apply pesticides until pest scouting indicates that pest populations are
near their economic threshold allows farmers to apply pesticides only when they are

need, but there is the risk of yield losses if weather or other factors prevent applica-
tion of the pesticide when it is needed.

I understand that a program in California already offers farmers insurance if they
substitute Bt, a biological insecticide, for the conventional insecticide they would
otherwise use.

Question 1. How can we make better use of such an approach to help farmers

manage the risk of adopting new technologies?

Response. We are awaiting the results of the California project in order to evalu-
ate whether the practice can simply be insured under the terms and conditions of
the canning and processing tomato policy. Our current concern is to ensure that our

programs accommodate proven and acceptable integrated pest management prac-
tices. There are other projects which could be considered depending on available

funding. One area we will be exploring is how FCIC could provide incentives for pro-
ducers to adopt environmentally sound farming practices. Our Research and Evalua-
tion Division and Regional Service Ofiices will explore several possibilities to deter-

mine the most effective means to accomplish this task.

Senator Lugar's Questions

Reference. I would like to compare crop loss protection provided by the current

system with that under the Reform Proposal against several different weather
events, the 1988 Drought, the 1939 Drought, and the 1993 Flood/Drought. Assuming
these weather events:

Question 1. How many farmers received disaster payments/crop insurance in-

demnity payments and in what amounts? How many farmers would have received

indemnity payments/area triggered disaster payments under the reform proposal
and in what amounts?

Response. The information provided analyzes only crop insurance indemnity
payments, not disaster payments. Analysis on disaster payments will be submitted

very soon.

Provided, for the record, are the actual numbers of crop insurance contracts for

each of these specific 3 years (one contract is one crop), numbers of contracts with
losses, the total value oi the insurance in force (actual crop value multiplied by the

coverage level percentage), and the amount of indemnities. This information is pro-
vided by State by county by crop. This information has been recalculated at the 50

percent coverage level and 60-percent price election. This provides a comprehensive
assessment of the portion of the farming population that purchased crop insurance
based on existing unit structure in those years.
For example, 21,991 crop policies were issued in the State of Indiana in 1993.

(Fewer farmers purchased insurance because some bought insurance on multi-

ple crops). Under the business as sold, 2,602 crop policies were paid a loss. Total

payments were approximately $9.4 million. One or more units on 1,699 of those poli-
cies had yield losses exceeding 50 percent. Payments to those units would have
amounted to about $2.6 million. Total payments and the number of contracts indem-
nified wiU be less when the alternative set of assumptions is analyzed. A printout
of data that supports this information will be provided.

Reference. I would like the above information by farm and by crop at the State
and county level. Provide the reform estimates under three scenarios (low, medium,
and high) of farmer participation in buy-up coverage.
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Question 2. Finally, what are budget expenditures under these two policy ap-

f»roaches?
(Please include administrative expenses along with payments net of

armer paid premiums/fees.)

Response. 1993 crop year data are attached. ^ For 1993, FCIC insured 83.8 mil-

lion net acres, about one-third of the estimated 251.2 million acres potential in-

cluded in the crop insurance baseline. Net farmer benefits (indemnities minus
farmer paid premiums) were approximately $1,120 million, which includes the pre-
mium subsidy to the farmer. Administrative reimbursements to insurers (assuming
100 percent sales through the reinsured delivery system) would be about $300 mil-

lion (including FCIC's salaries and expenses). A medium scenario would place par-
ticipation in tne buy-up coverage at about 43 percent. Net farmer benefits for this

scenario would be approximately $1,450 million with delivery expenses of about
$375 million. A high participation scenario would place participation at about 53

percent. Net farmer benefits would be $1,800 million with delivery expenses of

about $450 million. Crop losses in 1993 were extensive. Net outlays would be much
lower in most years.

Reference. Historically, ad hoc disaster payments for program crops have been
based on ASCS program yields, while crop insurance indemnity payments are based
on FCIC yields.

Question 3. How do these yields compare by State and county for all of the pro-

gram crops? Please provide this data on 3.5" high density diskettes in Lotus 3.1 (or

lower) spreadsheet format.

Response. We have attached a 3.5" high density diskette with Lotus 3.1

spreadsheets containing this data. ^ The data indicate the average yield that was
insured by FCIC by county and crop and the average ASCS yield for the same in-

sured units. Not all insured units are included because the ASCS yield was not
available for all insured units. ^

Reference. Even with the $1 billion-per-year farm program baseline adjustment,
CBO says the administration's bill will raise direct spending by $711 million in

budget authority and $362 million in outlays over 5 years.

Question 4. How do you propose to change the proposal to make it budget neu-
tral?

Response. CBO currently estimates a $300 million savings in outlays over a 5-

year period. The figures you refer to assume that the expense reimbursement to

companies, which is currently subject to appropriations, would be scored to the Re-
form bill without a corresponding discretionary cap adjustment. The administration
did not propose that expense reimbursements be shifted to mandatory from discre-

tionary spending without a corresponding discretionary cap adjustment.

Reference. The administration's bill would give FCIC permanent unlimited use
of Treasury funds to pay virtually all FCIC costs. This would allow FCIC to make
unlimited use of Treasury funds to pay administrative reimbursements to insurance

companies. As a result, these reimbursements would no longer be subject to the dis-

cipline of the annual appropriations process. In addition, CBO says this authority
wiU increase the direct spending in the Reform bill by $852 million in budget au-

thority and $714 million in outlays over the next 5 years.
Question 5. What is the justification for doing this?

Response. Again, this CBO estimate assumes no discretionary cap adjustment
as existing discretionary spending is shifted to mandatory spending. The adminis-
tration's bill assumes a discretionary cap adjustment and CBO has revised its scor-

ing of the administration's bill to reflect this. Moreover, the administration believes

that the Congress wUl have as much oversight over this program as it has under

present law. The provision of the Reform Proposal would give FCIC permanent au-

thority to use Federal funds, in such sums as necessary, to pay certain costs, includ-

ing delivery costs similar to existing authority, to borrow from the Commodity Cred-
it Corporation.
The administration's proposal would shift expense reimbursements to companies

to mandatory spending because expense reimbursements are calculated as a percent
of premium. While the administration and CBO have estimated expected premium
levels over the 5-year period, farmer response under the reform proposal is difficult

to predict. Shifting expense reimbursements to mandatory spending will allow the

1 See page 54.
2 Retained in Committee files.

^See pages 55 and 56.
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program to operate with greater flexibility. For example, FCIC might project that
40 percent of eligible acres will be enrolled in the buy-up coverage in flscal year
1996 and that associated premiums will be $1.2 billion. This projection would be the
basis of its budget request for the fiscal year. If, instead, 45 percent of eligible acres
are enrolled and premiums are $1.35 billion, FCIC would have no authority to make
the additional payments because insufficient funds would have been appropriated.
The voluntary nature of enrollment in the buy-up coverage and the vagaries of
farmer's decisions from year to year are not consistent with the annual appropria-
tions process even under the existing program. The administration is willing to con-
sider alternatives that provide flexibility to meet unforeseeable increases in business
volume in any year.
There are essentially three elements that drive the costs for this program: acres

enrolled, projected market prices for agricultural conrunodities, and premium rates.

The administration's costs tor the proposal are based upon expectations that a high
percentage of eligible acres will be enrolled immediately in the catastrophic pro-

gram, and that the potential market for buy-up coverage likely will be saturated by
the end of the first 5 years. Future prices of agricultural commodities are not ex-

pected to increase sharply from current levels. Thus, the potential for excessive fu-

ture growth in obligations stimulated by these two sources seems limited. Premium
rates have two effects upon program costs: (1) each dollar of added premium in-

creases outlays for direct premium subsidy and for delivery expenses by about 65-
70 cents, and (2) each adcled dollar of premium for a fixed acreage base reduces ex-
cess losses by 1 dollar or adds 1 dollar to program reserves. Costs are projected to

increase rather sharply in the first years of the reform because more acres are en-
rolled and premium rates are increasing as needed to achieve actuarial sufficiency.
However, this rate of growth in outlays is not indicative of the longer term because
the majority of the eligible acres will be enrolled and premium rates should stabilize

in the out years.

Reference. Most agricultural economists, who have studied the issue, say the

buy-up subsidies will not increase farmer purchases of crop insurance very much.
The economists say econometric evidence suggests that farmer response in inelas-
tic—that a 17-percent reduction in premium subsidies would increase farmer par-
ticipation by less in percentage terms. The administration estimates buy-up pur-
chases will rise from about 33 percent to 53 percent of insurable acreage over the
next 5 years, an increase of nearly 61 percent.
Question 6. Why does the administration estimate believe such a large response

is likely?

Response. Studies of the type mentioned in the question typically are based on
a principle called ceteris paribus by economists—i.e., all other things remaining
equal. All other things do not remain equal in this proposal. In particular, greater
uncertainty with regard to availability of ad hoc disaster programs represents a

change from the status quo. Inelasticity of demand as reported by these studies may
result from expectations of disaster assistance in extreme circumstances. Breaking
or reducing these expectations could affect the estimates of the elasticity of demand.

Participation was in the low to mid-40-percent level following the 1988 disaster.

Thus, an increase to the low 50-percent range is not as dramatic an increase as is

inferred by the comparison to current participation. Current participation very well

may have declined as a result of the Aa hoc Disaster Program enacted in 1990.

Question 7. If the administration is wrong and the economists are ri^t, won't
future ad hoc assistance bills be more likely?

Response. The catastrophic level of coverage under the proposal is intended to

provide protection that is equivalent to current ad hoc programs in the event of a
total disaster. It is more than competitive with current programs at the 50.04-per-
cent prorate of benefits, and can be very comparable with those programs at the 100
percent prorate—especially when deficiency payments are large. Thus, the adminis-
tration believes the proposal provides ample protection in the event of severe disas-
ters.

Relatively high participation in the buy-up coverage is desirable to avert ad hoc
disaster programs for shallow disasters—those that are a mile wide and an inch

deep. Many persons are affected but the average loss is not substantial. The pro-
posal does not compensate the producer until loss of production exceeds 50 percent.
Thus, farmers would absorb losses from that level to the 60- or 65-percent levels
that now are covered under ad hoc disasters unless they elected to protect those
losses by buying hi^er levels of coverage.
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Question 8. Why does the administration's proposal include payments for quality
losses as part of the catastrophic coverage? How are quality losses calculated and
how much will they add to the cost of the coverage?

Response. Current multiple peril crop insurance policies include provisions for

the adjustment of production due to poor quality. Catastrophic coverage will be simi-

lar to current multiple peril crop insurance policies offered today. Adjustments to

crop production for quality deficiencies are triggered by certain thresholds as identi-

fied by each crop policy (e.g., com with moisture over 40 percent; test weight below
49 pounds per bushel; or kernel damage more than 10 percent if eligible for quality

adjustment). Once a crop is eligible for quality adjustment, the mature crop produc-
tion is generally adjusted by dividing the value per bushel of the damaged crop by
the price for undamaged crop (for com, U.S. No. 2).

Adjustments to production due to quality deficiencies generally occur during years
of extreme weather conditions and, therefore, are not a predominant part of the
losses paid for crop failure. Current rating methodology accounts for these losses,

therefore, providing quality adjustment for catastrophic coverage does not signifi-

cantly affect the cost of the coverage.

Reference. Under the reform proposal, FCIC would ofier catastrophic yield cov-

erage to farmers of all FCIC insurable crops. However, FCIC coverage for many
crops does not extend to all States and counties where the crop is produced.

Question 9. Does this mean that producers of those crops in those areas would
have to rely on area triggered disaster payments as their only protection? (Please

provide a list of aU the crops FCIC insures by State and county.)

Response. Yes. The standing Disaster Program triggered on an area basis would

provide protection to farmers. However, this is surer than the status quo because
such producers will qualify whenever their area suffers a major loss. Presently,
a wide spread disaster affecting major crops often is the trigger for assistance to

farmers who produce insurable crops. According to a recent General Accounting Of-

fice (GAO) study, FCIC has standing insurance programs covering 91 percent of the

value of disaster payments made on all the crops currently insured over the period
1988-93.

Reference. The sharing of underwriting risk between FCIC and insurance com-

panies is based on reinsurance agreements that are renegotiated periodically.

Question 10. How much of loss is currently bom by the companies?

Response. The Standard Reinsurance Agreement (SRA) between FCIC and pri-
vate insurers, uses both proportional (quota share) and nonproportional (stop loss)

reinsurance to allocate MPCI underwriting gains and losses by State by reinsurance

fund. The SRA has three (3) reinsurance funds (Assigned Risk, Developmental, and
Commercial) in which an insurer may designate a policy depending on the amount
of premium and potential loss the insurer wishes to retain. The insurer's reinsur-

ance loss is calculated by fund for each State, with the total of all States being the

insurer's total underwriting gain or loss. The maximum possible underwriting loss

exposure in the 1994 SRA for $1.00 of retained premium is $1.10 in the Assigned
Risk Fund, $1.32 in the Developmental Fund, and $1.75 in the Commercial Fund.

Reference. As I understand it, FCIC premium rates do not currently include ex-

pense reimbursements to companies. The Reform bUl would "restructure" premium
rates to reflect both direct premium subsidies and the insurers expense reimburse-
ment allowance.

Question 11. What does this mean? Would total premium rates rise or would the

subsidy portion rise without changing total premium rates?

Response. The actuarial documents published by FCIC contain both the base

premium rate and the farmer paid premium rate. The base premium rate is the

amount FCIC would charge the farmer if there were no subsidy. For example, if the

base premium rate at the 65-percent coverage level is 7.0 percent, both that value

and the value 4.9 percent (the farmer paid portion) are shown. Under the proposal,
the 7.0-percent value would be increased to include the expense compensation. If

that rate were 31 percent, the base rate would be increased to 9.2 percent (7.0 mul-

tiplied by 1.31). The farmer paid rate would decline to approximately 4.1 percent
due to the higher premium subsidy under the proposal. This method of calculation

more accurately reflects the true Government subsidy but does not increase the

Government outlay.
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Senator Cochran's Questions

Reference. I have introduced legislation (S. 1879) to provide disaster assistance
for damage suffered from a severe storm of freezing rain and ice. Li February of
this year, this storm caused extensive damage to millions of acres of commercial or-

chards and timber. Severe damage was incurred on 3.7 million acres of forestland
in the northern one-third of the States and included both young pine plantations
and mature pine and hardwood timber.

Question 1. Under the administration's Crop Insurance Reform Plan, is there

any provision which would provide assistance to commercial timber producers?

Response. The administration's Crop Insurance Reform Proposal, section 508
(a) Authority to offer insurance, provides that the Corporation may insure or pro-
vide reinsurance for producers of agricultural commodities adapted to the growing
area and where there is sufficient actuarial data available to formulate an actuari-

ally sound rate for crop insurance. Agricultural commodity is defined in section 518,
and does include timber and forests. However, FCIC does not currently have a com-
mercial timber policy available to producers.

Reference. The administration's Crop Insurance Reform Proposal provides that

crops not currently covered by crop insurance will be provided basic catastrophic
coverage with payments triggered by area-wide loss levels. Crop insurance is cur-

rently available for only 50 crops nationwide, though not necessarily in every State
or county.
Question 2. In the administration's plan, why are crop that are currently cov-

ered by crop insurance protected on an area basis, rather than an individual crop
loss basis?

Response. The Noninsured Assistance Program only covers crops not covered by
crop insurance. Crops covered by crop insurance can be protected on an individual
basis, however, producers of crops not covered by crop insurance or in counties
which do not have an actuarial structure will have protection on an individual basis
if an area loss triggers coverage. Protection will not be available unless the area av-

erage production Tails below 65 percent of normal. The producer's loss will be based
on their own individual average production. The use of the area average yield to

trigger implementation of the Noninsured Assistance Program was intended to pro-
vide similar benefits to those which are currently provided through ad hoc disaster
assistance programs. Under the administration's proposal the Noninsured Assist-
ance Program would not require congressional action. We do not feel that sufficient
actuarial data exists to offer this coverage on a primarily individual basis. There-
fore, area coverage is the alternative the administration chose to provide protection
to noninsured crops.

Question 3. Does this mean that a blueberry farmer in south Mississippi whose
crop is wiped out due to adverse weather is not eligible for assistance under this

plan, if his county average jrield exceeds the loss threshold?

Response. Yes, however that producer with an individual loss has not been cov-
ered bv any ad hoc disaster program offer unless emergency appropriations are pro-
vided by Congress. The Noninsured Assistant FVogram is designed to assist in the
event of an area-wide disaster similar to the conditions which would require con-

gressional action under authorities of the current Disaster Assistance Program. The
primaiy difference between the current ad hoc disaster relief progremis and the pro-
posed Noninsured Assistance Program is that the administration's proposal is less
restrictive and provides a more timely response to a disaster. However, if the area
average production for the crop does not fall below 65 percent of the area yield,
there would be no protection for the individual's loss within the area. The protection
provided under the Noninsured Assistance Program would be equivalent to the av-

erage assistance provided by recent ad hoc disaster programs. The administration
believes that the Noninsured Assistant Program will be more eflective and respon-
sive to producer's losses than the present ad hoc coverage which depends on con-

gressional action each time a disaster occurs.

Question 4. If no crop insurance is available for a crop and the area yield loss
is not met, are there any alternatives other than direct congressional disaster assist-

ance, which the administration's plan would make more difficult to obtain?

Response. The Noninsured Assistance Program provisions of the administra-
tion's proposal were established to provide protection to producers of commodities
with no crop insurance available. It provides protection equivalent to catastrophic
risk coverage and ad hoc disaster assistance programs. The protection is triggered
when the county, or other defined area, average production for that crop falls below
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65 percent of the average yield. The Noninsured Assistance Program would not re-

quire a multistate disaster to generate the necessary support to implement disaster
assistance. However, if the area average production for the crop does not fall below
65 percent of the area yield, there would be no protection for the individual's loss

within the area. Under the Ad hoc Disaster Assistance Programs, there is no protec-
tion for the individual's loss if congressional action is not taken.

Question 5. What is the timetable for approving the 26 new crops for inclusion
in the Federal Crop Insurance Program? (These crops include blueberries, pecans,
sweet potatoes and watermelons).

Response. The Federal Crop Insurance Corporation (FCIC) is currently evaluat-

ing 26 new crops for possible inclusion in its insurance program. FCIC has arranged
for the Economic Research Service to

provide preliminary data on production, mar-
keting, risk management, and other related information mr these various crops. The

deliveiy
date for tnis information ranges through September 1995. Upon receipt of

this iniormation, FCIC will prepare an extensive risk management assessment that
will determine whether a new crop is suitable for design of an insurance program.
The feasibility data are scheduled to be delivered as follows:

Delivery Date Feasible Data

February 1994 Blueberries

June 1994 Canoia, carrots, celery, lettuce

September 1994 Asparagus, broccoli, cauliflower, sweet potatoes

December 1994 Cantaloupes, honeydew, strawberries, watermelons

April 1995 Avocadoes, cherries-sweet, mushrooms, in-ground nursery

crops, and pistachios

September 1995 Hay, hops, peppermint, pineapple, seed-forage, seed-lawn, and

spearmint

Once these preliminary data are received, a comprehensive risk management
analysis can be developed. With the completion of a favorable risk analysis and
given current workloads, FCIC

anticipates
that programs could be available for

either a pilot or standing program as follows:

Data Crop Year

Blueberries 1995 crop year

Canoia 1995 crop year

Mushrooms 1996 crop year

Celery 1996 crop year

Asparagus 1996 crop year

Carrots 1 996 crop year

FL Citrus Trees 1996 crop year

Lettuce 1996 crop year

Pecans 1996 crop year

Pistachios 1997 crop year

Cantaloupes 1 997 crop year

Sweet potatoes 1997 crop year

Broccoli 1997 crop year

Nursery in-ground 1997 crop year

Sweet Cheeries 1997 crop year

Avocadoes 1 997 crop year

Honeydews 1 997 crop year

Strawberries 1 997 crop year

Cauliflower 1997 crop year

Watermelons 1997 crop year

Forage seed 1998 crop year

Hops 1998 crop year

Peppermint 1998 crop year

Hay 1998 crop year
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Data Crop Year

Spearmint 1998 crop year

Lawn seed 1998 crop year

Pineapple 1998 crop year

Reference. The administration's plan shifts appropriations for crop insurance
from discretionan^ spending (with ag appropriations oversight) to mandatory/entitle-
ment spending. It will allow the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation to access di-

rectly from the Treasury such funds as are necessary to fund the program.
Question 6. How would the administration's Crop Insurance Proposal be scored

under current scorekeeping conventions, if agreed to by Congress and the adminis-
tration?

Response. The administration's scoring of this proposal is reflected in the Presi-
dent's 1995 Budget. This scoring shows that the proposal would save approximately
$750 million over the next 5 years, based on a cost of about $8.1 billion for the pro-

posal compared to $8.9 billion for continuing the current Crop Insurance Program
and having to rely on ad hoc disaster assistance of about $1 billion annually. About
$350 million of the savings would occur in fiscal year 1995. In each succeeding year,
it is assumed that participation, particularly in the buy-up portion of the proposal
program, wUl rise, increasing costs accordingly. By fiscal year 1999, the cost of the

proposal is actually slightly nigher than that of the current program, will rise, in-

creasing costs
accordingly.We understand that the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) is in the process of

producing its scoring of the proposal. We anticipate that there will be some dif-

ferences with regard to assumptions relating to participation, loss ratios, and other

program parameters that affect cost. Further, there may be matters of interpreta-
tion with regard to scoring of certain delivery expenses.
We will, of course, continue to woric with the Congress and with CBO on the scor-

ing of this proposal.

Question 7. What impact would this proposal have in the direct spending under
the jurisdiction of the Agriculture Committee?

Response. According to the administration's scoring of the proposal, direct

spending
under the jurisdiction of the Agriculture Committee would account for

aoout $7.7 billion of the $8.1 billion in total 5-year cost of the proposal. This com-
pares to about $2.2 billion in the baseline for the current Crop Insurance Program
and $5.0 billion in emergency spending for ad hoc disaster assistance. The difference
reflects both a shift in crop insurance delivery expenses that are currently scored
as discretionary spending under the jurisdiction of the Appropriations Committee,
and the savings in overall cost.

Question 8. What impact would this proposal have in appropriations require-
ments, both mandatory and discretionary?

Response. According to the administration's scoring of the proposal, discre-

tionary spending would decline by about $220 million annually. This decline reflects

the shift in delivery expenses to mandatory spending. The proposal provides perma-
nent authority for all mandatory spending. In other words, no appropriations would
be necessary for such spending. FCIC's own administrative expenses would remain
as discretionary spending which require appropriations.

Reference. As you know, discretionary spending, subject to annual appropria-
tions, is easier to control than mandatory ana entitlement spending.
Question 9. What controls will there be in the future cost of this Crop Insurance

Proposal, since it will create a permanent mandatory spending requirement?

Response. The current Federal Crop Insurance Program contains a permanent
mandatory spending requirement with regard to premium subsidies. Under both the
current program and the proposal, spending for premium subsidy depends upon the

degree to which farmers choose to participate in the program. The amount of this
entitlement is defined in the proposed law, just as it is in the current law. Costs
will be higher than under current law because more acreage is expected to be in-

sured and the subsidy is somewhat greater. The maximum outlay for this subsidy
will depend upon the premium rates established to achieve actuarial soundness,
total insured acreage, and future prices and yields of agricultural commodities.



78

Based upon experience with these variables, excessive growth in outlays in the out

years is not to be anticipated.
The other comjponent of the mandatory spending is not new. It represents only

the movement of administrative expense reimbursements to insurance companies
from the discretionary to the mandatory account. The proposal does not specify any
rate of compensation for payment of administrative reimbursements to insurance

companies. Reimbursement of Reinsured Company's administrative expenses is an
adnunistrative determination made by FCIC, same as under present law. In the

1995 Appropriations Act, Congress limited the reimbursement rate to 31 percent
which is renected in our budget estimates for implementing the Reform proposal.
In other words, we plan

to continue limiting the reimbursement rate to 31 percent.
The administration oelieves that the Congress wiU have as much oversight over this

administrative determination as it has under present law.

The expense items are established by the terms of the Act. The Corporation may
only reimburse for administrative expenses. The coverage is limited to a percent of

yield. Only the amount and extent of participation is unknown and that is the factor

that makes funding by advance appropriation so unworkable.
There are essentially three engines that drive the costs for this program: acres

enrolled, market prices for agricultural commodities, and premium rates. The ad-

ministration's costs for the proposal are based upon expectations that a high per-

centage of eligible acres will be enrolled immediately
in the catastrophic program,

and that the potential market for buy-up coverage likely will be saturated by the

end of the first 5
years.

Future prices of agricultural commodities are not expected
to increase sharply from current levels. Thus, the potential for excessive nature

growth in entitlement stimulated by these two sources seems limited. Premium
rates have two effects upon program costs: (1) each dollar of added premium in-

creases outlays for direct premium subsidy and for delivery expenses by about 65—
70 cents, and (2) each added dollar of premium for a fixed acreage base reduces ex-

cess losses by 1 dollar or adds 1 dollar to program reserves. Costs are projected to

increase raUier sharply in the first years of the reform because more acres are en-

rolled and premium rates are increasing as needed to achieve actuarial sufficiency.

However, this rate of growth in
outlays

is not indicative of the longer term because
the majority of the eligible acres will be enrolled and premium rates should stabilize

in the out years.

Question 10. Some organizations are strongly opposed to mandating participa-
tion in any program. What participation rate do you project for program crops and
nonprogram crops under this proposal?

Response. The administration has not separately estimated participation by cat-

egory of crop. Enrollment in the catastrophic level of coverage is a condition of eligi-

bility to obtain benefits under other agricultural programs; thus, the administration

expects total participation for program crops to meet or exceed the signup for those

programs. The reform proposal fiirther requires the producer to enroll all crops con-

stituting at least 10 percent of the total expected crop income of that farmer. Since
most farmers grow both program and nonprogram crops, a high percentage of

nonprogram crops also should be enrolled. Overall, the administration expects par-

ticipation to reach 80 percent of insurable acreage, up from 33 percent today.

Question 11. Is the point of increased participation to reduce the demand for

ad hoc disaster or to reduce loss ratios in current FCIC programs?

Response. The point of increased participation is
clearly

to reduce the demand
for ad hoc disaster. Despite the Crop Insurance Program s $900 million-per-year

price tag, Congress has adopted ad hoc disaster bills in 8 out of last 8 years at an

average cost of $1 billion per year. Farmers fail to buy crop insurance thinking they
will be bailed out in time of crisis.

For farmers, disaster bills are uncertain. In a crisis, their aid depends on national

politics. Victims of local disasters often get less than those of wider disasters, even

though individual farmers suffer just as much. This uncertainty is also bad for tax-

payers. Public concerns over disaster payments to farmers who could have pur-
chased subsidized crop insurance and failed to do so cast a political cloud over the

process. It only seems proper to establish a subsidized risk management program
wherein the program recipients pay for part of their coverage as opposed to the to-

tally taxpayer funded ad hoc disaster programs.
Tne legislation links crop insurance with other farm programs and Farmers'

Home A£ninistration (FmHA) loans. With this linkage, crop insurance participation
should top 80 percent of insurable acres. Without linkage, participation would be

less, potentially weakening the overall credibility of the proposal as a means for re-

placing future ad hoc disaster bills.
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Although the intent of increased participation is to reduce the demand for ad hoc
disaster the results are expected to be favorable for the loss ratio due to the in-

creased spread of risk created by the higher participation levels.

Question 12. Will increased participation at the proposed buy-up levels reduce
loss ratios?

Response. The exact impact of the increased
participation

at the proposed buy-
up levels is unknown. However, we believe that nigher participation in the higher
levels of coverage would lead to lower premiums and a lower loss ratio over the long
term. The current premium rating structure is based on the assumption that the
loss ratios at all levels will be equal over an extended time period. However, any
change in loss ratios are correlated with the change in the population of insureds

buying the product or due to variations in the yearly experience across all insureds.

Therefore, if the newly insured group is statistically dilTerent than those that cur-

rently purchase insurance, the loss ratios will change.

Question 13. If participation is lower than your projection, what impact will that
have on your estimates of the cost of delivering and operating the program?

Response. Assuming that the total participation remains 80 percent or more due
to linkage, each percentage point lower participation per year in the buy-up cov-

erages reduces total estimated outlays over the first 5 years by about $70 million.

Transferring those acres from the buy-up coverage to the catastrophic level saves
only the incremental amount of the premium subsidy (i.e., the difference between
the 60 percent and 75 percent of price subsidy rate) and the delivery expenses asso-
ciated with the buy-up premium. Assuming that participation in both the cata-

strophic coverage and the buy-up coverage each decline oy one percentage point
each year (i.e., two percentage points total decline) reduces estimated outlays by
about $170 million for the first 5 years.

Reference. The administration allows a dual delivery system: Farm Service

Agency (FSA) and private insurance companies may provide catastrophic coverage
at the farmers' discretion. Private insurers will be allowed to provide additional cov-

erage at higher levels.

Question 14. Are there any circumstances under which the administration would
not strongly support a dual delivery system?

Response. No. The administration views the dual delivery system as being es-
sential for the broad coverage needed to deliver the crop insurance and catastrophic
relief coverage nationwide. The dual delivery system is also in keeping with the one-

stop shopping system for agricultural programs which the administration supports.

Reference. The administration's
proposal provides basic catastrophic coverage at

50-percent yield and 60-percent price selection for program crops.
Question 15. Since many farmers will be interested in purchasing additional

coverage at higher levels, how will the cost of higher levels of coverage compare to
current costs?

Response. Assuming constant premium rates, the farmer's out-of-pocket cost
would decline by about 17 percent at the 65-percent coverage level and by about 8
percent at the 75-percent coverage level. For example, a farmer who now pays $5-
per-acre to insure a crop at the 65-percent coverage level would pay about $4.15
under the reform. If the current cost of 75-percent coverage to the farmer was $8-
per-acre, the cost under the proposal would be $7.36. As premium rates change to
reflect insurance experience in an area, these reductions must be stated with regard
to the amount that otherwise would be payable by the farmer. For example, if FCIC
found it necessary to increase the premium rate for 65-percent coverage by 15 per-
cent, the farmer would save only 2

percent compared to the previous year, but 17-

percent compared with the amount tnat otherwise would be payable under the high
premium rates.

Question 16. If the basic coverage were established at a level of 50/50 in-
stead of 50/60, would this provide sufficient funds to make it possible to price higher
levels of coverage at more attractive rates compared to current prices?

Response. Reducing the basic coverage to a level of 50-percent yield/50-percent
price would reduce estimated costs by about $275 million for the first 5 years. This
would permit an increase in subsidy for the buy-up coverage from an average of
about 40 percent of premium to about 44 percent of premium.

Question 17. What are the estimated costs for the FSA to deliver crop insurance
policies?
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Response. It is difficult to accurately project the exact costs associated with the
new Crop Insurance Reform Program because participation rates are difficult to pre-
dict and additional start up costs may be necessary before the program is operating
at optimum levels. The Fiscal Year 1995 President's Budget requested $330,188,000
for delivery expenses for activities handled by reinsured companies. In addition,
ASCS expects to fully use $40 million in producer service fees for handling 800,000
basic catastrophic insurance policies. Discussions are ongoing between FCIC and
ASCS concermng the nature oi field operations.

Question 18. What other costs do you anticipate the FSA to incur to provide nec-

essary support services for the Crop Insurance Program?

Response. New ecjuipment may be necessary for local county USDA oflices de-

f)ending
upon the delivery mechanism chosen to administer the Crop Insurance Re-

orm. There are no funds in the 1995 Infoshare budget dedicated to the delivery of
the new Crop Insurance Program, therefore, any future automated data processing
needs related to crop insurance reform will be accommodated within funds currently
available to Infoshare. Existing automation systems are being reviewed to deter-

mine their adequacy and capabilities.

Question 19. Does the budget estimate include adequate funds to reimburse the
FSA for expenses incurred in connection with the Crop Insurance Program?

Response. FCIC currently has sufficient funds budgeted to cover the delivery ex-

penses.

Reference. The administration's proposal includes a processing fee of $50-per-

crop-per-county, not to exceed $100 per farmer.
Ouestion 20. In those cases where a crop is produced by the same farmer in

multiple counties, how will the fee be calculated and how will losses be calculated?

Response. The fee is for processing the application and the grower wUl be re-

quired to submit an application for each county. Therefore, the grower will be

cnarged $50 for each county. For instance, if a producer plants corn in four counties,
he will pav a total of $200. Each of those four counties will be independent for the

purpose 01*^1083 calculations.

Question 21. Will unit coverage be offered as an incentive to purchase additioneil

coverage?

Response. Final decisions have not been made regarding the number of units
that will be available under the catastrophic level oi coverage. However, for the

higher levels of coverage, unit structure will remain as flexible as it presently is.

Reference. Many producers are concerned that the $50 fee wUl quickly escalate.

Question 22. What is the total amount of revenue you project will be generated
by the fee and bow will those revenues be used?

Response. The fee is expected to generate up to $40 million of total revenue in

the first year. Fees paid to private insurers can be used to offset expenses in the

delivery and service of crop insurance policies. Payments to the Department may
be used to offset its similar expenses.

Question 23. Will it take a change in legislation to adjust the fee, or is there

administrative authority to change the fee?

Response. Under the current proposed legislation, it would require legislation to

adjust the fee; FCIC would not have the authority to administratively direct a

change.

Reference. Currently ASCS and FCIC calculate actual and program yields dif-

ferently and ASCS keeps records on the basis of a farming operation rather than

per crop per county.
Question 24. Do you anticipate utilizing the FCIC method for calculating yields?

Response. Yes, yields will be calculated for both catastrophic coverage and buy-
up coverage on the basis of FCIC's Actual Production History program which was
modified to make improvements that became efl'ective for the 1994 crop year.

Question 25. Are there other differences between FCIC and ASCS definitions

and regulations that will have to be clarified?

Response. There are several areas that will need to be clarified, farm unit,

entities, prevented planting, and reporting dates. ASCS defines a unit as con-

sisting of one Farm Serial Number, under FCIC current program, there are numer-
ous unit structures including shares, practices, section, or farm serial numbers.
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Final decisions concerning the number of units under catastrophic coverage have
not been made.

Currently ASCS does not recognize a verbal partnership as a farming entity.
Under current FCIC procedures a verbal partnership is considered a legal entity.

Currently ASCS will consider acreage that nas been planted and failed as prevented
planting under certain programs. Under FCIC's policy acreage which the producer
was prevented from planting due to an insured peril occurring during the insurance

period will be considered as prevented planting. ASCS dates for reporting planted
acres as well as dates to sign up for program benefits are later than most dates for

making application for insurance and
reporting acreage for crop insurance purposes.

There are other areas of discrepancy between the two agencies. FCIC and ASCS
are currently identifying and reconciling these differences.

Question 26. Since the FSA may be involved in the delivery of catastrophic cov-

erage, how will its loss adjustment service be carried out?

Response. Loss adjustment service will be carried out similar to the way Federal

Crop Insurance Corporation (FCIC) administers loss adjustment on policies written
on Federal

paper.
Producers electing catastrophic coverage through their local FSA offices will notify

the FSA office when there is damage to the crop.
The Risk Management program will be created and administered within the FSA

area by a Risk Management Specialist.
The Specialist will be responsible for having

available an adequate staff of loss adjusters under contract to carry out loss adjust-
ment service in the area. Loss adjusters would be under contract to perform loss

adjustment activities similar to what FCIC is now doing. It will not create problems
if the FSA office covered multiple counties. FCIC utilized this system witn super-
visors responsible for loss adjustment activities in dozens of counties without any
problems.
FCIC has a current Usting of qualified loss adjusters who would be available to

perform loss adjustment activities; however, there would be some increased cost as-
sociated with recruiting and/or training additional loss adjusters.

Question 27. Do you anticipate any role for FSA committees in administering
the Crop Insurance F^rogram?

Response. We have not identified all of the areas where we believe that FSA
committees' involvement in the Crop Insurance F*rogram would be beneficial. How-
ever, we do anticipate that the FSA committees wUlbe actively involved in helping
to administer the Crop Insurance Program, particularly at the State and local lev-

els. For example, a major role for FSA committees would be to serve as an impor-
tant source for local information, such as, uninsured crops that should be included
in the program; crop conditions; instances of possible program abuse; and crop loss

experience.

Reference. There is a perception among producers that there is widespread
abuse in the Crop Insurance Program.
Question 28. How will the administration's proposal address the concerns that

there are abuses in the program—particularly in loss adjustment?

Response. FCIC created a compliance division several years ago consisting of a

headquarters office and six regional offices across the United States to identify and
address program abuse. We plan to strengthen our compliance function and expand
our reviews into areas where problems are known to exist. We also plan to focus
on a team approach with the reinsured cornpanies to attack program abuse.
While the administration's Crop Reform Proposal does not specifically target fraud

and program abuse, we have many actions underway to address the problem. In
order to reach our goal of a 1.0 loss ratio, we will work with the reinsured compa-
nies to ensure that controls over loss adjustment activities are strengthened. We
plan to increase oversight of reinsured companies and place stronger emphasis on
prevention and detection of program abuse and fraud.

Senator Craig's Questions

Reference. You estimate that the linkage provisions will result in participation
increasing from the current 33 percent to 80 percent of insurable acres.

Question 1. How did you arrive at that estimate?

Response. The estimate of 80 percent is a consensus of departmental analysts
regarding the normal level of participation in commodity programs. It is based on
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the requirement in the proposal that producers must enroll in the catastrophic level

of protection as a condition of eligibility to receive Federal benefits under other agri-
cuftural commodity, price support and conservation programs in addition to FmHA
loans.

Reference. Farm Bureau contends that the reason for the current low participa-
tion rate is the insurance product and suggests that by changing the product, it

would make possible the program to exist as a voluntary program.
Question 2. How do you answer the Farm Bureau suggestion?

Response. There are numerous explanations regarding the reluctance of produc-
ers to purchase crop insurance on a voluntary basis and many, including the Farm
Bureau's suggestion, are le^timate. FCIC is constantly reviewing the insurance

products and their applicability to different geographic areas ana growing condi-

tions. Of specific importance is producer and producer association input to policy
and procedure changes. Recent innovations include providing more flexibility to pro-
ducers in defining the tvpe and amount of coverage required for individual cir-

cumstances. These considerations include the ability to self-insure, individual cur-

rent cash flow situation, misinformation regarding policy terms and conditions and
the knowledge that a widespread disaster will be addressed by ad hoc disaster relief

as enacted eight of the last 8 years.
In order to reduce producer pressure to enact ad hoc disaster, the administration's

proposal requires a minimum of catastrophic risk protection for grower participation
in many USDA farm programs. This linkage is critical to ensure adequate producer
participation in the program. Even with the implementation of producer suggested
changes, a significant number of producers would choose to waive the option of crop
insurance for some other means of risk protection. The processing fee of $50 per
crop not to exceed $100, does not represent a significant economic burden to the pro-
ducers.

Reference. Uninsured crops wiU have a standing disaster program under your
proposal. The list of insured crop in your information packet, summary data section,
shows that the highest percent of crops value insured is com at 19.493 percent and
this goes down to the least percent value crops, temples, at .008 percent.
Question 3A. How many acres are uninsured? By crop and by county.

Response. The enclosed table, "1993 Uninsured Acres for Insured Crops," shows
total uninsured acres by insured crop.

* The enclosed map, "Insured Crop Programs,
Number of Acres Uninsured (1992), shows total uninsured acres by county. Also
enclosed are tables for each county in Idaho showing uninsured acres by crop.

^

Question 3B. You list the total dollar value percent at 75.736 percent when the

highest single crop is 19.93 percent and it goes down from there. Is this an error?

Response. No, this is not an error. We currently offer insurance on crops with
a total economic value of about $70.0 billion. This represents 75.736 percent of the
total value of all crops grown in the country. Com, with an economic value of $18.0
billion represents 19.493 percent of the total crop revenue produced in the country.

Question 3C. What would the payment rate be for some of the specific commod-
ities by county such as dry peas in Latah County Idaho, or barley in Twin Falls

County?

Response. For the 1994 crop year, the maximum price election for smooth green
and yellow dry peas is $0.08 per pound. Thus, producers in Latah County who took
the catastrophic coverage would receive 4.8 cents per pound for losses exceeding 50

percent of the individual's average yield. The maximum price election for barley is

$1.90 per bushel. Sixty percent of the amount is $1.14 per bushel.

Question 3D. What will be the payment average for uninsured crops in relation
to tne insured crops?

Response. Producers of noninsured crops will be eligible for assistance once the
area average yield, as determined by the Corporation, or an equivalent measure in

the event yield data are not available, for that crop falls below 65 percent of the

expected area yield.
Once the trigger yield is met, the producer will be paid at the same rate as the

insured producer electing the catastrophic coverage plan. Payments will be made for

losses greater than 50 percent of the individual established
yield

at 60 percent of
the average market price, or any comparable coverage set by the Corporation.

* Retained in Committee files.
6 Ibid.
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Reference: As I understand it, the Nonstandard Classification System (NCS) is

designed to apply to persons who had losses in nearly every year. The losses of those

persons far exceeds paid premiums. NCS is intended to reduce the insurance guar-
antee and increase the premium rate for those individuals.
The Department of Agriculture Appropriations bill for fiscal year 1994 prohibited

FCIC from using funds to pay premiums in counties where the loss ratio was great-
er than 1.10 more than 70 percent of the years that the ci-op had been insured in
that county.
Your figures show that 3.6 percent of the active policies were included in this pro-

gram in fiscal year 1994.
The methodology of implementing this requirement has two impacts that seem to

discriminate against certain policyholders:

1. It penalizes those counties where FCIC coverage may not have been available
but they have suffered a drought or some disaster over a period of years that

adjusted their yields outside the norm.

2. Lets producers maintain lower rates who have not met the NCS standards in-

dividually but who happen to fall within a county that does not meet the
standards.

Question 4A- How much was saved by this action with the 3.5 percent?

Response. NCS adjustments required under the Agriculture Rural Development,
Food and Drug Administration and Related Agencies Appropriations Act, (Appro-
priation Act) (referred to modified NCS to distinguish it from NCS in nontarget
counties) were implemented for the 1994 crop year. It will not be possible to assess
the impact of the NCS program on affected insureds untU the crop year has ended
and all insurance data related to premiums and indemnities are available. For most
crops, preliminary estimates can be expected by the end of calendar year 1994.

Reference. You were mandated to take this action in certain counties but were
not prohibited from making this a uniform action nation-wide on an individual con-
tract basis.

Question 4B. What would have been the savings if your action had been applied
individually to all producers? Why did you choose not to take the action on an indi-
vidual basis?

Response. At the time the Appropriation Act was enacted, standard NCS selec-
tions had already been completed and critical policyholder contract change dates
had either passed or were near. Standard NCS selections had been made on a na-
tionwide basis affecting the largest volume crops insured and the policyholders for
those crops. FCIC had very limited time to properly notify producers that were af-

fected by modified NCS, and refile actuarial documents; therefore, it was critical to
take actions needed to

coniply with the
Appropriations Act while not adversely af-

fecting all areas. Had FCIC implemented tne provisions on a nationwide basis for
nonfailed bounties very minimal additional cost savings would have been realized
due to the relatively small volume of insured policyholders represented for these
crops in these counties.

Question 5. You indicated that the NCS program will be expanded for the 1995
crop year. How wiU it be expanded?

Response. The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 (OBRA 93) directed
the FCiC to take steps necessary to improve actuarial soundness of the Federal crop
Insurance Program and to achieve, by the fiscal year beginning October 1, 1995, a
projected overall loss ratio that is not to exceed 1.10.

For the 1995 crop year FCIC is expanding the NCS process consistent with the
intent of the Appropriations Act and OBRA 93. Initiatives are as follows:

1. Continue the standard NCS program on the 11 major crops in all counties in-
cluded for the 1994 crop year.

2. Expand the NCS program to all applicable crops for the 1995 crop year as indi-
cated below.

Notification requirements specified by NCS regulations for insureds subject to
NCS adjustment cannot be met for some crops. Expansion to these crops is sched-
uled for the 1996 crop year.
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enced similar production losses. Under these procedures, indemnities paid to the in-

sured are adjusted downward to reflect the loss in production which exceeds the
normal variability in county yields. Therefore, the adjusted insurance experience for

the insured is improved and NCS adjustments may no longer apply. Flexibility in

applying these procedures is provided in determining yearly average and long term
county average yield when sufficient data is not available or changes in production
trends alter disaster adjustment determinations.

Question 7. Were some of these factors used in fiscal year 1994? If not, why not?

Response. Yes. FCIC utilized higher adjusted loss ratio thresholds and disaster

adjustments in instances where they applied (e.g., the adjusted loss ratio for soy-
beans in several southeastern States was increased from 4.0 to 5.0).

Reference. A modified Actual Production History (APH) is used as the basis for

this proposal. In my State, and several western States, we have had a serious

drought situation that has extended over a number of the past 7 or 8 years. This
has had the effect of dramatically changing the production histories for the short-
term (10 years) but would not dramatically change over the long term (30 years).
The Midwest, with the floods this past year that will extend for some producers

for a number of years, will have the same result.

Question 8. How will your program take into consideration this sort of situation?

Response. FCIC is considering several options to address this problem. The op-
tion wnich may be the most promising is referred to as Catastrophic Yield Adjust-
ment. Under this approach, the insured's APH yield used to determine coverage will
not be less than the insured's actual average yield or a percentage of an FCIC esti-

mated jdeld for the individual farm. Other possible options include the continued
use of current yield limitations which limit the reduction in the APH yield from 1

year to the next by a set percentage, presently 10 percent. Yield limitations are not

entirely effective at maintaining the APH yield where several successive crop fail-

ures occur and to a lesser extent when there is total crop failure. Another option
is to allow the producer to buy up to a higher yield such as the insured's average
yield after eliminating the catastrophic year. However, the premium charged the

producer for such coverage may be prohibitive depending on the individual situa-
tion.

Question 9. K counties that had been declared disaster counties were able to not
have that year counted in the yield average, what would be the cost—or using ASCS
yield or T-yield?

Response. The impact of using a Catastrophic (CAT) Yield Adjustment, where
the CAT yield was set at 70 to 80 percent of the T-Yield, has been estimated for
wheat and cotton. In these studies, the CAT adjustment increased APH yields for
wheat from 16 to 20 percent over the actual average yield and 39 to 45 percent for
cotton. Other studies have indicated that losses will increase approximately 1.5 per-
cent for each percent increase in the adjusted APH yield over the actual average
yield. If the T-Yield or ASCS yield, which is approximately 10 percent higher than
the T-Yield, were used as the CAT yield, losses would increase accordingly.

Question 10. What would the numbers and the cost be if the 1.1 standard were
used nationwide on an individual producer basis?

Response. The actual number of those selected would have been very minimal
over those selected under standard and modified NCS had the 1.1 loss ratio been
applied on an individual basis. This is due to the fact that under standard NCS se-
lections the rate was not adjusted forward to reflect 1993 rates as was the case
under the modified NCS. Adjusting to the 1993 rates prior to making selections ad-

justed the policyholders history to reflect the effects of a rate increase which de-
creased the loss ratio for those insureds eligible for selection under modified NCS.
Standard NCS selections were not adjusted on the basis of 1993 premium rates,
which resulted in their selection for NCS on their actual insurance history.

Question 11. What is the risk for the insurance companies versus the risk to the

taxpayer under your proposal?

Response. Private insurers will have virtually the same risk borne under the
current MPCI Program. While FCIC has not developed a plan, it intends that the

companies will share in the risk at the CAT level just as they do under MPCI. In-

creased delivery and subsidy costs (risk to taxpayer) compared to the risk borne by
the private sector insurance companies have not been analyzed.
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Question 12. How many farmers who have received disaster payments in the

past few years will not receive payments under your proposal?

Response. Two categories of producers would not receive benefits under the pro-

posal as compared to ad hoc disaster programs. First, those who fail to enroll in the

catastrophic protection would not be eligible. Some number of these individuals
would not be eligible for reasons such as violation of the conservation or the con-
trolled substance provisions of the Food Security Act of 1985, or other reasons for

ineligibility for Federal program benefits. Others decline to participate in Federal

programs for personal reasons. These individuals possibly failed to file disaster
claims even if eligible, and likely would refuse to participate in the catastrophic
coverage. The other category of persons who will not receive benefits are those who
suffer losses between 40 and 50 percent of yield. Ad hoc disaster assistance to unin-
sured producers typically began to compensate at

yield
losses exceeding 40 percent

whereas the reform proposal requires a 50 percent loss.

Question 13. How will the premium rebate to the insurance companies work?

Response. Under the current Standard Reinsurance Agreement (SRA), all com-

panies receive the same administrative reimbursement as a percentage of premium
written to cover operating and administrative costs. Under the proposed legislation,

premium rates will be restructured to reflect both direct premium subsidies and the
insurers expense reimbursement allowance, a more realistic calculation. More effi-

cient companies will be allowed to pass along lower overhead costs in reduced rates

charged to farmers, creating a more competitive market.

Reference. Some of the counties in my State where the NCS has been imple-
mented are having difficulty getting yield data for crops where policies have been
written in the past.

Question 14. How long do they have to wait and will this continue to be the
case?

Response. In the context of the current Insurance Pro-am and NCS Operations,
it is not clear how the availability of yield data and policies written in the past are
connected. If additional details on this issue can be lumished, a response will be

provided as quickly as possible.

Question 15. How many States could meet the 1.1 criteria?

Response. The 1.1 criterion is not an absolute
ceiling

on the annual loss ratio

but instead is an expectation over a period of years. In its Blueprint for Financial
Success published in the FEDERAL REGISTER on April 6, 1994 (pages 16167-16174),
FCIC requested readers to comment on the appropriate means by which achieve-
ment of the standard can be measured. FCIC also has cooperated with the Eco-
nomic Research Service to conduct research aimed at defining a "normalized loss

ratio," which is a measure of adequacy of current rates after at^usting for abnormal
weather. For example, the disaster in the midwestem States in the 1993 crop year
is an abnormality that should occur infrequently. It would be difficult to dem-
onstrate achievement of the 1.1 criterion if this year is included in a short period
of years. Once public comments have been received and evaluated and the research
is completed, FCIC will be in a position to measure achievement of the criterion.

Senator McConnell's Questions

Question 1. Kentucky is attempting to find new crops and diversify
—^how would

a tomato or squash producer be impacted in an area-wide loss designation? What
assistance would the producer be eligible for? What if this producer is the only one

suflering a loss in the county, what would the producer qualify for?

Response. If there is no crop insurance policy in the county for the crop, protec-
tion for the commodity would be provided through the Noninsured Assistance Pro-

gram provisions of the administration's proposal. If an area's average production for

tne crop falls below 65 percent of the determined area yield, Noninsured Assistance

Program benefits would be available to the producer if the producer's individual pro-
duction is less than 60 percent of his or her average yield. If the area average pro-
duction for the crop does not fall below 65

percent
of the determined area yield,

there would be no assistance for the individual producer's loss. We feel that this cov-

erage is superior to the status quo because several area losses in one, two, or three
States may not be enough to necessitate congressional action. Under the adininistra-

tion's proposal, these losses would trigger assistance. Under the current Disaster
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Assistance Program, there is no
protection

for the individual's loss if congressional
action is not necessitated by a widespread crop disaster.

Question 2. Why does Kentucky have less than 29 percent of eligible acres cov-
ered by FCIC?

Response. The forces shaping a farmer's decision to purchase crop insurance are

complex. Participation in the program is voluntary and, while it is subsidized, costs
the farmer money. Participation is affected by the availability of insurance programs
for crops grown, understanding of program features, the perceived value of the prod-
uct, economic strength of the farm operation, prevailing weather conditions, avail-

ability of alternative risk management strategies, and the advice of authorities like
extension agents, bankers, and farm managers.
One of the most frequently cited reasons for low participation is the consistent

availability of ad hoc disaster payments. Most farmers are reluctant to spend money
for assistance that they can receive free. In this context, our proposal to reform the
Crop Insurance Program to provide a catastrophic loss benefit for a small fee is the
most cost effective way of reconciling these programs into one coherent risk manage-
ment policy.

Question 3. Over the last several years we have had seven different disaster re-
lief bills approved by Congress responding^ to emergencies involving widespread crop
loss. What is to stop Congress from passing future ad hoc crop loss disaster relief?

Response. The administration's proposal contains protection through the conven-
tional crop insurance programs, group risk program, catastrophic crop insurance
protection and noninsured assistance program which would provide assistance to all

producers of food and fiber. These programs would provide, at the minimum, the
equivalent of recent ad hoc disaster assistance provided by Congress. It is the intent
of Administration to reduce the pressure on Congress to enact ad hoc disaster relief

by providing sufficient protection to producers through the proposal. A major compo-
nent of the proposal is the requirement that the producer purchase at least the cata-

strophic level of crop insurance, where it is available, to participate in USDA pro-
grams such as the Price Support, Production Adjustment, Conservation Programs
and FmHA Loans. The administration's proposal contains specific measures to en-
sure that these linkage requirements are enacted throu^ the following legislative
changes:

Repealing section 208 (7 U.S.C. subsection 14461.) Disaster payments for 1991
through 1995 crops of peanuts, soybeans, sugar beets, and sugarcane.
The Food, Agriculture, Conservation, and Trade Act of 1990 would be amended

by striking Chapters 1, 2, and 3 of subtitle B, Disaster Assistance, Title XXII effec-
tive on the date of enactment of the administrations proposal.

Amending the Balanced Budget and Emergency Deficit Control Act of 1985 by
striking subparagraph (i) and inserting the following new subparagraph:

If, for any fiscal year, appropriations for discretionary accounts are enacted
that the President designates as emergency reauirements and that Congress
so designates in statute, the adjustments shall be the total of such appro-
priations in discretionary accounts designated as emergency requirements
and the outlays flowing in all years from such a appropriations: Provided,
that this provision shall not apply to appropriations to cover agricultural
crop disaster assistance. [Emphasis added.]

It is anticipated that participation in the Crop Insurance Programs will increase
from the current 33-percent participation to 80-percent participation as a result of
the linkage requirements.

Question 4. How was the level of catastrophic insurance determined?

Response. The level of catastrophic coverage was estabUshed so that the pay-
ment 15 competitive with recent ad hoc disaster programs in the event of a major
disaster affecting the producer. Several of the recent ad hoc disaster programs have
been subject to proration of benefits at 50.04 percent due to budget limitations. The
level of catastrophic coverage offers greater l^nefits unless the loss is quite small.
At the 100 percent proration of disaster benefits, the reform proposal still is very
competitive, especially if deficiency payments are large. The Department believes
that an alternative to the ad hoc programs must offer equivalent benefits if it is to
be credible.

Reference. Many people were adversely affected by the 1988 Drought and the
1993 Flood.
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Reference. Many people were adversely affected by the 1988 drought and the
1993 flood.

Question 5. If given these same circumstance how many producers would not be
covered under the Department's new FCIC proposal?

Response. Only those who failed to enroll in the catastrophic level of coverage
or who produced a crop not covered by the reform proposal. Crops not covered under
the reform program would include those crops not currently eligible for crop insur-

ance and not covered under the Noninsured Assistance Program (NAP). The crops
covered under NAP include food and fiber crops. For example, this excludes orna-
mental aquaculture, but includes food aquaculture.

Reference. The current Crop Insurance Program has been inconsistent, costly,
and fraught with administrative problems.
Question 6. What alternatives has the FCIC looked at?

Response. FCIC is undergoing many changes which will directly affect the way
we do Dusiness in the insurance mdustry and the manner in which the Crop Insur-
ance Program will benefit the individual farmer and crop producer.

FCIC has aggressively implemented changes that support fiscal responsibility
while assuring eifective risk management for farmers, such as:

• ofiering more effective late and prevented planting coverage which automati-

cally covers farmers in these situations;

• modifying the methods by which insured
yields

are determined so that farmers
can use tneir own records more effectively. Farmers who consistently produce
better than average yield will have insurance consistent with their capability,
as will those farmers who consistently produce less than the average jaeld;

• introducing a database of taxpayer identification numbers that will track the
insurance experience

of individual growers and assures that this information
is used in yield determinations;

• expanding the Nonstandard Classification System (NCS) to certain individual

producers within counties which contained a loss ratio, after applying 1993

rates, greater than 1.10 for more than 70 percent of the years tne crop had
been insured in the county. FCIC is expanding the NCS consistent with the

goals of this appropriated direction, and will expand the NCS program to all

crops which apply, for the 1995 crop year; and
• making incremental changes, which began implementation in 1992, to the

Standard Reinsurance Agreement and will impose greater risk upon commer-
cial insurance companies. This indicates that FCIC has made significant strides

in working toward a sound insurance program.

FCIC has also increased emphasis on compliance to the program policies, develop-
ing new underwriting procedures, and developing changes in premium rates to re-

flect experience, all of which contributes to the goal of fiscal responsibility and offer-

ingproducers an attractive insurance product.
These are just a few examples of major improvements which FCIC has imple-

mented to make the Crop Insurance Program a more financially responsible pro-

gram. In reviewing the program, we considered permanent disaster legislation or

crop insurance reform.

Question 7. How does this proposal increase competition among insurance com-

panies?

Response. Private insurers wUl experience increased competition in the place-
ment of catastrophic level coverage policies

and subsequent "buy-ups" to higher lev-

els of coverage. If current participation figures are correct and hnkage requirements
implemented, private insurers will need to compete strongly with the Farm Service

Agency and other insurers in the placement of catastrophic level coverage to in-

crease premium volume. This alone should become a basis for the private insurer
to steer potential applicants for MPCI from Federal delivery and to promote and sell

"buy-up coverages.

Question 8. What risk has been borne by insurance companies?

Response. The Standard Reinsurance Agreement (SRA) between FCIC and pri-
vate insurers, uses both proportional (quota share) and nonproportional (stop loss)

reinsurance to allocate MPCI underwriting gains and losses by State by reinsurance
fund. The SRA has three reinsurance funds (Assigned Risk, Developmental, and
Commercial) in which an insurer may designate a policy depending on the amount
of premium and potential loss the insurer wishes to retain. The insurer's reinsur-
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ance loss is calculated by fund for each State, with the total of all States being the

insurer's total underwriting gain or loss. The maximum possible underwriting loss

exposure in the 1994 SRA for $1.00 of retained premium is $1.10 in the Assigned
Risk Fund, $1.32 in the Developmental Fund, and $1.75 in the Commercial Fund.

Question 9. How will current coverage at the 65-percent- and 75-percent level

compare in premium cost to the Department's proposal?

Response. Assuming constant premium rates, the farmer's out-of-pocket cost

would decline by about 17 percent at the 65-percent coverage level and by about 8

percent at the 75-percent coverage level. For example, a farmer who now pays $5

per acre to insure a crop at the 65-percent coverage level would pay about $4.15
under the reform. If the current cost of 75-percent coverage to the farmer was $8

per acre, the cost under the proposal would be $7.36. As premium rates change to

reflect insurance experience in an area, these reductions must be stated with
regard

to the amount that otherwise would be payable by the farmer. For example, if FCIC
found it necessary to increase the premium rate for 65-percent coverage by 15 per-

cent, the farmer would save only 2 percent compared to the previous year,
but 17

percent compared with the amount that otherwise would be payable under the high-
er premium rates.

Senator Baucus' Questions

Reference. Much of what Fve heard at today's hearing sounds good. However,
there are several key points which I've not heara addressed. These are points I feel

impact this debate significantly and I'd like to have them discussed.

I believe that as this Agency, the Federal Crop Insurance Corporation, is reorga-
nized into a Farm Service Agency through the reorganization of the USDA, several

questions arise.

Question lA. Is the FCIC a regulatory agency or a policy formulating agency?

Question IB. Can they perform both functions?

Question IC. Are thev doing a good job now? (While these questions might ap-

pear inconsequential to the direct debate, I would disagree. If we are going to in-

crease the budget of the FCIC operation and increase the risk exposure of tne Fed-
eral Government, I believe these points are very relevant.)

Response. The Federal Crop Insurance Corporation (FCIC) regardless of the re-

organization of USDA will be both a regulatory agency and a policy formulating

agency. As a Federal agency, the FCIC establishes the standards for the administra-

tion of the multiple peril crop insurance program. This encompasses a wide range
of areas including data reporting requirements, yield determination, and underwrit-

ing methodologies and procedures, loss adjustment procedures, and the operating

agreements that companies enter into to sell and service
crop

insurance.

Additionally, FCIC serves the role of a regulatory agency oecause it is responsible
for the overall program oversight. The FCIC has a compliance function with six field

offices throughout the United States and conducts a variety of reviews of the policies
sold and serviced by the entities authorized through agreements or contracts to sell

and service multiple peril crop insurance policies.
The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 (OBRA 93) also directs FCIC to

take actions needed to achieve a long-term projected loss ratio of 1.1 by October

1995. FCIC is committed to achieving this goal. Sound management to achieve the

goal will promote the long-term stability of^the program and help maintain the fi-

nancial stability of American Agriculture. To tnat extent FCICf has developed a

Blueprint for Financial Soundness which is a comprehensive plan to achieve the tar-

geted loss ratio mandated by OBRA 93. This plan details 13 different areas for im-

provement which target the regulatory and policy formulating functions of the

FCIC.
FCIC is very confident that it can perform both functions and feels that its past

record in these areas reflect such. Recent General Accounting Office and Office of

Inspector General Audits have recognized improvements that FCIC has made in

these areas.

Question 2. Under the new actual production history rules, would it be possible
for a farmer to change a policy for a specific farm or field from winter wneat to

spring wheat weather prevented planting of the initial crop? Under current rules,

a farmer in this situation would be treated poorly. Even if said farmer had a
spring

wheat history in a different sector of the farm, for this field, his APH would be
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lower than ever that for a beginning farmer. That situation is not appiopriate and
should be addressed.

Response. For the 1995 crop year FCIC has developed draft procedure, under
consideration within the Crop Insurance Industry which, if approved, wiU address
this particular situation. The proposed procedural change allows producers who
plant a practice, or variety on a farm without a history to obtain higher yield offers

based on other farms that same practice, type or variety. In the situation you de-

scribe, if spring wheat histoiy not available for that farm, then the producer would
receive a percentage of the FCIC Transitional Yield based on the history of the same
practice, type or variety on the nearest qualifying unit with that same practice, type
or variety. Therefore, if this producer has a spring wheat history with at least 3

years actual production history records reported, he/she would
c|ualify

for 100 per-
cent of the FCIC Transitional Yield for the farm when the practice, type or variety
is being grown or used for the first time.

Reference. Much of the debate for this reform is based on the assumption that
farmers—large numbers of farmers—will buy the upgrades. If the product is per-
ceived as a sound tool for risk management, I believe that assumption is correct.

To end, it is important that the premium crops, like durum and malting barley be
afforded coverage that recognizes their increased prices and elevated input costs.

Question 3. What the provisions for add-on coverage for these premium crops?

Response. The FCIC currently offers a variety of crop programs such as dry
beans where elections vary by type. The different prices reflect the market value
and input costs associated with the various types. In the case of malting barley,
FCIC offers a higher price on and an endorsement that provides protection for high-
er quality standards tnan regular. Currently, FCIC does not establish price elections

by wheat type. FCIC is open to evaluating the possibility of providing separate price
elections by wheat type if data is available to assure sound actuarial principles and
maricet projections can be established.

Reference. Currently, a farmer who purchases winter wheat coverage and in-

tends to plant spring wheat as well, must make changes in the spring wheat cov-

erage in tne fall prior to planting.
Question 4. Will this flexibility in planning they would have if they produced

only spring wheat?

Response. The Crop Reform Legislation does not address this situation. For the

1995 crop
FCIC has made policy revisions which allow producers, in some situa-

tions, to nave separate insurance units for winter and spring wheat, to choose win-
ter coverage options,

and to receive a replanting payment for planting spring wheat
after winter wheat has failed. FCIC is currently evaluating the possibility of offering

separate coverage and price level changes between winter and spring wheat.
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